

TOWN OF UNION
METALLIC MINING ORDINANCE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>SECTION</u>	<u>PAGE</u>
SUBCHAPTER 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS.....	<u>5</u>
<u>Section</u> 1. Title, Purpose, and Applicability.....	15
A. Title.....	1
B. Purposes and Policies.....	1
C. Applicability.....	2
<u>Section</u> 2. Definitions.....	25
<u>Section</u> 3. Prohibition.....	13
<u>Section</u> 4. Permit Required; Violations.....	<u>14</u>
<u>Section</u> 4. Relation to Other Ordinances.....	14
<u>Section</u> 5.....	11 <u>Permits</u> 11 <u>Permit Crite</u>
<u>Section</u> 6. Permit Criteria <u>Procedure</u>	12 <u>14</u>
7. General Procedure.....	12
8. Permit Conditions.....	13
A. Standard Conditions.....	13
B. Special Conditions.....	18
9 <u>Section</u> 7. General Application Requirements.....	18 <u>15</u>
<u>Section</u> 9. Permit Conditions.....	<u>15</u>
A. Filing.....	18
B. Certification of Application.....	18
C. Payment.....	19
D. Certification of Supporting Documents.....	19
E. Title, Right, and Interest.....	19
<u>Section</u> 10. Permit Duration and Renewal.....	20 <u>19</u>
A. Permit Duration.....	20
B. Renewal Criteria.....	20
C. Renewal Applications Requirements.....	20
D. Applicability of New Siting and Design Standards.....	20
E. Delay of Expiration.....	20
<u>Section</u> 11. Transfer of Permit.....	21 <u>20</u>
<u>Section</u> 12. Variance <u>Waivers</u>	21
A. Variance Criteria.....	22
B. Information Required.....	22
C. Term and Renewal of Conditions.....	22
D. Fees for Variances.....	22
SUBCHAPTER 2. EXPLORATION AND ADVANCED EXPLORATION.....	<u>21</u>
<u>Section</u> 13. Purpose of Exploration and Advanced Exploration.....	

Requirements.....	22 <u>21</u>
14. Applicability of Exploration and Advanced Exploration Requirements.....	22
15 <u>Section 14.</u> Requirements for Exploration Activities.....	23 <u>21</u>
A. Procedural Requirements.....	23
B. Standards.....	23
16 <u>Section 15.</u> Requirements for Advanced Exploration Activities.....	25 <u>23</u>
A. Standards.....	25
B. Submission Requirements.....	26

J.

<u>SECTION</u>	<u>PAGE</u>
SUBCHAPTER 3. <u>ADVANCED EXPLORATION AND MINING ACTIVITIES;</u> <u>PRE-APPLICATION</u>	24
17 <u>Section 16.</u> Purpose of Pre-Application Requirements.....	-26 <u>24</u>
<u>Section 17.</u> Requirements for Pre-Application.....	<u>24</u>
18. Applicability of Pre-Application Requirements.....	-26
19. Requirements for Pre-Application.....	-26
A. Request by Applicant.....	-26
B. Scheduling of Pre-Application Conference.....	-26
C. Pre-Application Submissions.....	-26
D. Baseline Monitoring Plan.....	-27
E. Environmental Review.....	-33
SUBCHAPTER 4. MINING.....	<u>30</u>
20 <u>Section 18.</u> Purpose of Requirements for Mining.....	-35 <u>30</u>
21 <u>Section 19.</u> Applicability of Requirements for Mining.....	-35 <u>31</u>
22 <u>Section 20.</u> Application Processing Procedure.....	-35 <u>31</u>
<u>Section 21.</u> Contents of Application.....	<u>31</u>
<u>Section 22.</u> Siting Standards.....	<u>39</u>
<u>Section 23.</u> Design Standards.....	<u>40</u>
<u>Section 24.</u> Operational Standards.....	<u>41</u>
<u>Section 25.</u> Corrective Action.....	<u>47</u>
A. Public Notice of Filing an Application.....	-35
B. Requests for Additional Information.....	-36
C. Draft Decision.....	-36
D. Jurisdiction.....	-36
23. Contents of Application.....	-36
A. General Information.....	-36
B. Baseline Monitoring Studies.....	-38
C. Environmental Impact Report.....	-38
D. Operating Plan.....	-40
24. Siting Standards.....	-47
A. Siting Within Floodplains.....	-47
B. Siting Over Unstable Areas.....	-47
C. Setbacks.....	-47
25. Design Standards.....	-48
A. Ore Leaching Facilities.....	-49
B. Wildlife Exclusion.....	-49
C. Stormwater.....	-50
26. Operational Standards.....	-50
A. Site Monitoring.....	-50
B. Temporary Cessation of Mining.....	-50

C. Reclamation	-50
D. Ore Leaching Facilities	-51
E. Blasting and Noise Requirements	-52
F. Annual Report	-52
G. Wildlife Reports	-54
H. Financial Assurance	-54
I. Performance Requirements	-60
27. Corrective Action	-63
A. Corrective Action Trigger	-63
B. Interim Measures	-63
C. Release From Corrective Plan	-63
D. Corrective Action Plan Development Schedule	-63

<u>SECTION</u>	<u>PAGE</u>
E. Corrective Action Plan Development and Submission	-64
F. Corrective Action Plan Approval	-64
G. Corrective Action Plan Implementation	-65
H. Corrective Action Plan Completion	-65
I. Enforcement Reserved	-66
SUBCHAPTER 5. MINE WASTE TREATMENT AND MANAGEMENT	<u>50</u>
28 <u>Section 26</u> . Purpose of Mine Waste Treatment and Management	
Requirements	-66 <u>50</u>
<u>Section 27. Waste Characterization</u>	<u>50</u>
29. Reserved	-66
30. Reserved	-66
31. Waste Characterization	-66
A. Testing Frequency	-66
B. Mine Waste Evaluation	-66
C. Test Methods	-67
D. Mine Waste Characterization Report	-68
E. Mine Waste Classification	-68
32 <u>Section 28</u> . General Criteria for Mine Waste Units	-68 <u>51</u>
<u>Section 29. Locations Design Construction. and Operating Criteria for Mine Waste Units</u>	<u>53</u>
<u>Section 30. Monitoring Program</u>	<u>62</u>
A. Performance Standards	-68
B. Runon/Runoff Control Systems	-69
C. Design Alternatives	-69
D. Off Site Utilization	-70
E. Waste Minimization	-70
33. Location, Design, Construction, and Operating Criteria for Mine Waste Units	-70
A. Location Standards	-70
B. Minimum Design Standards	-72
C. Engineering Design	-73
D. Engineering Report	-76
E. Design Plans and Cross Sections	-78
F. Construction Standards	-79
G. Operations	-80
34. Monitoring Program	-82
A. Groundwater	-82
B. Surface Water and Sediments	-83
C. Air	-84
35 <u>Section 31</u> . Closure and Post-Closure Maintenance Criteria	-84 <u>64</u>
A. Closure Maintenance Criteria	-84
B. Post-Closure Maintenance Criteria	-88
SUBCHAPTER 6. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT	<u>69</u>

<u>Section 32. Authority</u>	<u>69</u>
36. Applicability of Subchapter	-91
37. Authority	-91
38 <u>Section 33. Applicability of Ordinance</u>	-92 <u>70</u>
<u>Section 34. Severability</u>	<u>70</u>
<u>Section 35. Effective Date</u>	<u>70</u>
<u>Section 36. Savings Clause</u>	<u>70</u>
<u>Section 37. Permit Applications</u>	<u>70</u>
<u>Section 38. Fees To Be Paid By Applicant</u>	<u>71</u>
39. Severability	-92
40. Effective Date	-92

<u>SECTION</u>	<u>PAGE</u>
41. Savings Clause	92
42. Permit Applications	93
43. Public Access to Information	93
44. Fees To Be Paid By Applicant	94
A. Exploration Fee	94
B. Pre-Application Fee	94
C. Initial Permit Application Fee	94
D. Variance Request	94
E. Permit Renewal, Transfer, or Modification	94
F. Corrective Action	94
G. Annual Fee	94
H. Actual Direct Costs	95
I. Payment Procedure	95
45. Computation Section 39. Commutation and Enlargement of Time	-9572
46 Section 40. Board Hearing Procedures	-9572
Section 41. Appeals	72
Section 42. Enforcement	72
Section 43. Penalties	73
A. Procedures	95
B. Notices of Public Hearings	96
C. Continuance of Hearings	96
47. Appeals	96
48. Enforcement	96
49. Penalties	97
50. Mining Commission	98
A. Composition	98
B. Appointment	98
C. Terms of Office	98
D. Vacancies	99
E. Removal	99
F. Compensation	99
G. Officers	99
H. Meetings, Quorum, Agenda	100
I. Powers and Duties	101

~~TOWN OF UNION
METALLIC MINING ORDINANCE~~

SUBCHAPTER 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 1. Title, Purpose, and Applicability

A. Title. This Ordinance shall be known and may be cited as the “Union Metallic Mining Ordinance”.

B. Purposes and Policies. This Ordinance is enacted pursuant to the Home Rule powers bestowed upon the Town of Union by the Constitution and the laws of the State of Maine. It is intended to provide a comprehensive scheme for metallic mining regulation at the local level in furtherance of the policies contained in federal and state laws for the protection of human health and the environment and to accomplish the following purposes:

1. To provide for the protection of groundwater, surface water, and air quality in the Town of Union;
2. To conserve and protect the Town of ~~Union's~~Union's natural resources, and to preserve property values, recreational opportunities, and the quality of life of the inhabitants of the Town of Union;
3. To provide for the protection of public and private drinking water sources in the Town of Union;
4. To provide for surface water quality which will enhance the propagation of fish and wildlife, and will provide for recreation in and on the surface waters within the Town of Union;
5. To ensure that metallic mining activities are compatible with other land and water uses in the Town of Union;
6. To ensure permitted metallic mining activities prevent or minimize the potential for pollutant releases into the environment, and to control and monitor the discharge or release of pollutants from metallic mining activities;

7. To foster local control of the environment through the exercise of the Town of ~~Union's~~Union's Home Rule authority by bestowing certain powers and duties upon the Town of Union Planning Board, by providing procedures to control and remediate unpermitted releases to the environment, by ensuring the Town of Union has adequate financial resources to evaluate permit applications and conduct necessary oversight activities, and by providing enforcement authorities to ensure compliance with permits and Board actions is maintained; and;

8. To ensure the metallic mining companies and not the taxpayers of the Town of Union bear the expenses associated with protecting human health and the environment from the adverse impacts that may result from mining activities.

C. This Ordinance shall be liberally construed to effectuate its purposes and policies.

Section 2. Definitions

A. Acid Potential. “Acid potential” or “acid generating potential” means the ability of a rock or geologic material to produce acid leachates.

B. ~~A.~~ Acid Rock Drainage. “Acid rock drainage” means the drainage that occurs as a result of natural oxidation of sulfide minerals contained in rock which is exposed to air and water.

C. Active Treatment System. “Active treatment system” or “active treatment” means a system that treats water or wastewater with the active addition of chemical reagents or the application of external energy. Active treatment does not include periodic inspections and routine maintenance such as the mowing of vegetation

D. ~~B.~~ Advanced Exploration or Advanced Exploration Activity. “Advanced exploration” or “advanced exploration activity” means any activity involving the bulk sampling of metallic mineral deposits, or any metallic mineral exploration activities ~~which exceed~~that exceeds those defined as exploration activities.

E. ~~C.~~ Advanced Exploration Permit. “Advanced exploration permit” means a permit to conduct metallic mineral advanced exploration activities.

F. ~~D.~~ Advanced Exploration Site. “Advanced exploration site” means the area and facilities within which advanced exploration or activities incidental thereto occur, or may reasonably be expected to occur.

G. Air Contaminant. “Air contaminant” includes, but is not limited to dust, fumes, gas, mist, particulate matter, smoke, vapor, or any combination thereof.

H. ~~E.~~ Ambient Air. "Ambient air" means all air outside of buildings, stacks, or exterior ducts.

I. ~~F.~~ Aquifer. "Aquifer" means a geologic formation composed of rock or sand and gravel that stores and transmits significant quantities of recoverable water.

J. Assurance Instrument. "Assurance instrument" means a financial instrument executed in favor of the Town in a form approved by the Town and which is insured by an agency of the United States government or whose letter of credit operations are overseen or are regulated and examined by a federal or state agency.

K. ~~G.~~ Baseline Monitoring Plan. "Baseline monitoring plan" means a monitoring plan that will define the existing site conditions for a specific location and shall include, but is not limited to, characterizations of the following resources: wildlife, surface water and groundwater quality and quantity, air quality, and socioeconomic characteristics.

L. ~~H.~~ Beneficiation. "Beneficiation" means the dressing or processing of ore for the purposes of (1) attaining the desired size consistent for the ore or product; (2) removing unwanted constituents; or (3) improving the quality, purity, or assay grade of a desired product.

M. ~~I.~~ BEP. "BEP" means the Maine Board of Environmental Protection.

N. Block Caving. "Block caving" is an underground hard rock mining method that involves undermining an ore body and allowing it to progressively collapse under its own weight. In block caving, a large section of rock is undercut, creating an artificial cavern that fills with its own rubble as it collapses. This broken ore falls into a pre-constructed series of funnels and access tunnels underneath the broken ore mass.

O. ~~J.~~ Board. "Board" means the Town of Union Planning Board.

P. ~~K.~~ Bulk Sampling. "Bulk sampling" means the removal of samples for the purpose of testing to determine the feasibility, method, or manner of extraction and/or processing of metallic minerals. Such testing may include milling or grinding tests, and/or pilot plant and processing tests. Methods of bulk sampling may include, but are not limited to, drilling and boring, digging of shafts and tunnels, or digging of pits and trenches. For purposes of this Ordinance, bulk sampling of metallic mineral deposits is included in advanced exploration.

Q. ~~L.~~ Closure. "Closure" means the process of closing out mine waste units pursuant to a closure plan approved by the Board.

R. ~~M.~~ Coastal Wetlands. "Coastal wetlands" means all tidal and subtidal lands, including all areas below any identifiable debris line left by tidal action; all areas with vegetation present that is tolerant of salt water and occurs primarily in a salt water or estuarine habitat; and any swamp, marsh, bog, beach, flat or other contiguous lowland which is subject to tidal action during the maximum spring tide level as identified in tide tables published by the National Ocean Service [Ocean Survey]. Coastal wetlands may include portions of coastal sand dunes.

S. ~~N.~~ Complex Hydrogeology. “Complex hydrogeology” means subsurface hydrogeological conditions such that it is not technically feasible to monitor groundwater to detect migration of contaminants from the mine waste unit to the uppermost aquifer, or it is not technically feasible to conduct corrective action.

T. Contamination

As applied to groundwater, “contamination” means nonattainment of water quality standards, the cause of which is attributable to a mining operation, as:

Specified in rules relating to primary drinking water standards adopted by the DEP pursuant to 22 M.R.S. §2611; or

Demonstrated by a statistically significant change in measured parameters that indicates deterioration of water quality determined through assessment monitoring.

As applied to surface water, “contamination” means a condition created by any direct or indirect discharge that causes or contributes to nonattainment of applicable water quality or licensing standards under 38 M.R.S. §§ 414-A or 420. The nonattainment may be attributable to the mining operation either by itself or in combination with other discharges.

U. Contemporaneous Reclamation. “Contemporaneous reclamation” means mining in a manner that creates areas that can be reclaimed continuously and as soon as practicable after the commencement of construction and throughout the life of the operation as described in the operating plan.

V. Contingency Plan. “Contingency plan” means the contingency and emergency procedures plan required by Section 21(D)(12) of this Ordinance for all permit applications and mining operations.

W. ~~Q.~~ Corrective Action. “Corrective action” means action taken by the permittee to correct a violation or to meet a performance requirement in a metallic mineral mining permit or advanced exploration permit, or other law.

X. ~~P.~~ DEP. “DEP” means the Department of Environmental Protection composed of the Board and the Commissioner.

Y. ~~Q.~~ Director of the Survey. “Director of the Survey” means the Director of the Maine Geological Survey.

Z. ~~R.~~ Displacement. “Displacement” means the relative movement, measured in any direction, of the two sides of a fault.

AA. ~~S.~~ Drilling. “Drilling” means the making of holes with a drill for exploration of a metallic mineral deposit.

BB. ~~T.~~ Drill Hole. “Drill hole” means the cavity created by drilling.

CC. ~~U.~~ Endangered or Threatened Species. “Endangered or threatened species” means any species of fish or wildlife that the State of Maine Commissioner of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife has designated as endangered or threatened.

DD. ~~V.~~ Environmental Impact Report. “Environmental impact report” (EIR) means a detailed study describing and analyzing the environmental impacts of a mining or advanced exploration activity, discussing ways to mitigate or avoid such impacts, and evaluating reasonable alternatives to

the proposed activity.

EE. ~~W.~~ Environmental Review. “Environmental review” means a process of assessing the environmental impacts of a proposed mining activity.

FF. ~~X~~-Exploration. "Exploration~~-or~~" or "exploration activity" means any activity engaged in for purposes of determining the location, extent, and composition of metallic mineral deposits, provided that such activities are limited to noninvasive exploration methods, including aerial or ground-based mineral surveying, or to test boring, test drilling, hand sampling, the digging of test pits, trenching or outcrop stripping for the removal of overburden, having a maximum aggregate surface opening of 100 square feet for all test pits or trenches, or other test sampling methods which cause minimum disturbance of soil and vegetative cover. Exploration activities ~~shall~~does not include advanced exploration activities.

GG. ~~V.~~ Exploration Site. "Exploration site" means the area within which exploration or activities incidental thereto occur, or may reasonably be expected to occur.

HH. ~~Z.~~ Extraction. "Extraction" means the removal of ores, minerals, overburden, and waste rock, but does not include the injection of leaching solutions, lixiviants, or solutions to solubilize or extract metallic minerals in place (in situ) from existing geologic formations.

II. ~~AA.~~ Fault. "Fault" means a fracture along which rock formations on one side have been displaced with respect to those on the other side.

JJ. Financial Assurance. "Financial assurance" means an assurance instrument or statement of financial responsibility provided by an applicant or permittee to ensure compliance with this Ordinance, mining permit conditions, instructions, or orders of the Town.

KK. ~~BB.~~ Floodplain. "Floodplain" means the lowland and relatively flat areas adjoining inland and coastal waters, including flood prone areas of offshore islands, which are inundated by a flood that has a 1 percent or greater chance of recurring in any year or a flood of a magnitude equalled or exceeded once in 100 years on the average.

LL. ~~CC.~~ Fractured Bedrock Aquifer. "Fractured bedrock aquifer" means a consolidated rock formation which is fractured and which is saturated and recharged by precipitation percolating through overlying sediments to a degree which will permit wells drilled into the rock to produce a sufficient water supply for domestic use.

MM. ~~DD.~~ Freshwater Wetlands. "Freshwater wetlands" means freshwater swamps, marshes, bogs and similar areas which are:

1. Of 10 or more contiguous acres, or of less than 10 contiguous acres and adjacent to a surface water body, excluding any river, stream, or brook, such that in a natural state, the combined surface area is in excess of 10 acres;
2. Inundated or saturated by surface or ground water at a frequency and for a duration sufficient to support, and which under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of wetland vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soils; and
3. Not considered part of a great pond, coastal wetland, river, stream or brook.

These areas may contain small stream channels or inclusions of land that do not conform to the criteria.

NN. ~~EE.~~ Fugitive Emissions. "Fugitive emissions" means those emissions of air contaminants which do not pass through a stack, flue, chimney, or vent. For purposes of this Ordinance, fugitive emissions include, without limitation, dust arising from an advanced exploration or mining activity, or from the advanced exploration or mine site.

OO. ~~FF.~~ Great Pond. "Great Pond" means any inland body of water which in a natural state has a surface area in excess of 10 acres and any inland body of water artificially formed or increased which has a surface area in excess of 30 acres. This definition shall apply to any natural body of water in excess of 10 acres artificially increased to less than 30 acres.

PP. ~~GG.~~ Groundwater. "Groundwater" means all the waters found beneath the surface of the earth which are contained within or under this state or any portion thereof, except such waters as are confined and retained completely upon the property of one person and do not drain into or connect with any other waters of the state.

QQ. Group A Waste. "Group A waste" means a mine waste having an acid-generation potential or exhibiting a characteristic of hazardous waste.

RR. Group B Waste. "Group B waste" means a mine waste having no acid-generation potential that may release soluble pollutants at concentrations which exceed performance requirements for groundwater or surface water.

SS. Group C Waste. "Group C waste" means a mine waste that does not have the potential to violate water quality standards other than sedimentation or turbidity.

TT. ~~HH.~~ Hazardous Waste. "Hazardous waste" means a waste substance or material, in any physical state, designated as hazardous by the Maine Board of Environmental Protection.

UU. Heap or Percolation Leaching. "Heap or percolation leaching" means a process used for the primary purpose of recovering metallic minerals in an outdoor environment from a stockpile of crushed or excavated ore by percolating water or a solution through the ore and collecting the leachate.

VV. ~~H.~~ Holocene. "Holocene" means the most recent epoch of the Quaternary period, extending from approximately 10,000 years ago to the present.

WW. ~~JJ.~~ In-Situ Leaching. "In-situ leaching" means the leaching of minerals occurring in the situation in which they were originally formed or deposited. For purposes of this Ordinance, in-situ leaching is not considered mining.

XX. ~~KK.~~ Land Clearing Debris. "Land clearing debris" means solid wastes resulting from the clearing of land and consisting solely of brush, stumps, soil material, and rocks."

YY. ~~LL.~~ Leachate. "Leachate" means any liquid, including any suspended components in the liquid, that has passed through or emerged from any material.

ZZ. ~~MM.~~ Leak Detection System. "Leak detection system" means a system for the detection of leaks through a liner consisting of a high permeability layer that contains a collection and transport network over a low permeability layer which impedes the downward movement of leachate.

AAA. ~~NN.~~ Liner. "Liner" means a continuous layer of man-made or reconstructed natural materials, or a combination thereof, which restricts the vertical or lateral movement of liquids.

BBB. ~~00.~~ Metallic Minerals. "Metallic minerals" or "Mineral." "Metallic mineral" means any ore or mineral material to be excavated from the natural deposits on or in the earth for its metallic mineral deposit" means any mineral containing any metal, including, but not limited to, minerals containing gold, silver, iron, manganese, copper, lead, zinc, tin, chromium, cobalt, nickel, molybdenum, platinum group elements, aluminum, arsenic, antimony, or bismuth as their valuable constituent(s) content. Metallic minerals do not include common rock-forming minerals such as quartz, calcite, dolomite, feldspar, pyroxenes, amphiboles, zeolites, clays, or micas. For purposes of this Ordinance, "metallic minerals" does not include thorium or uranium.

CCC. Metal Leaching. "Metal leaching" means the dissolution and removal of metals and metalloids as a result of chemical processes commonly associated with minerals containing sulfides.

DDD. ~~PP.~~ Minerals. "Minerals" means all naturally occurring mineral deposits, including hydrocarbons and peat, but excluding sand, gravel, and water.

EEE. Mine Shaft. "Mine shaft" means a vertical, inclined or horizontal excavation, including all underground workings, with a surface opening not exceeding 1,000 square feet.

FFF. ~~QQ.~~ Mine Site. "Mine site" means the area and facilities owned, leased, or otherwise subject to the possessory control of a mining company within which mining or activities incidental thereto are to occur whether contiguous or non-contiguous. The mine site includes, but is not limited to, the excavation, tailings, mine waste units, waste rock or overburden, storage areas, mills, conveyors, concentrators, crushers, screens, pipes, canals, dams, ponds, lagoons, ditches, roads, access roads, utility facilities or equipment, pollution control facilities including surface and subsurface waste water disposal systems, railroad tracks or sidings, administrative or other buildings, or improvements, structures, ~~rights-of-way~~ rights-of-way, or easements appurtenant or related to any of the foregoing.

GGG. ~~RR.~~ Mine Waste. "Mine waste" means all waste materials (solid, semi-solid, or liquid) associated with exploration, advanced exploration, and mining activities. Such wastes include, but are not limited to, rock, tailings, and other process waste such as leachate and wastewater treatment plant residuals. Land clearing debris, woodwaste, wastes from solvent extraction and electrowinning are not considered mine waste for purposes of this Ordinance.

HHH. ~~SS.~~ Mine Waste Unit. "Mine waste unit" means any land area, structure, location, equipment, or combination thereof on or in which mine wastes are managed. A land area or structure shall not become a mine waste unit solely because it is used to store (for 90 days or less) wastes generated on the same site.

III. ~~TT.~~ Mining or Mining Activity. "Mining" or "mining activity" means any activity or process that is for the purpose of extraction or removal of metallic minerals, and includes processes used in the separation or extraction of metallic minerals from other material including, but not limited to, crushing, grinding, beneficiation by concentration (gravity, flotation, amalgamation, electrostatic, or magnetic); cyanidation; leaching; crystallization; or precipitation; mine waste handling and disposal; and processes substantially equivalent, necessary, or incidental to any of the foregoing. Mining or mining activity does not include exploration, advanced exploration, or thermal or electric smelting.

JJJ. ~~UU.~~ Mining Permit. "Mining permit" means a permit issued by the Town of Union Planning Board to conduct mining activities.

KKK. ~~VV.~~ Mitigation. "Mitigation" means any action taken, or not taken, in order to avoid, minimize, rectify, reduce, eliminate, or compensate for adverse environmental impacts. Such actions include, but are not limited to: (1) avoiding an impact altogether by not taking

a certain action or parts of an action; (2) minimizing an impact by limiting the magnitude or duration of an activity or by controlling the timing of an activity; (3) rectifying an impact by repairing, rehabilitating, or restoring the affected environment; (4) reducing or eliminating an impact over time through preservation and maintenance operations during the life of the project; and (5) compensating for an impact by replacing affected resources or environments, or providing substitute resources or environments.

LLL. ~~WW~~. Neat Cement. "Neat cement" means a slurry composed of Portland cement and water.

MMM. ~~XX~~. Net Acid Producing Potential. "Net acid producing potential" means the difference between the neutralization potential and acid generation potential of a waste expressed as calcium carbonate equivalents.

NNN. Open-Pit Mining. "Open-pit mining" means, for any single mining operation permitted under this Ordinance, the process of mining a metallic mineral deposit by use of surface pits or excavations having greater than 1 acre of surface area in aggregate or by means of a surface pit excavated using one or more horizontal benches

OOO. ~~YY~~. Ore. "Ore" means any mineral or an aggregate of minerals which can be extracted from the earth economically. For purposes of this Ordinance, "ore" also means a metallic mineral deposit and may also include previously disposed of or abandoned mine waste from which a metallic mineral or minerals of economic value can be commercially extracted.

PPP. ~~ZZ~~. Ore Leaching. "Ore leaching" means the intentional separation, selective removal, dissolving-out, or extraction of soluble metals, salts, or other constituents from an ore by the action of percolating water or other percolating solution. For purposes of this Ordinance, ore leaching may include, but is not limited to, heap leaching, vat leaching, agitation leaching, dump leaching, and bioleaching.

QQQ. ~~AAA~~. Overburden. "Overburden" means ~~earth and soil, rock or~~ other materials naturally lying ~~over the product~~ above or between the mineral deposits to be mined.

RRR. ~~BBB~~. Permittee. "Permittee" means a person who has received an advanced exploration permit or mining permit in accordance with this Ordinance.

SSS. ~~CCC~~. Person. "Person" means an individual, firm, corporation, municipality, quasi-municipal corporation, state agency, federal agency, or other legal entity.

TTT. ~~DDD~~. Post-Closure Maintenance. "Post-closure maintenance" means ~~all~~ any activities undertaken at a closed mine waste unit to sustain reclamation after cessation of mining activity, maintain the integrity of containment features ~~and~~ or to monitor compliance with applicable performance standards and permit conditions.

UUU. ~~EEE~~. Pre-Application Conference. "Pre-application conference" means an initial conference for purposes of discussing the proposed advanced exploration or mining activity contemplated by the applicant.

VVV. ~~FFF~~-Pre-Existing Data. "Pre-existing data" means data collected prior to a pre-application conference.

WWW. ~~GGG~~-Private Drinking Water System. "Private drinking water system" means a well, spring, or other source of groundwater for human or domestic animal consumption.

XXX. ~~BBB~~-Project Vicinity. The area within a radius of ten (10) miles of ~~a metal~~ an advanced exploration or mining site.

YYY. ~~HHH~~-Property Boundary. "Property boundary" means any boundary between parcels of land owned or leased by different persons or groups of persons.

ZZZ. ~~JJJ~~-Protected Natural Resource. "Protected natural resource" means coastal sand dune systems, coastal wetlands, significant wildlife habitat, fragile mountain areas, freshwater wetlands, great ponds or rivers, streams or brooks, as these terms are defined in applicable state law.

AAAA. ~~KKK~~-Public Drinking Water System. "Public drinking water system" means a well, spring, or other source of groundwater which has at least 15 service connections or serves an average of at least 25 individuals daily at least 30 days out of the year.

BBBB. ~~LLL~~-Qualified Professional. "Qualified professional" means a scientist, engineer, or professional in a technical discipline with sufficient training and experience to enable the individual to make sound professional judgments regarding conducting technical analyses or regarding the design, construction, and operation of regulated units and ancillary structures.

CCCC. Reactive Mine Waste. "Reactive mine waste" means any natural geologic formation or mined material that, when exposed to air and water, may develop acid rock drainage, or any other natural geologic or mined material that is shown through characterization studies to release substances that may adversely impact natural resources and the environment.

DDDD. ~~NM!!~~-Reclamation. "Reclamation" means the rehabilitation and continued maintenance of the area of land affected by mining under a reclamation plan which can include, but is not limited to, grading and land shaping, the creation of lakes or ponds, the planting of forests, the seeding of grasses and legumes, the planting of crops for harvest, and the enhancement of wildlife and aquatic resources.

EEEE. Remediation. "Remediation" means the cleanup, removal or containment of contaminants or contamination within a mining area or an affected area. Remediation may include, but is not limited to, removing contaminants or contamination, containing or treating waste on site, and identifying and removing sources of groundwater contamination and halting further migration of contaminants.

FFFF. ~~AAA~~-Responsible Officer. "Responsible officer" means:

1. A person holding a principal executive position as established by the charter or by-laws of the corporation;
2. A general partner or the proprietor, as appropriate, if a partnership or sole proprietorship; or
3. A principal executive officer or ranking elected official of a municipal, state, federal, or other public agency.

GGGG. ~~000.~~ River, Stream, or Brook. “River, stream, or brook” means a channel between defined banks including the floodway and associated flood plain wetlands where the channel is created by the action of the surface water and characterized by the lack of upland vegetation or presence of aquatic vegetation and by the presence of a bed devoid of top soil containing water-borne deposits on exposed soil, parent material, or bedrock.

HHHH. ~~PPP.~~ Significant Sand and Gravel Aquifer. “Significant sand and gravel aquifer” is defined as a porous formation of ice-contact and glacial outwash sand and gravel that contains significant recoverable quantities of water which are likely to provide drinking water supplies.

III. ~~QQQ.~~ Scoping Process. “Scoping process” means the process of determining the factors and issues to be addressed in an environmental impact report.

JJJJ. ~~RRR.~~ Selectmen. “Selectmen” means the Selectmen of the Town of Union.

KKKK. ~~SSS.~~ Site. “Site” means an advanced exploration site or a mine site, depending upon the nature of the activity as determined by the Town of Union Planning Board.

LLLL. ~~TTT.~~ State Lands. “State lands” means all lands owned or held in trust by the state or in which the state holds an interest, including inland and tidal submerged lands and waters.

MMMM. ~~UUU.~~ Structure. “Structure” means building, structure, or permanent structure as defined under any of the following provisions: 12 M.R.S.A. 682(3) and (4), 38 M.R.S.A. 482(6), and 38 M.R.S.A. 480-B(7).

NNNN. ~~VVV.~~ Surface Impoundment. “Surface impoundment” or “impoundment” means a mine waste unit or part of such a unit that is a natural topographic depression, man-made excavation, or diked area formed of earthen or other materials that is designed to hold an accumulation of liquid ~~and/or~~ solid wastes, including but not limited to the slurry of material separated from a metallic product in the beneficiation or treatment of minerals. Surface impoundment does not include a lined surface area on which dewatered tailings are stacked.

OOOO. ~~WWW.~~ Tailings. “Tailings” means those portions of a metallic mineral deposit remaining after extraction of minerals by physical or chemical means.

PPPP. ~~XXX.~~ Transfer of Ownership. “Transfer of ownership” means a sale, a lease, a sale of over 50% of the stock of a corporation to one legal entity, or a merger or consolidation where the surviving corporation is other than the original licensee.

QQQQ. ~~YYY.~~ Unstable Area. “Unstable area” means any area where mass movement of earth materials such as landslides, rockfalls, mudslides, slumps, earth flows, subsidence, or debris flows are likely to occur.

~~RRRR. ZZZ.~~ Uppermost Aquifer. "Uppermost aquifer" means the geologic formation that is an aquifer nearest the natural ground surface, as well as lower aquifers that are hydraulically interconnected with this aquifer.

~~SSSS. AAAA.~~ WAD Cyanide. "WAD cyanide" means the cyanide concentration as determined by Method C. Weak Acid Dissociable Cyanide, D2036-082, Part 31, of the American Society for Testing and Materials Book of Standards.

~~TTTT. BBBB.~~ Waste Rock. "Waste rock" means rock which has been removed during mining or advanced exploration but does not contain sufficient metallic minerals to constitute ore.

~~UUUU. ECCC.~~ Waters of the State. "Waters of the State" means any and all surface and subsurface waters which are contained within, flow through or under, or border upon this State or any portion thereof, including the marginal and high seas, except such waters as are confined and retained completely upon the property of one person and do not drain into or connect with any other waters of the State.

~~VVVV.~~ Wet Mine Waste Unit. "Wet mine waste unit" means a mine waste unit in which mine wastes are placed under water to minimize sulfide oxidation, acid formation or particulate pollution.

~~WWWW. DDDD.~~ Woodwastes. "Woodwastes" means brush, stumps, lumber, bark, woodchips, shavings, slabs, edgings, slash, and sawdust, which are not mixed with other solid or liquid waste.

Section 3. Prohibition

The following activities are prohibited, and no permit may be issued under this Ordinance for mining activities that include:

- A. Heap, percolation or in-situ leaching;
- B. Mining for thorium or uranium ore;
- C. Block caving;
- D. Open-pit mining; or
- E. Wet mine waste units and surface impoundments, except that a mining operation may place into a mine shaft waste rock that is neutralized or otherwise treated to prevent contamination of groundwater or surface water.

Section 4. Permit Required; Violations

~~It shall be unlawful for any~~ No person or entity may engage in any advanced exploration or mining activity without first obtaining any permit required by this Ordinance. It shall be a violation of this Ordinance to engage in any advanced exploration or mining activity in violation of this Ordinance or a permit or condition issued pursuant to this Ordinance, any other permit, requirement, or condition pursuant to of any other Town of Union Ordinance, or any other applicable rule, regulation, or law. A permit obtained in accordance with this Ordinance shall not exempt the permittee from the need to obtain any other applicable permit, approval or license required to engage in advanced exploration or mining activity under any Town of Union Ordinance, state law or regulation.

Section 4. Relation to Other Ordinances

Nothing herein shall repeal or supersede any additional requirements imposed by the Town of Union. In the event any requirements of this Ordinance differ from the requirements of any other Ordinance of the Town of Union, the more stringent of the requirements shall apply. No enforcement authority set forth herein is intended to waive or limit any other authority of the Town of Union.

Section 5. Permits

~~A permit from the Board is required under this Ordinance for advanced exploration, when applicable, and mining activities.~~

Section 65. Permit Criteria

The Board shall approve, or approve with conditions, an application for an advanced exploration or mining permit under this Ordinance upon finding the applicant has met all applicable criteria under this Ordinance. In addition, the applicant shall: (1) affirmatively demonstrate that the reclamation plan will result in reclamation and remediation of the mine or advanced exploration site consistent with this Ordinance; (2) certify it has not forfeited sureties posted for any mining or advanced exploration activity; and (3) affirmatively demonstrate that the issuance of the permit will not cause or contribute to a violation of law. In determining whether issuance of a permit will cause or contribute to a violation of law, the Board shall consider any prior violation, suspension, or revocation of a permit issued to the applicant or any person related to the applicant and any other environmental enforcement history of the applicant or related person. The Board may require the applicant to present evidence of changed conditions or circumstances sufficient in the judgment of the Board to warrant issuance of the permit notwithstanding any prior permit violation, suspension, or revocation.

Section 76. Permit Procedure

A. Exploration. Depending upon the type, extent, and location of the activity proposed, a permit or other Town approvals pursuant to other Ordinances may be required ~~by the Board or the Town of Union. The requirements~~ for exploration activities, as set forth in Section 1514.

B. Advanced Exploration or Mining. ~~This Ordinance authorizes permits~~ To obtain a permit for advanced exploration and/or mining. ~~The activities in the Town, an applicant must comply with the following is a general description of the application process, and procedures:~~

~~1. Baseline Monitoring. If a mining project is proposed, the applicant submits a baseline monitoring plan. If an advanced exploration project is proposed, the applicant submits such a plan when required by the Board on a case-specific basis. No baseline monitoring program shall be conducted without prior approval of the Board.~~

~~2. Pre-Application Conference. The applicant submits information concerning the proposed project to Board shall hold a pre-application conference with all applicants for advanced exploration activity or mining activity permits in accordance with Subchapter 3 of this Ordinance. At the pre-application conference, the Board and requests a pre-application conference. The Board and/or its representatives shall meet with the applicant to determine the nature of the project, identify areas of concern, and specify/identify any additional submissions or information required.~~

Baseline Monitoring. An applicant for an advanced exploration activity permit shall submit a baseline monitoring plan to the Town when required by the Board on a case-specific basis. An applicant for a mining activity permit shall submit a baseline monitoring plan to the Town. No baseline monitoring program shall be conducted without prior approval of the Board.

~~3. Environmental Review Process. If the proposal is All applicants for a mining activity, or if the proposal is permit and any applicant for an advanced exploration activity permit that the Board has determined requires the an environmental review process:~~

shall submit to the Board a. The applicant prepares and submits a draft scoping document for an Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”).

The Board shall make the draft scoping document available for public inspection and comment and may hold a public hearing to receive public comment at its discretion.

~~b. The Board makes the draft scoping document available for public review and comment.~~

~~e. If the Board determines the, after consideration of any public comment, that the draft scoping document is acceptable, the applicant prepares an EIR and submits it shall prepare the EIR described by the draft scoping document and submit such EIR as part of the its permit application.~~

Permit Application. An applicant for advanced exploration or mining activity permits may submit a permit application in accordance with the requirements of this Ordinance only after having completed all applicable steps described by this Section. Applications submitted prior to completion of each applicable step shall be deemed incomplete and may not be reviewed by the Town or Board.

a. An applicant for advanced exploration or mining activity permits who already possesses a valid DEP permit for such activity or has a completed application pending before the DEP may submit a copy of their DEP application to the Board, subject to the Board's request for additional information not covered by the DEP application.

Public Hearing. The Board shall hold one or more public hearings to review and to act upon the application. Public notice of such hearings shall be provided to all owners of property abutting the proposed site and published in accordance with this Ordinance.

Section 7. General Application Requirements

~~A. 4. Permit Application Filing. An applicant for an advanced exploration or mining activity permit files an shall submit eight copies of its application in accordance with the requirements of this Ordinance, including a completed permit application form and all supporting materials, to the Board unless otherwise specified by the Board. All drawings must be done on paper no smaller than 8 1/2 x 11 inches and no larger than 36 x 48 inches in size unless otherwise approved. Each application shall identify a designated person in the State of Maine on whom all orders and notices may be served and to whom all other correspondence regarding the application should be sent.~~

B. Certification and Acknowledgement of Application. The application must be signed and certified by a responsible officer of the applicant. The application must also be signed by the property owner(s) of any property on which the proposed advanced exploration or mining activity will be conducted, acknowledging the proposed activity and use of his or her property for the same.

C. Payment. With the application, an applicant must provide payment by certified check or money order made payable to the Town of Union of the appropriate application fees as set forth in this Ordinance.

D. Certification of Supporting Documents. All reports, plans, designs, surveys or other analyses submitted in support of the investigation, design, construction, operation, reclamation, remediation, closure, post-closure, and corrective action at a site shall be signed and certified by qualified professionals, licensed or registered to practice in the State of Maine.

E. Title, Right, and Interest. An applicant shall include in any application documentation and other information sufficient to demonstrate title, right and interest in all property on which the proposed site will be located. Such documentation and information may include certified copies of deed(s), lease(s) or easement(s) to the property, or options to purchase or lease the property. The Board may not review or consider any application until the applicant has demonstrated sufficient title, right, and interest in all of the property which is proposed for use.

Section 89. Permit Conditions

A. Standard Conditions

A. Standard Conditions. Any permit issued for advance exploration or mining activity shall be subject to the following standard conditions, a copy of which shall be attached to such permit:

~~1. Relation of Permit to Application. The plans,~~

specifications, descriptions, and other documentation submitted by the permittee in support of the application, and approved by the Board in issuing the permit, shall constitute terms of the permit which must be complied with by the permittee. Any variation or change in the plans, specifications, descriptions, or other documentation must be approved by the Board prior to implementation. Upon completion of any construction or alteration, the permittee must submit to the Board a written certification by a registered professional engineer that the site has been constructed or altered in accordance with the terms of the permit.

2. Duty to Comply. The permittee must comply with all conditions of the permit. Any noncompliance constitutes a violation of law and is grounds for enforcement action, for permit suspension or revocation, and for denial of a renewal application.

3. Duty to Reapply. If the permittee wishes to continue an activity regulated by the permit after the expiration date of the permit, the permittee must submit an application for renewal at least 180 days, but no earlier than 210 days, prior to the expiration date of the permit.

4. Duty to Halt or Reduce Activity. It shall not be a defense in an enforcement action that halting or reducing the permitted activity would have been necessary in order to maintain compliance with the conditions of the permit.

5. Duty to Mitigate. The permittee shall take all steps to minimize or correct any adverse impact on the environment resulting from noncompliance with the permit.

6. Proper Operation and Maintenance. The permittee shall at all times properly operate and maintain all facilities and systems which are installed or used by the permittee to achieve compliance with the conditions of the permit.

~~7. Solid Waste Disposal Facilities. All solid waste disposal facilities are required to accept only solid waste which is subject to recycling and source reduction programs at least as effective as those imposed by state law.~~

~~8. Permit Actions. The Board may, upon request by the permittee or on its own initiative on its own initiative or upon application of the permittee, after notice to the permittee and an opportunity for hearing, modify the permit. The Board shall hold a public hearing and provide an opportunity for public comment prior to taking such action. The filing of a request by the permittee for a permit modification shall not stay any permit condition. Any request for a significant permit modification shall be processed as if it were an application for a new permit, except only those permit terms at issue shall be considered in the proceeding. The permit may also be revoked in accordance with Section 48 of this Ordinance.~~

~~9. Property Rights. The issuance of a permit does not convey any sort of property right or exclusive privilege to the permittee.~~

~~10. Duty to Provide Information. The permittee shall promptly furnish any information which to the Board requests in order upon request any information or records required to be kept to allow the Board to determine whether cause exists for modifying, suspending, or revoking to modify, suspend, or revoke the permit; or to determine permittee's compliance with the permit. The permittee shall also, upon request, furnish to the Board copies of records required to be kept by the permittee, and not otherwise required to be filed with the Board. In addition to the annual report submitted in accordance with and this Ordinance. Section 26(F), the Board may require other documentation as may be necessary to ensure compliance with this Ordinance.~~

~~11. Monitoring and Records~~

~~a. Samples and measurements taken for the purpose of monitoring shall be representative of the monitored activity.~~

~~b. Records of the monitoring information shall include the following:~~

~~I. (i) analytical results; (ii) Analytical results;~~

~~II. The detection limits for each analyte;~~

~~III. (iii) descriptions of sample points and sampling method(s) used; (iv) Descriptions of sample points and of sampling method or methods.~~

~~IV. The dates that samples were collected, received, prepared, and analyzed;~~

~~V. (v) chain of custody records; (vi) results Chain of custody records;~~

~~VI. Results of laboratory control samples (method blanks/initial calibration reference standards);~~

(vii) results 14

~~VII. Results~~ of matrix-specific spikes, matrix-spiked duplicates, or reference standards ~~(, if applicable);~~ and

~~VIII. (viii) interpretive summaries~~ Interpretive summary of monitoring results, including statistical analysis of data, if applicable.

~~e.~~ The permittee shall retain, at the site or at such other location as approved by the Board, the following records for a period of at least 10 years from the date of the sample, measurement, report, or application. This period may be extended by request of the Board at any time, and is automatically extended for the period of any enforcement action:

~~I. against the permittee: (i) calibration and maintenance records; (ii) strip~~ Calibration and maintenance records;

~~II. Strip~~ chart recordings for continuous monitoring instrumentation; and

~~III. (iii) records~~ Records of all data used to complete the application and copies of all reports required by the permit.

~~d.~~ The permittee shall retain the following monitoring records for the life of the facility, including the closure and post-closure periods: (i) groundwater monitoring; (ii) waste characterization; (iii) surface water monitoring; and (vi) sediment monitoring records.

~~12.~~ Monitoring Reports. Monitoring results shall be reported to the Board at the intervals specified in the permit.

~~13.~~ Noncompliance and Occurrence Reporting. The permittee shall promptly report to the Board, ~~Selectmen, Commission members,~~ and Code Enforcement Officer any noncompliance and/or any unpermitted or otherwise unlawful release or discharge of pollutants, fire, or explosion at the site. Information shall be provided orally, immediately to the Code Enforcement Officer, if available, and in writing within the next three working days to the above mentioned. If the Code Enforcement Officer is unavailable, information shall be provided to the Selectmen, or Planning Board members, ~~or Mining Commission~~ members, as available. If the noncompliance, release, or discharge of pollutants or cause of fire or explosion has not been corrected, the anticipated permittee shall provide an estimate of the time it is expected to continue ~~shall be given,~~ together with the steps taken or planned to reduce, eliminate, and prevent recurrence. The written submission shall include the following:

- a. Name, address, and telephone number of the owner or operator;
- b. Name, address, and telephone number of the facility, if applicable
- c. Date, time, type, and description of incident;

- d. Name and quantity of any waste(s) involved;
- e. ~~The extent~~ A description of injuries to person or property, if any;
- f. An assessment of actual or potential hazards to the environment and human health inside and outside the site, when applicable; and
- g. Estimated quantity and disposition of any pollutants released or discharged.

~~14.~~ Other Information. When the permittee ~~be'comes~~ becomes aware that it has failed to submit any relevant facts in a permit application, or submitted incorrect information in a permit application or in any report to the Board, it shall promptly submit such facts or information to the Board.

~~15.~~ Signatory Requirement. All applications, reports, or information submitted to the Board shall be signed and certified as true and accurate by a responsible officer. ~~Such responsible officer shall make the following certification:~~ under penalty of perjury.

~~"I certify under penalty of law that I have personally examined and am familiar with the information submitted in this document and all attachments thereto and that, based on my inquiry of those individuals immediately responsible for obtaining the information, I believe the information is true, accurate, and complete. I am aware there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment."~~

~~16.~~ Construction/Operation Within 4 Years. If construction or operation at the site is not begun within 4 years of the date the permit is issued, the permit shall automatically expire and ~~the applicant shall reapply to the Board for a permit. No~~ no construction or operation may be undertaken until a new permit is granted. ~~The~~ Any new application submitted by the permittee shall state the reasons why construction or operation was not ~~beg~~ begun within 4 years ~~from the granting~~ of the date of the initial permit, and the reasons why construction or operation will be able to begin within 4 ~~yeirs~~ years from the granting of the new permit. The new application may ~~incorp)rate~~ incorporate, by reference, information submitted in the initial ~~applicatio~~ application, but must include all information required by law or ~~Ordinance~~ rule at the time the new application is submitted.

~~17.~~ Commencement of Operations. The permittee may not commence work at the site, or conduct activities in or associated with the new, altered, or modified portion of the site, until:

- ~~a.~~ The permittee has submitted to the Board by certified mail or hand delivery a letter signed by the permittee and a State of Maine Registered Professional Engineer stating that the site has been constructed, altered, or modified in compliance with the permit.

b. The Board and/or its representatives have inspected the site and found it to be in compliance with the conditions of the permit. If within 30 days of the date of submission of the letter required by a. above the permittee has not received notice from the Board of intent to inspect, prior inspection is waived and the permittee may commence activity at the site.

c. All applicable fees due the Town of Union, including the applicable annual fee, are paid in full.

~~18.~~ Other Permits and Licenses. ~~The applicant shall secure and comply with all~~ Prior to commencing any permitted activity, the permittee shall obtain all necessary and applicable federal, state, and local licenses, permits, authorizations, approvals, conditions, agreements, and orders ~~prior to and~~. The permittee shall comply with the same for the duration of any permitted activity, including during construction, alteration, modification, operation, reclamation, remediation, and closure, as appropriate.

~~19.~~ Bid Specification. A copy of the approval must be included in or attached to all contract bid specifications for the site.

~~20.~~ Contractor Copy. The permittee shall not direct or allow any work within the scope of the permit to be done by a contractor until the contractor(s) has been given a copy of the approval. The permittee shall certify to the Board that the contractor(s) has received a copy of the approval.

~~21.~~ Annual Fee. The ~~applicant~~permittee shall pay the Town the annual fee ~~as~~ required by ~~Section 44 of~~ this Ordinance. ~~The permit is not effective until and unless the annual fee has been paid.~~

~~22.~~ Inspection and Entry. The ~~Board and/or its representatives, not limited to,~~ the permittee shall allow the Board, Code Enforcement Officer, ~~shall be allowed or other~~ representatives of the Town access to the site and affected area during business hours, and at such other times as the ~~Board~~Town deems necessary, for the purpose of performing tests or monitoring, collecting samples, conducting inspections, examining records relating to the site, or ~~developing or~~ enforcing this Ordinance or any other Town of Union Ordinance.

Third-Party Inspector. The permittee shall retain the services of one or more qualified third-party inspectors to monitor compliance with permit conditions during construction, operation and closure. At least 30 days prior to commencement of any permitted activity, the permitted must submit to the Board the names of at least three third-party inspectors who meet the standards adopted by the DEP under 06-096 C.M.R ch. 200, § 12(A)(20). The Board shall select the third-party inspector within 15 days of receiving the proposed names from the permittee. The selected inspector shall submit written reports to the Board containing such information as is necessary to demonstrate compliance with this Ordinance and all permit conditions in a format approved by the Board and in accordance with a schedule determined by the Board. Notwithstanding any schedule for reports established by the Board, the third-party inspector shall provide the Code Enforcement Officer with any information or reports as he or she may from time to time request. The Board may vote to remove the chosen third-party inspector for any reason by providing 30 days written notice to the permittee and inspector. Within 60 days of the date of the Board's notice of removal of the third-party inspector, the permittee shall provide the Board with a new list of at least three third-party inspectors in accordance with this paragraph and the Board shall select a new third-party inspector from that list. If for any reason a chosen third-party inspector is unable to fulfill his or her duties under this paragraph, the permittee and third-party inspector shall promptly notify the Board and a new inspector shall be chosen in the same manner as provided in the event of removal.

~~23.~~ Financial Responsibility. The permittee ~~shall~~may not commence construction or continue operation at the site until ~~and unless~~:

a. ~~All~~Permittee has provided the Town with proof of all required insurance ~~coverage~~ is in force and effect.coverages;

b. ~~All~~ Permittee has provided the Town with all required financial assurance of ~~insurance, relating to~~ reclamation, remediation, corrective action, and closure and ~~post-closure~~ post-closure funding ~~is made as required.; and~~

~~c. All financial responsibilities are met as required.~~

~~d. All~~ Permittee has satisfied all of its financial responsibilities under this Ordinance and provided the Town with all required cash deposits ~~or~~, payments, fees, and letters of credit ~~are delivered as required.~~

~~24.~~ Preconstruction. All preconstruction terms and conditions must be met before any construction begins.

25. Advertising. Advertising relating to matters included in the permit application may refer to the approval only if it notes that the approval has been granted ~~WITH CONDITIONS~~with conditions, and indicates where copies of those conditions may be obtained.

26. Transfer of Ownership. Unless otherwise provided in the permit, the permittee shall not sell, lease, assign, or otherwise transfer the site or any portion thereof, or cause or allow any other action where the purpose or consequence is to transfer any of the obligations of the permittee as incorporated in the permit, without prior written approval of the Board in accordance with ~~Section 11 of~~ this Ordinance.

27. Deed Notation. Whenever any site, or portion thereof, previously used for mining or advanced exploration is transferred by deed, the following shall be expressly stated in the deed:

- a. The type(s) of waste unit(s) located on the site, the dates of establishment and closure of each, and a description of the location, composition, extent, and depth of waste deposited in each; and
- b. The date of issuance of the permit, number of such permit, and names of issuing agencies.

~~B.~~ B. Special Conditions. The Board may place special terms and conditions, without limitation, on a permit issued under this Ordinance. However, terms and conditions shall specify particular means of satisfying minor or easily corrected problems, relating to compliance with this Ordinance and with the applicable law, and shall not substitute for or reduce the burden of proof on the applicant to affirmatively demonstrate to the Board that each of the applicable standards has been met.

~~Section 9. General Application Requirements~~

~~A. Filing. An applicant for a permit shall file 20 copies of an application unless otherwise specified by the Board in accordance with the requirements of this Ordinance, including a completed permit application form and all supporting materials. All drawings must be done on paper no smaller than 8¹/₂ x 11 inches and no larger than 36 x 48 inches in size unless otherwise approved. All applications shall contain a designation of a person in the State of Maine on whom all orders and notices may be served and to whom all other correspondence regarding the application should be sent.~~

~~B. Certification of Application. The application must be signed and certified by a responsible officer of the applicant. The signing of the application constitutes certification thereof in accordance with~~

~~the certification statement on the application form. The property owner(s) must also sign the application indicating knowledge of the proposed activity.~~

~~C. Payment. With the application, an applicant must remit the appropriate application fees by certified check or money order made payable to the Town of Union as provided in Section 44 of this Ordinance.~~

~~D. Certification of Supporting Documents. All work done to support the investigation, design, construction, operation, reclamation, closure, post closure, and corrective action at a site shall be completed by qualified professionals, as follows:~~

~~1. Reports, plans, or other materials submitted in support of the application shall bear the signature and seal of the qualified professional who drafted or supervised the drafting of each document.~~

~~2. Engineering designs, reports, plans, and other technical engineering documents must be signed and certified by a State of Maine Registered Professional Engineer.~~

~~3. Geological work must be signed and certified by a State of Maine Certified Geologist.~~

~~4. Soils work must be signed and certified by a State of Maine Certified Soils Scientist.~~

~~5. Survey work must be signed and certified by a State of Maine Registered Land Surveyor.~~

~~E. Title, Right, and Interest. The Board will consider an application only when an applicant has demonstrated sufficient title, right, and interest in all of the property which is proposed for use. An applicant shall make such demonstration as follows:~~

~~1. When the applicant owns the property, a copy of the deed(s) to the property shall be supplied.~~

~~2. When the applicant has a lease or easement on the property, a copy of the lease or easement shall be supplied. The lease or easement shall be of sufficient duration and shall otherwise have sufficient terms, as determined by the Board, to permit construction, reasonable use, reclamation, closure, and post-closure maintenance at the site.~~

~~3. When the applicant has an option to buy or lease the property, a copy of the option agreement shall be supplied. The option shall be sufficient if it provides rights to the title or a leasehold as provided herein.~~

Section 10. Permit Duration and Renewal

~~A. The maximum permit duration shall be five years.~~

A. Maximum Duration. The duration of any permit issued pursuant to this Ordinance shall be as determined by the Board but in no event longer than 5 years after its issuance. Permits may be renewed in accordance with this Ordinance, subject to the same 5-year maximum duration for any renewal.

B. Timeline for Renewal. A permittee must submit an application for renewal at least 180 days, but no earlier than 210 days, prior to the expiration date of the existing permit.

C. ~~B.~~ Renewal Criteria. A permit renewal ~~shall~~may be granted by the Board if the ~~applicant~~permittee demonstrates, in addition to the other requirements of this Ordinance:

1. Compliance with the terms of the permit or, if not in compliance with the terms of the permit, compliance with a Board-approved corrective action plan, administrative consent agreement ~~and/or~~ enforcement order, or court order; and

2. Compliance with ~~Sections 31 through 35~~all applicable performance standards of this Ordinance, except that any new siting and design standards shall not be applicable to previously permitted mine waste units.

D. ~~C.~~ Renewal Application Requirements. ~~The~~A renewal application ~~shall be~~must be submitted in the same format as a new application, signed by a responsible officer ~~and of the permittee in the same manner as a new permit application, and must~~ include the following:

1. A narrative summary of occurrences of noncompliance and any accompanying corrective action taken during the previous permit period;

2. A narrative summary of any continuing noncompliance;

3. Information necessary to demonstrate compliance with ~~Sections 31 through 35~~the applicable performance standards of this Ordinance, as hereafter amended or superseded; and

4. Evidence that the required public notice for the renewal application has been given, if applicable.

E. ~~D.~~ Applicability of New Siting and Design Standards. Notwithstanding Section 10(~~BC~~)(2), new siting and design standards shall apply to renewal permits for unconstructed mine waste units and ~~new design standards shall apply to~~ substantial expansions of mine waste units if the Board determines such standards are technically feasible to apply and ~~may be~~reasonably necessary to protect public health or the environment.

F. ~~E.~~ Delay of Expiration. ~~When an applicant has submitted a complete application for renewal at least 180 days, but no earlier than 210 days, prior to the expiration date, the existing permit shall~~Existing permits do not expire until the Board has finally acted on any timely submitted and complete renewal application ~~has received final agency action. Only if a renewal application is timely and complete shall the applicant be entitled to continue operation under the previous permit until the Board renders a decision on the application for renewal. Twenty copies of the renewal application shall be provided unless otherwise specified by the Board.~~received from the permittee.

G. ~~F.~~ Public Hearing on Renewal Application. The Board shall hold a public hearing and provide an opportunity for public comment on any application for permit renewal.

Section 11. Transfer of Permit

~~The~~A permittee ~~shall~~may not sell, lease, assign, or otherwise transfer the site or any portion thereof, or cause or allow any other action where the purpose or consequence is to transfer any of the obligations of the permittee as incorporated in the permit, except ~~following~~with the prior written approval of the Board. No transfer request will be considered by the Board without the submission of a transfer application and payment of applicable fees as provided in ~~Section 44 of~~ this Ordinance. The Board ~~shall either require that the proposed transferee apply for a new permit, or may not~~ approve the transfer of the permit ~~if the applicant has demonstrated the following unless the proposed transferee:~~

~~A. The terms and conditions of the permit, and all applicable laws, can and will be met.~~

A. Agrees to be bound by and comply with the terms and conditions of the permit, and all applicable laws, including the provision of all required proofs of insurance and financial assurances and payment of all fees required by the Town and this Ordinance.

~~B. The proposed transferee has~~Demonstrates sufficient the financial capacity and technical ability ~~and intent to~~to comply with and satisfy the terms and conditions of the permit.

~~C. The transfer of the permit or the activities it allows will not~~

C. Demonstrates that the transfer of the permit will not cause or contribute to a violation of law. In determining whether transfer of the permit will cause or contribute to a violation of law, the Board shall consider any prior violation, suspension, or revocation of a permit issued to the proposed transferee or any person related to

the proposed transferee and any other environmental enforcement history of the proposed transferee or related person. The Board may ~~require the proposed transferee to present~~consider evidence of changed conditions or circumstances ~~sufficient, in the judgment of the Board, to warrant~~warranting transfer of the permit notwithstanding any prior violation, suspension, or revocation. ~~The applicant shall provide the Board, as part of the transfer request, 20 copies of the information (unless otherwise specified by the Board) on the applicant as required in Section 23 of this Ordinance. Proposed changes to the terms of the permit, including financial responsibility requirements, shall be considered a request for permit modification and processed accordingly. The Board shall hold a public hearing and provide an opportunity for public comment on~~prior to acting upon any transfer ~~request~~application.

Section 12. ~~Variances~~Waivers

A. The Board intends, through this section, toAvailability of Waiver. To allow for flexibility in meeting certain ~~aspects of the siting, construction, design, and operational~~standards and requirements of this Ordinance. ~~This section applies only to variances from the following provisions of this Ordinance;~~ the Board may waive or modify the requirements and performance standards contained in this Ordinance only for the the requirements contained in Sections 24(A)-(C), 25(A), 26(D)(3)(a) and (b), 26(H)(2)(b), 26(H)(5)(e)(II), 33(A)(1) and (4), 33(B)(1)-(3), 33(C)(1)-(3), 33(C)(4)(d)-(f), and 35(A)(3)(c)(I). No Waivers may not be granted for any other provisions ~~are~~ subject to this section. Theof this Ordinance. Requests for waivers must be submitted with an application or renewal application, with the fee required by this Ordinance, and the Board shall consider ~~a variance request~~such requests as part of its ~~comprehensive~~ review ~~of a complete~~ application.

See
12/A-
D-See
13,14

B. ~~A. Variance Waiver~~ Criteria. The Board may not grant a ~~variance only when they find~~ waiver except upon a finding, by clear and convincing evidence, that the alternative proposed will provide at least an equivalent degree of protection as would otherwise applicable standards contained in this Ordinance. The applicant must affirmatively demonstrate the proposed alternative will provide at least this equivalent degree of protection. A ~~variance~~ waiver may be issued subject to such terms and conditions as the Board deems necessary, and the permittee shall comply with such terms and conditions.

C. ~~B. Fee and~~ Information Required. ~~A~~ Any request for a ~~variance, submitted to the Board, waiver must be accompanied by payment of the fee for a waiver request provided by this Ordinance and~~ shall include, but is not limited to, the following information:

1. ~~Identification of the~~ The specific ~~provisions~~ provision(s) of this Ordinance ~~from for~~ which a ~~variance~~ waiver is sought;
2. Description of the alternative siting, design, construction, or operational procedure proposed; and
3. Information and explanation affirmatively demonstrating that the alternative proposed will provide at least an equivalent degree of protection as would otherwise applicable standards contained in this Ordinance.

D. ~~C. Term and Renewal of Conditions.~~ The term of the ~~variance~~ waiver shall be concurrent with the term of the permit, or for such lesser term as the Board may specify in granting the ~~permit~~ waiver.

~~D. No variance request shall be considered without payment of the fees for the processing of the variance request as provided in Section 44 of this Ordinance.~~

SUBCHAPTER 2. EXPLORATION AND ADVANCED EXPLORATION

Section 13. Purpose of Exploration and Advanced Exploration Requirements

~~The purpose of this~~ This subchapter ~~is to establish~~ establishes procedures and standards for exploration and advanced exploration activities and shall apply to any person proposing to conduct such activities in the Town of Union.

~~Section 14. Applicability of Exploration and Advanced Exploration Requirements~~

~~This Ordinance applies to any person proposing to conduct exploration or advanced exploration activities.~~

Section 15.14. Requirements for Exploration Activities

A. Procedural Requirements. ~~Prior to the conducting of~~ No person may conduct or engage in any exploration activities, a person shall notify the Town of Union unless such person has provided written notification of the proposed activities to the Code Enforcement Officer of such activities and pay the applicable fee as provided in Section 44 of ~~paid all fees related to exploration activities required by~~ this Ordinance. The notification shall describe the nature and location of the exploration activities to be conducted. Depending upon the location, type, and extent of activity, a permit may be required under other ~~rules~~ ordinances of the Town of Union or laws of the State of Maine. The Board may deny any applications for exploration, advanced exploration and mining activity permits submitted by any person who fails to provide notice to the Code Enforcement Officer in accordance with this subsection prior to engaging in exploration activities.

B. Standards. ~~The~~ All exploration activities must be performed in accordance with the following minimum standards ~~must be met for exploration activities:~~

~~1-~~ Access ways servicing the exploration site shall ~~involve~~ be constructed with little or no recontouring of the land or ditching, ~~and shall not include the addition of gravel or other surfacing materials. Clearing of the~~ with minimal clearing of vegetative cover ~~shall be limited to the minimum necessary to allow for the movement of equipment.~~

~~2-~~ Access ways near stream channels ~~may not include the addition of gravel or other surfacing materials and~~ shall be located and designed ~~so as~~ to minimize erosion and ~~the~~ discharge of sediment ~~to the stream~~ into nearby water bodies.

Erosion control measures must be implemented in accordance with DEP's Erosion and Sediment Control Best Management Practices to prevent unreasonable erosion of soil or sediment beyond the exploration site. Erosion control measures must be in place prior to the commencement of any exploration activity and remain in place until the site is permanently stabilized.

~~3-~~ Soil which is stripped or removed must be stockpiled for use in reclaiming disturbed land areas. Soil stockpiles shall be seeded, mulched, and anchored or otherwise stabilized.

~~4. The~~ Any affected land shall be restored to a physical state that is similar to and compatible with that which existed prior to any exploration or that encourages the productive use of the land. Within 30 working days following completion of exploration at a site, any person conducting exploration activities shall accomplish the following:

- a. Disposal of all debris in accordance with applicable state laws and regulations;
- b. Grading of the surface of the site so that the final graded slope conforms with the original contour of the land; and
- c. Reseeding and stabilization of graded topsoil with vegetation native to the area. ~~Any person conducting exploration activities shall follow the "Guidelines for Soil Stabilization," 04-061 CMR 10, Appendix B.~~

Any person conducting exploration activities comply with DEP's Erosion and Sediment Control Best Management Practices.

~~5-~~ Within 30 working days after completion of exploration activities, all excavations including trenches, test pits, and mud pits shall be capped, refilled, or secured. All settling ponds or sumps must be backfilled, covered with topsoil, and seeded.

All drill additives should be non-toxic as indicated by the manufacturer's product publications, such as Safety Data Sheets, and biodegradable to the extent reasonably possible. Drill fluids, additives and cuttings may not be released and must be confined to the drill site by the use of storage tanks or sumps unless an alternative disposal method is approved by the Department. All excavation sites and resulting waste must be managed to ensure no untreated water is released to the environment and released volumes will not adversely impact existing

stream flows. The discharge of pollutants to surface and groundwater during exploratory mining is prohibited.

6. Sealing of all drill holes, whether temporary or permanent, shall be completed within 30 days of cessation of drilling or testing activities such as ~~"down the hole"~~ "down-the-hole" geophysical surveys or other similar activities. All artesian wells shall be capped or sealed within 48

Sec-15

hours after cessation of drilling or the onset of artesian conditions. No drill hole may be temporarily sealed for more than 3 years unless the drill hole is being used for sampling or other studies related to a mineral deposit or general hydrological conditions of the area. Sealing requirements are as follows:

a- A drill hole that is temporarily sealed shall prevent the passage of water into or out of bedrock. The method of temporary sealing shall include:

- I. Plugs at the top of the bedrock;
- II. Plugs at the surface opening of the drill hole; or
- III. Such other methods as approved by the Board so as to reasonably prevent the passage of water into or out of the bedrock portion of the drill hole for a period of at least 3 years.

b- When any person conducting exploration activities determines that a drill hole need not remain open, or when a drill hole has remained temporarily sealed for more than 3 years and is not being used for sampling or other studies, the drill hole shall be sealed. Permanent sealing requirements include the following:

I. The drill hole shall be permanently sealed by using concrete or neat cement to form a plug at least 10 feet in length down from the top of the bedrock surface. If the bedrock surface is so fractured or otherwise permeable that a 10-foot plug is not adequate to prevent water from entering or exiting the drill hole, then a plug of sufficient length shall be used to accomplish the desired seal.

II. The surface opening of the drill hole shall be plugged with a ~~non-metallic~~non-metallic permanent plug of at least 3 feet in length. The plug may be made of wood, cement, rubber or other materials approved by the Board.

III. As an alternative to Sections ~~1514~~1514(B)(~~68~~68)(b)(I) and (II), the drill hole may be filled with a bentonite slurry from the bottom of the hole level with the surface. Other methods may be used as approved by the Board.

IV. If the owner of the land on which the drill hole is located desires to maintain the drill hole as a source of water, the owner shall notify the Board as part of the report required in Section ~~1514~~(B)(~~68~~)(c).

V. All materials, debris, and obstructions that may interfere with sealing operations shall be removed from the drill hole. Casing and other pipe shall be removed or perforated when necessary to ensure placement of an effective seal.

~~e~~—Within 30 working days after permanent sealing of a drill hole, any person conducting exploration activities shall submit to the Board a report including, but not limited to, the following information for each drill hole:

- I. Location and identification of the drill hole;
- II. Dimensions of the drill hole;
- III. Identification of depth, static elevation, and estimated flow of any groundwater encountered, if known; and
- IV. Methods of sealing the drill hole, demonstrating compliance with Section ~~1514~~(B)(~~68~~)(a) and (b).

~~7~~—The Board and/or its representatives may enter any exploration site, take samples, and conduct tests in order to determine compliance with any provision of this Ordinance or other applicable requirements. The Board may require the submission of annual self-inspection reports, signed by a qualified professional, for exploration activities conducted pursuant to this Ordinance.

~~8~~—Any person conducting exploration activities shall notify the Code Enforcement Officer, the Selectmen, and the Board orally, immediately, and in writing within the next three working days of any activity or occurrence during the course of exploration ~~or~~, reclamation or remediation which has the potential to damage public health or the environment.

Beneficiation is prohibited in connection with exploration activities.

Section ~~1615~~. Requirements for Advanced Exploration Activities

A. ~~A~~—Standards. The standards for advanced exploration activities include the minimum exploration standards listed under Section ~~1514~~ of this Ordinance, together with any additional ~~sitedspecific~~site-specific standards and conditions required under the advanced exploration permit. These standards will be drawn from Sections ~~17-3516-31~~ of this Ordinance.

See
16/B
See
17,18
See
19/A-
C

B. ~~B.~~-Submission Requirements. Because of the varying nature and complexity of advanced exploration activities, the specific submission requirements will be determined by the Board on a case-by-case basis, upon review of the pre-application submissions set forth in Section ~~19~~17.

**SUBCHAPTER 3. ADVANCED EXPLORATION AND MINING ACTIVITIES;
PRE-APPLICATION**

Section ~~17~~16. Purpose of Pre-Application Requirements

This subchapter ~~establishes procedures and requirements for~~governs the pre-application process associated with advanced exploration and mining activities and shall apply to all advanced exploration and mining activities for which a permit is required by this Ordinance.

~~Section 18. Applicability of Pre-Application Requirements~~

~~The provisions of this subchapter apply to all mining activities and may apply, at the discretion of the Board, to advanced exploration activities, depending upon the nature of the activity.~~

Section ~~19~~17. Requirements for Pre-Application

A. Request by Applicant. Prior to preparing an application for a permit, the applicant shall request in writing a pre-application conference with the Board. All correspondence or pre-applications relating to mining activities within the Town of Union which are submitted to or transmitted by federal or state regulatory agencies must also be submitted concurrently to the Board.

B. Scheduling of Pre-Application Conference. The purpose of a pre-application conference is to help the applicant understand the pre-application and application processes, to identify particular areas of concern, and to exchange information. The Board shall schedule a pre-application conference with the applicant following receipt and review of the information required in Section ~~19~~17(C).

C. Pre-Application Submissions. Prior to the pre-application conference, the applicant shall furnish the Board with ~~20~~8 copies of the following information unless otherwise specified by the Board. Additional information may be ~~required~~requested from the applicant during this phase:

1. The name, title, organization, address, and phone number of the applicant and the principal representative of the applicant;
2. Regional maps showing the location of the activity in relation to existing communities, transportation systems, and major physical features of the area;

3. Complete aerial coverage of the mine site area so to include obvious on and off-site identifying prominent landmarks as determined by the Board in both video and ~~35 mm~~ color ~~film~~photo format. The Board shall specify the dimensions of the area, but in all cases coverage shall extend at least one mile from the site perimeter in all directions.
4. Description of the metallic minerals of potential interest;
5. Evidence of the ~~applicant's legal~~applicant's title, right and interest to conduct the proposed activity on the site, including a description of the ownership of the metallic minerals;
6. A description of the existing land use classification and/or zoning designation of the site;
7. A conceptual advanced exploration or mining plan; and
8. A proposed baseline monitoring plan meeting the requirements set forth in this Section ~~19(D)~~. The applicant may, upon prior written notice to the Board, elect to submit the proposed baseline monitoring plan as part of the draft scoping document required under this Section ~~19(E)(2) of this Ordinance~~. In such case, the public notification requirements and public comment periods required under Sections ~~19~~17(D)(4) and (5) and Sections ~~19~~17(E)(3), (4), and (5) of this Ordinance shall be consolidated.

A reactive mine waste report that includes all information required by 06-096 C.M.R. ch. 200, §20(E), including any measures proposed to prevent or minimize adverse impacts on the environment, including but not limited to control and monitoring of acid rock drainage, metal leaching and areas impacted or potentially impacted by acid rock drainage.

D. ~~D.~~ Baseline Monitoring Plan. A baseline monitoring plan defines existing site conditions prior to commencement of the proposed activity. The proposed baseline monitoring plan shall include, ~~at the discretion of the Board,~~ but is not limited to, characterizations of the following resources: protected natural resources, wildlife, fisheries, aquatic life, vegetation, surface water and groundwater quality and quantity, air quality, and socioeconomics and such other information as the Board may determine necessary.

~~1.~~ Contents. Baseline studies shall provide sufficient data to allow qualitative and quantitative analysis of the study areas. The study areas should include all areas within the site and affected areas. The proposed baseline monitoring plan may include, as required by the Board, studies on each of the following:

- a. Climate, including precipitation zone, both annual and monthly;
- b. Air quality;
- c. Surface water, including:
 - I. Seasonal water quality and quantity;
 - II. Storm-event water quality and quantity;

- III. Storm survey calculations for 24-hour duration storms at 10-year, 25-year and 100-year, and 200-year return intervals;
- IV. Maps of affected watersheds and wetlands;
- V. Flow estimates of affected watersheds; and
- VI. Sediment quality;
 - d.** Groundwater, including:
 - I. Groundwater quality and quantity;
 - II. Hydrologic inventory of wells, springs, and seeps in area of impact;
 - III. Aquifer characteristics (values of transmissivity, storage coefficient, aquifer saturated thickness);
 - IV. Potentiometric surface map; and
 - V. Delineation and characterization of hydrostratigraphic units;
 - e.** Geology, including:
 - I. Geologic map indicating known stratigraphy, structure, and fault system with appropriate cross-sections;
 - II. Narrative of geologic history;
 - III. Discussion of the metallic mineral deposit including mineralogic and chemical nature of the ore and waste rock;
 - IV. Geologic stability of the affected area including regional seismicity, known landslides, and fault systems; and
 - V. Unique geologic features;
 - f.** Soils and other surficial deposits including type, extent, thickness, and physical and chemical properties;
 - g.** Vegetation, including:
 - I. **h.** Plant community types;

- II. Percent of cover by morphological class;
- III. Existence of endangered or threatened species; and
- IV. Map indicating range, distribution, and community type;

~~h.~~ Wildlife and fisheries, including:

- I. Biological monitoring (~~fish—tissue~~fish-tissue analysis, fish surveys and appropriate invertebrate studies);
- II. Significant wildlife habitats and unusual natural areas including mapped or unmapped deer wintering areas;
- III. Existence of endangered or threatened species; and
- IV. Wildlife uses;

~~i.~~ Socioeconomic characteristics, including:

- I. Population and demographics;
- II. Local economy;
- III. Public facilities and services;
- IV. Transportation; and
- V. Housing and property valuation;

~~j.~~ Adjacent land uses and land cover; and

~~k.~~ Cultural, historic, and scenic resources.

~~2.~~ Data Acquisition

~~a.~~ The baseline monitoring plan shall describe methods for acquiring data at the site of the proposed activity. The proposed data acquisition methods shall include, but are not limited to, the following:

- I. Scope of analysis or investigation;
- II. Sampling methods;

- ~~III. III-~~Detection limits and analytical methods, where appropriate.
- b. The baseline monitoring plan shall include a timetable for collection of data.
- c. The baseline monitoring plan shall include a quality assurance (QA) project plan. The purpose of the QA project plan is to ensure that data acquisition is performed using approved methods and meeting approved minimum technical and professional standards. The QA documentation for the baseline data shall include the following for water and air:
 - I. Analytical results;
 - II. Detection limits for each analyte;
 - III. Method reference;
 - IV. Dates that samples were collected, received, prepared, and analyzed;
 - V. ~~Chain-of-custody~~Chain-of-custody records;
 - VI. Results of laboratory control samples (method blanks/initial calibration reference standards);
 - VII. Results of ~~matrix-specific~~matrix-specific spikes, ~~matrix-spiked~~matrix-spiked duplicates, or reference standards (if applicable); and
 - VIII. Commentary on any anomalies encountered during sampling and analysis.

NOTE: For ~~an example~~examples of a quality assurance project plan, refer to ~~QAMS-005/80, "Interim Guidelines and Specifications for Preparing~~"EPA Requirements for Quality Assurance Project Plans," (EPA QA/R-5), U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, ~~1980. (March 2001)~~ and "EPA Guidance for Quality Assurance Project Plans," (EPA QA/G-5), U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (December 2002).

~~3-~~Technical Standards for Baseline Monitoring Plan

~~a-~~Testing is required for (1) metallic elements for which maximum contaminant levels (MCLs) have been established by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) under the Safe Drinking Water Act, or for which applicable New Source Performance Standards for Ore Mining and Dressing Point Source Categories have been established pursuant to 40 CFR §440; and (2) for any toxics for which criteria have been developed by EPA under Section 304(a) of the Clean Water Act or by the DEP under 38 M.R.S.A. §420, and other indicators that could adversely impact water quality. In addition, the Board may require testing which includes, but is not limited to, the following:

30

<u>Acidity</u>	<u>Cobalt</u>	<u>Radium 226 and 228</u>
<u>Alkalinity</u>	<u>Conductivity</u>	<u>Selenium</u>
<u>Aluminum</u>	<u>Copper</u>	<u>Silver</u>
<u>Ammonia</u>	<u>Cyanide</u>	<u>Silica</u>
<u>Antimony</u>	<u>Dissolved oxygen</u>	<u>Sodium</u>
<u>Arsenic</u>	<u>Fluoride</u>	<u>Sulfate</u>
<u>Barium</u>	<u>Hardness</u>	<u>Sulfide</u>
<u>Beryllium</u>	<u>Iron</u>	<u>Temperature</u>
<u>Biochemical oxygen demand</u>	<u>Lead</u>	<u>Thallium</u>
<u>Boron</u>	<u>Magnesium</u>	<u>Total dissolved solids</u>

<u>Bicarbonates</u>	<u>Manganese</u>	<u>Total Kjeldahl nitrogen</u>
<u>Cadmium</u>	<u>Mercury</u>	<u>Total organic carbon</u>
<u>Calcium</u>	<u>Molybdenum</u>	<u>Total petroleum hydrocarbons</u>
<u>Carbonates</u>	<u>Nickel</u>	<u>Total phosphorus</u>
<u>Cation-anion balance</u>	<u>Nitrates-nitrites</u>	<u>Total suspended solids</u>
<u>Chemical oxygen demand</u>	<u>pH</u>	<u>Vanadium</u>
<u>Chloride</u>	<u>Phenols</u>	<u>Volatile organic compounds</u>
<u>Chromium</u>	<u>Potassium</u>	<u>Zinc</u>

Baseline surface and groundwater quality monitoring shall include at least 2 years' data collected over 24 or more consecutive months unless pre-existing data are approved for use by the Board and shall include the information necessary to:

I. Determine upper and lower predictive limits for baseline hydrological conditions (water levels, stream stage and discharge) at each monitoring location for each parameter and for each hydrologic season.

II. Evaluate future operational, reclamation, corrective action, closure and post-closure monitoring data for the presence of significant change from baseline conditions;

III. Characterize baseline water quality and sediment in streams, ponds, and wetlands for parameters representative of mine materials, wastes, and designated chemical materials, and associated reaction and transformation products that present a potential risk of release during metallic mineral mining;

IV. Characterize baseline water quality and sediment in streams, ponds, and wetlands for parameters that likely serve as general indicators of baseline conditions; and

V. Provide a groundwater flow numerical model for baseline, operational, and post closure conditions that will be used for determining potential hydrogeological impact

acidity
alkalinity
aluminum
ammonia
antimony
arsenic
barium
beryllium
biochemical oxygen demand

boron
bicarbonates
cadmium
calcium
carbonates
cation-anion balance
chemical oxygen demand
chloride
chromium
cobalt
conductivity
copper
cyanide
dissolved oxygen
fluoride
hardness
iron
lead

magnesium
manganese
mercury
molybdenum
nickel
nitrates—nitrite
pH
phenols
potassium
radium 226 and 228
selenium
silver
silica
sodium
sulfate
sulfide
temperature
thallium
total dissolved solids
total Kjeldahl nitrogen
total organic carbon
total petroleum hydrocarbons
total phosphorus
total suspended solids
vanadium

~~volatile organic compounds
zinc~~

~~b. Minimum baseline data acquisition of ambient air quality data shall be that required under 06-096 CMR 115(VI)(D)(1).~~

b. Sampling points and monitoring wells shall be adequate in number and located in such a manner as to adequately characterize existing conditions.

~~c. Data shall be collected over 12 consecutive months for surface and groundwater quality unless pre-existing data are approved for use by the Board.~~

Minimum baseline data acquisition of ambient air quality data shall be that required under 06-096 C.M.R. ch. 115, §7(D)(1).

d. Sampling frequencies shall be determined by the Board.

e. Analyses shall be performed using ~~EPA-approved~~EPA-approved methods by qualified independent laboratories unless otherwise agreed to by the Board.

~~NOTE: For a listing of EPA Approved Test Methods, refer to 40 CFR 136.~~

f. The required level of detection shall be determined by the Board.

~~h. The use of pre-existing data shall be subject to approval by the Board under the criteria set forth in Section 19(D)(3)(I).~~

~~±. All~~ The use of pre-existing data shall be subject to approval by the Board and shall be accepted or rejected prior to the acceptance of the baseline monitoring plan. Any permitted pre-existing data shall be clearly marked "pre-existing data" within the baseline monitoring plan. The applicant shall discuss the manner and time in which the data was acquired, the analytical or investigative methods used, and any other factors relevant to the quality and applicability of the data. Such factors, at the discretion of the Board, may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- AA. Age of the data;
- BB. Analytical methods used;
- CC. Detection limit;
- DD. Quality assurance/quality control documentation;
- EE. Field method employed;
- FF. Representativeness of the data; and
- GG. Previous Board approvals of work plans submitted by the applicant.

~~±±. The Board shall accept or reject the use of pre-existing data prior to the acceptance of the baseline monitoring plan.~~

4. Publication and Notice of Baseline Monitoring Plans. Upon initial submittal of the proposed baseline monitoring plan, the applicant shall provide public notice of the availability of the plan for public review and comment by publishing notice in the newspaper having the largest circulation in the county and in one newspaper with a circulation area of the entire State of Maine. A certificate of publication will be made a part of the record.

5. Public Comment Period; Hearing. Following notice of publication of the baseline monitoring plan, there shall be ~~30~~60 days for public review and comment and the Board shall hold a public hearing within the public comment period. The Board may extend the public comment period upon reasonable request.

~~6.~~ Review and Acceptance of Baseline Monitoring Plan

- a. Within ~~90~~60 days ~~of~~after the close of the public comment period, the Board shall either accept the baseline monitoring plan, accept with conditions, or require amendments to the plan prior to acceptance.
- b. After the baseline monitoring plan has been accepted by the Board, it shall be amended if:
 - I. Changes in the siting of the proposed activity necessitate an expansion of the study area;
 - II. Changes in the scope of the proposed activity necessitate additional studies; or
 - III. Any other information is necessary for the Board to evaluate the proposed activity under all applicable permit review criteria.

E. ~~E.~~ Environmental Review. ~~The~~All applicants for mining activity shall undergo an environmental review process and ~~the preparation of~~prepare an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) ~~shall be mandatory for all mining activities and may be required by the Board.~~ The Board may require applicants for advanced exploration activities to undergo an environmental review process and prepare an EIR, depending on the nature and extent of the proposed activity. The main objectives of the environmental review process and the preparation of an EIR are to: (1) encourage early public input into the process; (2) provide a useful informational assessment as part of the application that will inform the Board and the public of any potentially significant adverse impacts associated with a proposed activity; (3) identify methods to minimize any significant adverse impacts to the environment; and (4) identify and evaluate alternatives to the proposed activity or components thereof.

1. A scoping process shall be used before preparation of an EIR to identify environmental issues relevant to the proposed activity; determine the appropriate level of analysis and contents of the EIR; identify the factors to be assessed in the EIR; and set a timetable for preparation. At a minimum, the scope of an EIR shall encompass environmental, physical, cultural, land use, and socioeconomic impacts of a proposed activity; measures for mitigating significant impacts; and discussions of project site and processing alternatives.

2. Prior to the preparation of the EIR, a draft scoping document shall be submitted to the Board by the applicant and must be accepted by the Board, with or without conditions. Twenty copies shall be submitted unless ~~specified otherwise by~~ the Board specifies a lesser number. The draft scoping document shall include, but is not limited to, the following:

- ~~a.~~ Description of the proposed activity including the applicant and the name and location of the activity;

- a. Procedural details;
- b. Identification of potential environmental impacts and issues that require investigation;
- c. Detailed work plan for the analysis of each major issue area including proposed evaluations;
- d. Copy of the baseline monitoring plan; if previously accepted.
- e. Identification of the baseline data that will be incorporated into the EIR and how it will be incorporated; and
- f. Preliminary outline of the EIR.

3. Public Notice and Availability of Draft Scoping Document

~~a.~~ Upon submittal of the draft scoping document, the applicant shall provide public notice of the availability of the draft scoping document for public review and comment by publishing notice in the newspaper having the largest circulation in the county and in one newspaper with a circulation area of the entire State of Maine. A certificate of publication will be made a part of the record.

4. Public Comment Period; Hearing. Following notice of publication of the draft scoping document, there shall be ~~45~~60 days for public comment. The Board may extend the comment period upon reasonable request.

~~5. The Public Scoping Meeting. During the comment period, the~~ Board may hold a public ~~scoping meeting~~hearing during the public comment period to gather further comments on the draft scoping document.

~~6.~~ Acceptance of Scoping Document

~~a.~~ Within 90 days ~~of~~after the ~~end~~close of the public comment period, the Board shall either accept the draft scoping plan, accept the draft scoping plan with conditions, or require the applicant to amend the draft scoping document prior to acceptance.

~~b. After the scoping document has been accepted by the Board, with or without conditions, the scope of the EIR may be amended if:~~

Amendment of Scoping Document. After acceptance of the scoping document, with or without conditions, and prior to the submission of the EIR, the scoping document may be amended only if:

- I. Changes are made in the plans for the proposed activity that may affect the potential for unreasonable adverse effects to the public health or environment;
- II. New information arises that is material to the proposed activity or proposed site that may affect the potential for unreasonable adverse effects to the public health or environment; or

See
19,20,21
See
22/A

~~III. III-Any other~~ Additional information is necessary for the Board to evaluate the proposed activity under all applicable permit review criteria.

~~7.~~ Preparation of Environmental Impact Report. The completed EIR shall be submitted as a component of the mining permit application or, if applicable, the advanced exploration permit application in accordance with Section ~~23~~21(C) of this Ordinance.

SUBCHAPTER 4. MINING

Section 20~~18~~. Purpose of Requirements for Mining

This subchapter establishes the general procedures and requirements for the application and implementation of a permit.

Section 21~~19~~. Applicability of Requirements for Mining

The provisions of this subchapter apply to all mining activities, and may apply to advanced exploration activities depending upon the nature and extent of the activity.

Section 22~~20~~. Application Processing Procedure

An application for a permit shall be processed in accordance with this Ordinance.

F. ~~A.~~ Public Notice of Filing an Application. An applicant shall give public notice of the filing of an application by:

1. ~~1.~~ Publishing notice, in size and form at least equivalent to standard legal notices and containing the information specified below, in the newspaper having the largest circulation in the county and in one newspaper with a circulation of the entire State of Maine. A certificate of publication will be made a part of the record. Notice must be published once during the week in which the application is filed and once during the following week. Such notice shall include the following:

- a. A summary of the proposed activity;
- b. The date of filing of the application and locations at which and the times when the application may be examined;
- c. A statement that public comments are invited, that a public hearing will be held by the Board at a date and location to be announced, and that public comments will be accepted until the close of the public record or another date established by the Board.

35

G. Requests for Additional Information. In reviewing applications accepted for processing, the Board may require additional information from the applicant on any aspect of the application relating to compliance with the requirements of this Ordinance or Town of Union Ordinances.

H. Draft Decision. The Board may prepare a draft decision on the application and after consideration of the public comments and the application itself, and may provide an opportunity for the public to comment on the draft decision for a period of up to 30 days. The Board may incorporate comments received on the draft decision into the final decision.

I. Jurisdiction. The final decision on an application for a permit under this Ordinance shall be rendered by the Board.

Section 2321. Contents of Application

The applicant shall provide all submissions requested by the Board which the Board determines are necessary to evaluate the criteria for permit issuance under this Ordinance and other Town of Union Ordinances, including, but not limited to, materials the applicant has filed with other governmental agencies. The Board may waive application requirements it determines are inappropriate, unnecessary, or irrelevant to a specific proposal. The following information must be provided, but is not intended to include all submissions that may *be* required under applicable law:

J. ~~A.~~ General Information

1. ~~1.~~ Applicant Information. Information about the applicant and the proposed activity must be provided including, but not limited to, the following:

- a. The name, mailing address, and phone number of the applicant and principal representative of the applicant;
- b. The general organizational structure of the applicant, any parent companies, owners, principal stockholders, partners, and joint venturers;
- c. Any managing agents or subsidiaries which are or may be involved in the proposed activity;
- d. Organizational and legal relationships between or among joint applicants;
- e. The ~~applicant's~~applicant's registered agent for service of process in the state; and

f. ~~f.~~ Evidence of the ~~applicant's~~applicant's ability to undertake the proposed activity, including:

I. A statement of the ~~applicant's~~applicant's prior experience and/or training as it relates to the proposed activity;

II. The names and qualifications of all key personnel who will be involved with site preparation, extraction, beneficiation, reclamation, remediation, closure, and ~~post-closure~~post-closure maintenance; and

III. A summary of the ~~applicant's~~applicant's and its responsible officers' and related ~~corporation's~~corporation's record of compliance with environmental and land use laws and financial requirements of Maine and other jurisdictions, ~~as follows:~~

including a ~~AA. A~~ list and explanation of any felony convictions, any criminal convictions of environmental and land use laws, and any civil violations of environmental or land use laws administered by the State of Maine, other states, the United States, or another country at any time. and a ~~BB. A~~ list and explanation of administrative consent agreements or consent decrees entered into by the applicant or related persons including alleged violations of environmental or land use laws administered by the State of Maine, other states, the United States or another country, in the 10 years immediately preceding the filing of the application.

2. ~~2.~~ Location. The location of the proposed activity must be provided including, but not limited to, the following:

- a. The location of the proposed site;
- b. A legal description of the proposed site; and
- c. The names and addresses of owners of abutting property.

3. ~~3.~~ Evidence of Legal Authority. Evidence of legal authority to conduct business in the State of Maine must be provided.

4. Other Permits. A list must be provided of all other federal, state, and local permits, licenses, and approvals required for the proposed activity, including the status of such permits, licenses, and approvals.

5. Mining Experience. A list must be provided of all mines controlled or operated by the applicant, or related persons, in the world. This list shall include mine site addresses, nature and duration of affiliation with the site, and a brief description of each mine.

K. Baseline Monitoring Studies. Baseline monitoring studies prepared pursuant to the requirements of Section ~~19~~17(~~E~~D) of this Ordinance.

L. Environmental Impact Report. An environmental impact report prepared pursuant to the following requirements:

1. ~~1.~~ Contents of Environmental Impact Report. The following shall be included:
 - a. ~~a.~~ A cover sheet including:
 - I. Name of the proposed activity; and
 - II. Name, address, and telephone number of the applicant or the ~~applicant's~~applicant's representative.
 - b. ~~b.~~ Summary of the EIR stressing the major findings, areas of controversy, and the ~~issues~~ to be resolved, including alternatives;
 - c. ~~c.~~ Table of contents;
 - d. ~~d.~~ List of preparers and their experience and qualifications;
 - e. ~~e.~~ Description of all proposed activities;
 - f. ~~f.~~ List of all required local, state, and federal permits, licenses, and approvals, including an identification of the governmental unit responsible for each permit or approval;
 - g. ~~g.~~ An assessment of all potential environmental and socioeconomic impacts associated with a proposed mining or advanced exploration activity. The actual factors to be assessed will be based upon a project specific scoping process in accordance with

Section ~~19~~17(E) of this Ordinance, which will take into consideration the ~~site-specific~~site-specific characteristics associated with the proposed activity. These factors may include, but are not limited to, impacts on the following:

- I. Climate and air quality;
- II. Great ponds, rivers, streams, and brooks;
- III. Groundwater quality and existing groundwater uses, including public and private drinking water systems and water sources;
- IV. Bedrock geology;
- V. Surficial geology and soils;
- VI. Land forms;
- VII. Hydrology;
- VIII. Ambient noise levels;
- IX. Vegetation;
- X. Existing and future land uses;
- XI. Wildlife and fisheries;
- XII. Unusual natural areas as defined in 06-096 CMR c.375, §12(B);
- XIII. Significant wildlife habitat;
- XIV. Historic and archaeologic resources;
- XV. Scenic resources;
- XVI. Freshwater and coastal wetlands;
- XVII. Fragile mountain areas;
- XVIII. Public health and safety;
- XIX. Schools;
- XX. Roads and traffic circulation;
- XXI. Housing;
- XXII. Employment;
- XXIII. Fire protection;
- XXIV. ~~XXIX.~~ Law enforcement;
- XXV. ~~XXV.~~ Tax base and property valuation;

- XXVI. Social services;
- XXVII. Public lands, parks and other public access areas;
- XXVIII. Local economics; and
- XXIX. Recreational resources;

h. Identification of mitigation measures which may reasonably eliminate or minimize adverse health, environmental and socioeconomic impacts associated with the proposed activity; and

i. An assessment of alternatives comparing the impacts of the proposed activity with other alternatives, that are reasonably available, which have been or should be considered by the applicant in order to carry out the proposed activity in the most environmentally sound manner including alternatives that would prevent ~~substantial~~the impairment of existing groundwater uses within the Town of Union. This assessment may include, but is not limited to, design alternatives for ore leaching units and mine waste units; waste minimization alternatives including alternative extraction and beneficiation techniques, and opportunities for reuse, ~~in-mine~~in-mine disposal, sale, recovery, treatment or processing of mine wastes; waste treatment and handling alternatives, including alternatives to the proposed method for management and disposal of wastewaters; reclamation alternatives, including contemporaneous or phased reclamation; and alternatives on land within the control of the applicant for siting ore processing and mine waste units.

2. ~~2.~~ Review and Acceptance of EIR. ~~Upon review by the Board, if the EIR is not considered to be adequate in accordance with this Ordinance and the accepted scoping document, the~~An application will not be considered complete ~~for processing by the Board until the Board determines that the EIR satisfies the requirements of this Section and consistent with the accepted scoping document.~~

NOTE: ~~In order to~~To facilitate review of the proposed activity and ensure the accuracy of the EIR, the applicant is encouraged to submit a preliminary EIR to the Board for review and comment prior to ~~submit~~submission of the application.

M. ~~D.~~ Operating Plan. An operating plan detailing the location and siting of the proposed activity, including mine waste units. At a minimum, the operating plan shall include, but is not limited to, the following:

1. ~~1.~~ Maps. The following maps shall be included (map scale shall be 1 inch=100 feet or as otherwise approved by the Board):

a. ~~a.~~ A location map of sufficient size to adequately depict the area;

b. Vicinity maps, including 7k-inch USGS topographic maps where available or other maps at 1:24,000 (1 inch to ~~2000~~2,000 feet), identifying railroads, public and private roads, electrical transmission and telephone lines, pipelines, buried cables, pre-existing mining disturbances, and any other surficial land features as required by the Board; and

c. Site maps and overlays for areas of expected disturbance, and areas within 3,000 feet of the site perimeter showing:

- I. The cadastral base (land grid, no culture);
- II. Topography, at a maximum of 5-foot vertical contour intervals;
- III. The natural environment, including: ~~AA. Surficial and bedrock geology;~~

AA. Surficial and bedrock geology;

BB. Hydrology of both surface and groundwater, including public and private drinking water systems, wells, springs, ponds, and other sources of water used by others, surface drainage, and watersheds on the site;

CC. The shape and extent of the metallic mineral deposit to be extracted, with cross-sections;

DD. The type, extent, and thickness of soils, as indicated by a soil survey that includes a soil map of the site;

EE. Any sensitive natural areas within a 10-mile radius of the mine site, including protected natural resources under and unusual natural areas as defined by 38 M.R.S.A. 480-B(8), ~~unusual natural areas under and~~ 06-096 CMR ~~375.12~~c. 375, §12(B), respectively, and state and federal lands; and

FF. A description of the general cover characteristics of the site in percentage of total area, comparing the existing situation with that anticipated upon completion of the project, including areas which are wooded, cleared, scrub, exposed bedrock, wetland, and surface water bodies. Complete aerial coverage of the mine site area so to include obvious on and off-site identifying prominent landmarks as determined by the Board in both video and ~~35-mm~~ color filmphoto format.

The Board shall specify the dimensions of the area, but in all cases coverage shall extend at least one mile from the site perimeter in all directions.

IV. Historical and archaeological sites;

V. Surface and mineral ownership;

VI. Adjoining property owners;

VII. Soil stripping and storage (one overlay per year for the first 5 years, then one overlay for each 5th year to identify volumes of soil stripped by area and volumes stored by area);

VIII. Proposed surface and underground excavations and haul roads (one overlay per year for the first 5 years, then one overlay for each 5th year and one overlay of the final configuration);

IX. Proposed surface water diversion, drainage, and sedimentation facilities;

X. Proposed impoundments, ditches, and pipelines;

XI. Proposed structures, parking areas, crushing and conveying facilities, stockpiles identified by function, waste facilities, permanent roadways, service areas, substations, pump stations, ventilation stations, aboveground and underground storage tanks, and site monitoring locations; and

XII. Areas where blasting is proposed within ~~2000~~2,000 feet of an existing structure.

2. ~~2-~~ Extraction and Beneficiation Processes. A narrative description of all proposed extraction and beneficiation processes shall be included, including the following:

a. Soil stripping and storage;

b. Drilling and blasting;

c. Management practices for loading, hauling, dumping, and stockpiling of overburden, waste rock, and ore;

d. Crushing, and conveying;

- e. Extraction and beneficiation, including ~~on-site~~on-site refining, if any, and including a process flow sheet;
- f. Water balance and water requirements;
- g. Chemicals, reagents, and explosives to be used, transported, and stored, including the range of chemical concentrations used in operating;
- h. Disposition of concentrates and mine waste;
- i. Estimated rate and duration of extraction and beneficiation;
- j. Times of operation, including seasons, days, and hours; ~~K~~
- k. ~~-~~Equipment to be used, including types and numbers;
- l. ~~1. Off-site~~Off-site transport to and from the site of chemicals, reagents, and explosives, including types, volumes, and frequency;
- m. A plan demonstrating compliance with the siting, design, construction, monitoring, and operational standards of this Ordinance when ore leaching is proposed. The plan shall include an assessment of all engineered systems against failure in accordance with the Engineered Systems Assessment described in Section ~~33~~29(D)(5) of this Ordinance. The plan shall also include the management of contaminated stormwater and processing waters from heap or dump leaching facilities; and
- n. A chronological summary of the proposed activity including all stages of development, reclamation, remediation and closure.

3. ~~3.~~ Mine Waste Treatment and Management Plan. A mine waste treatment and management plan shall be included. As described in Sections ~~31~~26 through ~~35~~31 of this Ordinance, the plan shall include, but is not limited to, the following:

- a. Characterization and analysis of mine waste;
- b. Hydrogeologic assessment;
- c. Engineering design;
- d. Engineering report;
- e. Quality assurance/quality control program;
- f. Operations manual;
- g. Monitoring plan;

- h. Closure plan; and
- i. ~~Post-closure~~Post-closure maintenance plan.

4. ~~4.~~ Reclamation Plan. A reclamation plan shall be included, as

follows:

a. ~~a. The~~To the extent technically feasible, the reclamation plan shall provide for ~~restoration~~contemporaneous reclamation, restoration and remediation of the disturbed area to a physical state that is similar to that which existed prior to any activity or which encourages a return of the site to the original land use ~~and land form or~~.

b. The reclamation plan may propose an alternative land use ~~and land form acceptable to the Board. An. Any such~~ alternative ~~proposal~~plan shall require restoration of the ~~affected land~~disturbed area to encourage productive uses ~~and be that are~~ harmonious with the surrounding land uses and environment. If an alternative land use is proposed, the applicant shall provide the following information:

- I. A description of the original land use(s);
- II. A description of the alternative land use(s) proposed by the applicant; and
- III. A discussion of the costs and benefits of the proposed alternative use(s) compared to the costs and benefits of the original use(s).

c. The reclamation plan for any mining activity proposing the disturbance of five or more acres of land shall provide for contemporaneous reclamation such that the working area of the mine site does not exceed two acres to the extent technically feasible.

~~information:~~ d. ~~b.~~ The reclamation plan shall include the following information:

- I. Final surface and subsurface configuration of the site; a ~~pre-~~post-mining and ~~post-mining~~post-mining contour map that includes the topography of land in the vicinity of the site;
- II. The method, extent, and timing of construction operations necessary to complete reclamation and remediation;
- III. Topsoil and subsoil replacement, including location, method, schedule, and depth of replacement; source of material; and erosion and sedimentation control plans;
- IV. Revegetation, including the method, location, and timing of cover; species to be seeded or planted in specific locations; seeding and planting rate; justification for species selection; mulching plans; timing and nature of the evaluation of success of revegetation practices, including response plan to instances of revegetation failure including maintenance provisions;
- V. The final surface drainage system layout for the reclaimed site; and

VI. ~~VI.~~ Reclamation and remediation costs, including itemized costs of continuous, temporary, and permanent

reclamation and remediation of the site.

5. ~~5.~~ Blasting and Vibration Plan. A pre-blasting survey shall be completed for all off-site structures within ~~2000~~2,000 feet of any blasting. The survey report must determine the condition of the structure and must document any pre-existing defects and other physical factors that could reasonably be affected by the blasting. This survey shall be carried out by an independent consultant specializing in the field of blasting vibrations and their effect on structures. The applicant shall also submit a plan which addresses airblast limits, ground vibrations, and maximum peak particle velocity. The plan must address measures taken to limit the impact from blasting.

6. ~~6.~~ Surface Subsidence Plan. Where there is potential for subsidence, the, applicant shall submit a. surface subsidence plan including the following:

- a. Reasons why such subsidence is necessary or desirable;
- b. Evidence that the anticipated subsidence methods represent no threat to public health, safety, or the environment;
- c. Steps that will be taken to establish ground-control survey locations and to conduct surveys documenting the extent of ground movement; and
- d. Procedures that will be undertaken to reclaim areas affected by subsidence including, but not limited to, contouring, filling, or flooding so as to protect public health and safety and the environment.

7. ~~7.~~ Oil and Hazardous Material Management Plan. Where site operation includes the transportation or handling of oil or hazardous materials or wastes (non-mine waste), the applicant must submit a plan for the siting, design, and operation of the site to protect the environment and must, where required, meet all permitting and other applicable requirements of 06-096 CMR chs. 850-857, and other applicable law.

8. ~~8.~~ Site Monitoring Plan. The site monitoring plan shall describe all the environmental monitoring to be conducted at the site. This plan shall be designed to detect and monitor the effects of the site, mine waste units, and ore leaching facilities on the surrounding environment including, but not limited to, groundwater, surface water, air, and soils and surficial materials. This plan shall contain, at a minimum, a sampling and analytical plan, location of monitoring sites, and a description of the construction, installation, and maintenance of monitoring sites.

9. Inspection Plan. The inspection plan must describe the measures to be taken at the site to ensure that all structures and other design features necessary for proper operation of the site are maintained.

10. Site Security Plan. The applicant shall provide a plan for security provisions to prevent unauthorized access to the mine site.

11. Financial Responsibility Plan. Financial responsibility shall be required of a person engaged in any proposed activity. A financial responsibility plan for the proposed activity shall detail the form and amount of financial assurance and insurance proposed to meet the requirements of Section ~~2624~~(H) of this Ordinance and 06-096 CMR ~~ch. 373~~(H).

12. Contingency and Emergency Procedures Plan. Each site must have a contingency and emergency procedures plan designed to minimize hazards to public health and the environment from fires, explosions, or any unplanned sudden or non-sudden release of waste or materials that may pose a threat to air, soil, groundwater, or surface water.

13. Air Quality Control. The air quality control plan shall demonstrate compliance with all applicable state ambient air quality and emission standards. Where fugitive emissions are anticipated, the applicant must submit a best management practices plan for the control of fugitive emissions. The best management practices plan shall indicate the methods the applicant intends to use to minimize fugitive emissions resulting from a proposed activity, roads, and stockpiles at the site such that emission and air quality standards are not exceeded.

14. Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan

a. The applicant shall provide a plan describing measures to be used to prevent erosion and sedimentation.

b. At a minimum, an erosion and sedimentation control plan shall include the following:

I. A narrative describing permanent and temporary erosion and sedimentation control measures to be used;

II. Plan view of the site showing location of proposed measures;

III. Design and construction specifications for measures to *be* used, including calculations supporting sizing and design of any structures;

IV. Cross-sections of control measures, showing installation details;

V. Implementation schedule for permanent and temporary control measures; and

VI. Inspection and maintenance schedule for proposed control measures and designation of the responsible party.

15. Storm and Surface Water Management Plan. The applicant shall submit a storm and surface water management plan developed to comply with this Ordinance.

16. Protected Natural Resource Plan. The applicant shall submit a protected natural resource plan that describes the measures to be taken to comply with applicable federal and state law.

Section ~~24~~. ~~Siting~~ 22. Siting Standards

A proposed site shall be located and designed to comply with applicable siting standards under [this](#) Section ~~33(A) of this Ordinance~~ and other Town of Union Ordinances, and shall be located and designed in a manner consistent with the Town of Union Comprehensive Plan.

N. Siting Within Floodplains. In order to locate any portion of a site in a 200-year floodplain, the applicant must demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Board that such portion of the site will be designed, operated, reclaimed, or closed so that the requirements of this Ordinance are met. This demonstration must consider the degree to which the portion of the site in the floodplain will restrict the flow of the 200-year flood and reduce the temporary water storage or conveyance capacity of the floodplain, and whether it will result in erosion and sedimentation or water pollution.

O. Siting Over Unstable Areas. The mine waste units and ore leaching facilities shall not be located over an unstable area.

P. Setbacks. The following minimum setbacks shall be maintained unless the Board determines alternative setbacks are appropriate pursuant to paragraphs (4) and (5) of this subsection.

1. Mine waste units shall be set back a minimum of 5,280 feet from a property boundary or a public or existing private drinking water system for Group A waste, 2,640 feet for Group B waste, and 1,000 feet for Group C waste. Outdoor ore leaching facilities shall be set back a minimum of 5,280 feet from a property boundary or a public or existing private drinking water system.

2. Ore storage units shall be subject to the same setback requirements as Group A wastes.

3. ~~2.~~ The limit of excavation shall be set back a minimum of 1,500 feet from a public or existing private water system and 1,000 feet from a property boundary.

4. To provide a buffer for filtration of impurities from surfacewater and groundwater, extraction shall not be any closer than 10 feet above the maximum seasonal high water level or groundwater table.

~~a. The ore storage units shall be subject to the same setback requirements as Group A wastes.~~

~~5. 3.~~—All activities other than mine waste units, and outdoor ore leaching or ore storage facilities and the limit of excavation, shall be set back a minimum of 300 feet from a property boundary, a public or existing private drinking water system, or a public road. The 300-foot property boundary setback may be reduced to 100 feet with written permission of all property owners within the 300-foot setback and approval of the Board.

~~6. 4.~~—Greater setbacks may be required by the Board depending upon site specific factors such as:

- a. Noise and structural impacts from blasting and other activities at the site;
 - b. Potential impacts on groundwater quality and existing groundwater uses;
 - c. Potential impacts on surface water quality and other natural resources of the Town;
 - d. Response time that may be required to initiate and complete correction action;
 - e. Potential impacts to air quality resulting from blasting and other activities at the site;
 - f. Compatibility with the existing natural environment and surrounding land uses;
- and
- g. Other site specific conditions.

~~5 Pursuant to Section 12 of the Ordinance, the applicant may request a variance from the minimum setbacks of paragraphs (1) through (3) of this subsection. In reaching a decision on the variance request, the Board shall consider the factors specified in paragraph 4 of this subsection.~~

Section 2523. Design Standards

Ore leaching facilities and units for the management of Group A and Group B mining waste, and other ore piles ~~and surface impoundments~~, if any, shall be designed, constructed, and operated to ensure the greatest degree of groundwater pollutant discharge reduction achievable through application of the best available demonstrated control technology, processes, operating methods, or other alternatives including, where practicable, a technology permitting no discharge of pollutants. In determining the best available control technology, processes, operating methods, or other alternatives, the Board shall

take into account site-specific hydrologic and geologic characteristics and other environmental factors; the use of alternate technologies, processes, or operating methods in the industry; and the economic impacts of the use of alternative technologies, processes, or operating methods. A discharge reduction solely by means of site-specific characteristics does not in itself constitute a best available demonstrated control technology. In addition, the following and Section ~~33~~22(B) of this Ordinance are supplemental minimum design standards:

Q. ~~A.~~ Ore Leaching Facilities

1. ~~1.~~ Ore leaching facilities, including associated solution ponds and all ditches connecting these facilities, shall be constructed and operated in accordance with the siting, design, monitoring, and operating standards of Sections ~~32~~28, ~~33~~29, and ~~34~~30 of this Ordinance. In addition, the following requirements must be met:

a. The facility shall be designed to minimize overspray and wind dispersion of leaching solutions.

b. The design shall include a system for detection of leaks through the composite liner and leak recovery. Levels of an indicator parameter(s) signifying excessive leakage shall be designated in the permit.

2. ~~2.~~ Ore leaching facilities, including associated solution ponds and all ditches used to connect these facilities, shall be designed and constructed so their volumes shall accommodate all precipitation and runoff resulting from a 24-hour, 200-year storm.

3. ~~3.~~ Closure shall be in compliance with the requirements of Section ~~35~~31 of this Ordinance, as applicable.

~~NOTE: The variances available under Section 12 of this Ordinance from the requirements of Sections 33-35 of this Ordinance are also available to ore leaching facilities.~~

R. ~~B.~~ Wildlife Exclusion

1. Fencing. All open waters which contain any chemical(s) at levels harmful to wildlife shall be fenced to exclude terrestrial animals. The fence bottom shall be secured tight to the ground to prevent animals from gaining access under the fence. These fences shall be inspected and maintained to prevent wildlife access.

2. Covering or Containment. All waters that contain any chemical(s) at levels harmful to wildlife must be covered or contained in a manner that shall prevent access by wildlife. All covers or containers shall be maintained in a manner that shall continue to prevent access by wildlife for as long as the pond or container could be harmful to wildlife.

3. ~~3-~~Chemical Neutralization or Isolation. Any chemical-laden fluids that are the result of any process and that are impounded in an area that is too large to cover or contain must be rendered non-harmful to wildlife prior to outside storage.

S. ~~C-~~Stormwater. The site will be designed to minimize runoff of surface water into the site, and stormwater runoff will be managed to ensure the compliance with applicable state law and performance requirements of this Ordinance will be achieved.

Section 2624. Operational Standards

A site shall be operated to comply with this Ordinance and other Town of Union Ordinances. In addition, the following are supplemental minimum operational standards.

~~A-~~Site Monitoring. The site must be monitored to demonstrate compliance with the performance requirements of this Ordinance and the site monitoring plan required under Section ~~2321(D)(78)~~.

~~B-~~Temporary Cessation of Mining

1. Cessation of operation of the site, or any portion thereof, for more than 30 days, as the result of a planned or unplanned activity, shall constitute temporary cessation of mining. The Board may, at its discretion, require the permittee to submit, within 30 days of the temporary cessation of mining, a plan demonstrating how compliance with permit conditions and the requirements of this Ordinance will be achieved.

2. The permittee shall take all steps reasonably necessary to protect public health and the environment during temporary cessation of mining and shall report to the Board the steps taken.

~~C-~~Reclamation

1. All reclaimed slopes and slope combinations must be structurally stable and harmonious with the surrounding environment. All grading, backfilling, and topographic reconstruction of affected lands must achieve stabilization and minimize the need for ~~long-term~~long-term maintenance. Techniques shall be utilized to prevent sliding, slumping, and heaving.

2. Temporary erosion control measures such as mulching and anchoring shall be implemented immediately to minimize erosion of disturbed areas prior to seeding and planting.

3. Seeding and planting must be ~~done~~performed using native species and in accordance with accepted agricultural practices. Disturbed areas shall be seeded immediately after final soil preparation, unless an alternative plan is approved by the Board.

~~4.~~ Vegetative material used in reclamation and remediation shall consist of native grasses, legumes, herbaceous or woody plants, shrubs, trees, or a mixture thereof which is consistent with the design function and the site and soil characteristics such as drainage, pH, nutrient availability, and climate.

~~5.~~ The vegetative cover shall be considered acceptable if:

- a. The planting of trees and shrubs results in a permanent stand or in a stand capable of regeneration and succession sufficient to ensure a 75% survival rate; and
- b. The planting of all materials results in 90% ground coverage for those areas disturbed within 18 months of seeding and planting.

~~6.~~ All structures and access, haul, and other support roads constructed under the permit shall be removed, unless such structures and roads are required for ~~post—closure~~post-closure care activities or as part of an approved alternative use at the site.

~~7. Site reclamation~~Reclamation activities shall be planned to accomplish contemporaneous reclamation progressively throughout the operational period of the activity to the extent that the phased reclamation is technically feasible but in no event may reclamation begin later than six months after completion of the mining activity or cessation of operations.

~~8.~~ Soil which is stripped or removed must be stockpiled for use in reclaiming disturbed land areas unless the permittee demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Board that the soil is not needed for reclamation purposes. Soil stockpiles shall be seeded, mulched, and anchored or otherwise stabilized.

~~D.~~ Ore Leaching Facilities

~~1.~~ To ensure compliance with design and operating requirements of the approved permit, the construction, operation, and maintenance of ore leaching facilities shall be:

- a. Inspected each day during operations; and
- b. Inspected by a qualified professional at least twice yearly, and the permittee shall report the results along with the ~~inspector's~~inspector's recommendations to the Board.

~~2.~~ Upon completion of metal extraction, the leachate from the ore leaching facilities shall be treated pursuant to Sections ~~3230~~ and ~~3331~~ of this Ordinance.

~~3.~~ Spent ore which has been left in place or which will be removed must first be rinsed until:

- a. WAD cyanide levels in the effluent rinse water are less than 0.2 mg/l;
- b. The pH level of the effluent rinse water is between 6.0 and 9.0; and
- c. Contaminants in any effluent from the processed ore resulting from precipitation would not degrade waters of the state.

~~4.~~ Leached ore, upon completion of metal extraction and after rinsing, whether left on the base foundation or stockpiled elsewhere, shall be disposed of pursuant to Sections ~~31~~26 through ~~35~~31 of this Ordinance.

E. Blasting and Noise Requirements. All activities shall be conducted in accordance with the applicable standards of 06-096 CMR ch. 375, and other applicable law. To prevent disturbances to surrounding areas, all permitted activities shall be limited to hours of operation between 7 a.m. and 7 p.m., unless other operating hours are approved by the Board as a permit condition. Blasting may not occur except between the hours of 10 a.m. and 4 p.m.

NOTE: See the Blasting Guidance Manual of the Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement (OSMRE), U.S. Department of the Interior (March 1987).

F. Annual Report. The permittee shall submit to the Board, in the number of copies specified by the Board, annual reports due 1 year and 2 months from the date of issuance of the permit, and then yearly thereafter. Each report to include supporting video documentation shall describe the activities completed during the past year and planned for the upcoming year. The reports shall be in a format approved by the Board and shall contain, at a minimum, the following information:

~~1.~~ For the preceding 12 months:

- a. The actual rate of extraction;
- b. The actual area disturbed, the amount and composition of material extracted, and a survey indicating limits of all disturbed areas, both surficial and underground;
- c. A discussion of rock types or formations to be encountered during extraction that were not characterized in the original mine operating plan;
- d. The actual area reclaimed;
- e. The success of revegetation and remediation efforts;
- f. The status of the reclamation materials including, where appropriate, capillary break material, textural break material, inert rock fill, clay cap materials, other subsoils, and topsoils;

g. A comparison between the available reclamation materials and the amount used for reclamation;

h. Status of all conditions of the permit; monitoring;

~~i.~~ Annual summary and evaluation of environmental permit;

~~permit~~; ~~j.~~ Status of any special studies required as a part of the ~~k.~~ Operating summary of the mine waste unit(s) including a comparison between the actual waste stream characterization as compared with the anticipated characterization;

~~l.~~ Summary of inspection records;

~~m.~~ The financial information contained in Section 26(H)(3)(g);

~~n.~~ A description of any material changes in the financial condition of the permittee; and

~~o.~~ A description and location of all significant repairs to underground leaks and fissures and to the mine waste units, including the timing of such repairs.

~~2.~~ For the upcoming 12 months:

a. A statement describing the financial capability of the applicant to meet the requirements contained in the financial responsibility plan;

b. The anticipated extraction, including:

I. The rate, types, amounts, and schedule for extracting the ore body;

II. Anticipated reclamation and revegetation planned for the next year;

III. A comparison between the available reclamation materials contained in ~~Section 26(F)(1)(e)~~ the annual report and the anticipated reclamation needs for each type of material; and

IV. A revision of the financial responsibility plan emphasizing changes, if any, in costs associated with anticipated reclamation, remediation, closure, and ~~post-closure~~ post-closure maintenance of the site as well as the costs associated with any required corrective action.

~~3-~~The total area reclaimed and remediated to date.

G. Wildlife Reports. The permittee shall maintain a record of any wildlife mortalities that occur in association with the permitted facility. Those reports shall be provided quarterly to the Board. In addition, the permittee shall report all wildlife mortalities that are associated with chemical-containing tanks or impoundments by the beginning of the next working day following the occurrence or observation of those mortalities.

H. Financial Assurance. ~~Financial responsibility for ensuring~~ Permittees for mining activity shall provide the Town with financial assurance sufficient to ensure compliance with the reclamation, closure, and post-closure maintenance requirements of the permit, and the cleanup and corrective action costs of permitted or accidental releases, ~~must be fulfilled through a trust fund~~ as provided by this section. The financial assurance must be in a form that cannot be canceled, withdrawn, revoked or otherwise reduced without the express written consent of the Town.

~~1. Computation of Financial Assurance. The amount of~~ Non-Duplication. Permittees that have provided financial assurance to another governmental agency in connection with the permitted mining activity shall not be required to provide financial assurance to the Town except to the extent necessary to ensure compliance with and coverage of conditions, requirements, and costs not covered by or included within the financial assurance required of an applicant must be approved by the Board and shall not duplicate any financial assurance provided by to the applicant to other governmental agencies. The type of financial assurance must be as described under this Ordinance and is otherwise subject to the approval of the Board and its representatives. As annually or otherwise determined by the Board according to this Ordinance, the agency.

Allowable Forms of Financial Assurance. The form of required financial assurance shall be at the Board's discretion and may consist of one or more of the following forms:

A certified check, payable to the Town;

A savings account or certificate of deposit naming the Town as owner;

The establishment of an escrow account that may be drawn upon solely by the Town;

A performance bond payable to the Town, issued by a surety company licensed to operate in Maine and approved in form by the Town and Town attorney;

An irrevocable letter of credit from a financial institution licensed to operate in Maine upon which the Town may draw; or

A financial assurance in accordance with 06-096 C.M.R. ch. 200, §17;

Computation of Financial Assurance. The amount of the ~~trust fund must be~~ financial assurance required of an applicant must be approved by the Board and must include, at a minimum, the estimated cost to a third party for:

- a. Completing the reclamation and remediation for all disturbed areas and all areas expected to be disturbed within the upcoming year;
- b. Closure and post-closure maintenance requirements for mine waste already generated together with mine waste expected to be generated within the upcoming year; and
- c. Corrective action costs responding to a credible accident that may occur after closure as determined by the Board and its representatives, or correction action costs as required by a corrective action plan or as otherwise determined by the Board and its representatives under this Ordinance.
- d. Monitoring, maintenance, and other activities listed in Section ~~35~~27(B)(3) of this Ordinance which the Board determines the Town of Union may reasonably conduct after expiration of the post-closure care period.

~~2. Trust Fund Requirements. The permittee shall pay into a trust fund established for the benefit of the Town of Union as follows:~~

~~a. The trust fund shall be funded by the permittee through cash deposits. In lieu of cash deposits, the permittee may provide one or more irrevocable letters of credit in a total amount (including previously provided and unexpired letters) equal to 100% of the total of all annual cash deposits otherwise required under this section.~~

~~b.—The trust fund shall be established in a financial institution, acting as trustee, with trust assets under management of not less than \$200 million and whose unsecured long-term debt is rated "A-1" or better by Moody's Investor Service or "AA" or better by Standard and Poors. In addition, the trustee shall have capital stock and surplus aggregating not less than \$25 million and a primary capital-to-asset ratio of not less than 8% and equity to total assets ratio of not less than 5%, determined in accordance with accounting rules of the primary federal regulator of the trustee.~~

~~c.—The initial deposit into the trust fund for reclamation costs, identified in Section 26(H)(1)(a), and for credible accident response costs identified in Section 26(H)(1)(c), shall be made on or prior to site disturbance. Subsequent payments shall be made on or prior to the next subsequent anniversary date of permit issuance, and annually thereafter.~~

~~d.—The initial deposit into the trust fund for financial assurance for closure and post-closure maintenance, identified in Section 26(H)(1)(b), and for activities the Board may perform after expiration of the post-closure period identified in Section 26(H)(1)(d), shall be made in advance of the first placement of waste in a waste unit(s). Subsequent payments shall be made on or prior to the next subsequent anniversary date of permit issuance, and annually thereafter.~~

~~e.—The amount and payment schedule for financial assurance for corrective action, identified in Section 26(H)(1)(c), shall be as specified in the corrective action plan or as otherwise determined by the Board under this Ordinance.~~

~~f.—Annual deposits or increases in the required trust fund amount shall be made from the beginning of operations until the end of the post-closure period. Without limitation, changes in the amount in the trust fund may be required due to modifications of the permit, changed financial or site conditions, technology changes, inflation, anticipated changes in mining activity and waste unit utilization, or changes in requirements for closure, post-closure maintenance, corrective action, or reclamation. The permittee shall annually report to the Board, subject to the Board's approval, with or without conditions, an estimate of cost changes as provided in this Ordinance. The permit remains in effect only if all required deposits or increases are made within 30 days of the due date provided in this Ordinance. The obligation to make deposits or adjust the letter of credit amount ceases only upon approval from the Board.~~

~~g.—When computing the annual inflation adjustment for reclamation, closure, post-closure, or corrective action trust funds, the Board and the permittee must use the Implicit Price Deflator for Gross National Product as published by the U.S. Department of Commerce in "Survey of Current Business," or a successor index.~~

~~h. All interest or other income resulting from the investment of funds in the trust fund shall be deposited into the trust fund, may be used to offset subsequent payments into the trust fund, and shall be subject to the same restrictions as the principal. The permittee may request from the Town of Union release of income or interest of any balance over the required amount. The Town of Union shall grant such a request when it finds the trust fund is adequately funded and the release will not adversely affect the ability of the fund to cover its intended expenses.~~

~~i. The Town of Union may at its discretion grant approval for the withdrawal by the permittee of portions of the trust fund upon the permittee's verification that the sum(s) authorized have been used solely for their intended, and Board authorized, purposes provided, the remaining funds are sufficient to cover expenses required by this Ordinance. In any event, 25% of the financial assurance obligations covering closure, post-closure maintenance, and reclamation shall be retained in the trust fund until all reclamation and closure activities are completed.~~

~~j. If a permit is suspended, revoked, or not renewed, the permittee shall continue to make deposits according to this Ordinance.~~

~~k. The Town of Union shall be a party to the trust agreement as beneficiary and shall have the right to withdraw and use part or all of the funds in the trust fund or to require the liquidation of the assets of the trust fund, including any letter of credit, at its sole discretion, to carry out reclamation, closure, post-closure, and corrective action requirements as the Board determines necessary. The trust agreement shall provide that there shall be no withdrawals from the trust fund except as authorized in writing by the Selectmen.~~

~~l. The financial assurance cost estimates shall be made in U.S. dollars in accordance with established estimating practices and shall not incorporate any salvage value that may be realized by the sale of materials, wastes, site structures or equipment, land, or other assets associated with the site.~~

~~m. The proposed trust agreement shall be submitted to the Board for review and shall be subject to its approval.~~

~~3. Management of the Trust Fund~~

~~a. The trust fund shall not constitute an asset of the trustee or permittee and shall be established in such a manner so as to ensure the funds in the account will be available to the Town of Union and not any creditor, including in the event of bankruptcy or reorganization of the trustee or permittee. The permittee shall pay all costs of managing the fund and compensating the trustee.~~

~~b.—The trustee shall observe the standards in dealing with the trust fund that would be observed by a prudent person dealing with the property of another, bearing in mind the overriding investment purposes set out in Section 26(H)(3)(d), and shall bring to bear all special skills and expertise available to the trustee as a professional fiduciary.~~

~~c.—The trustee shall not invest assets of the trust fund in any real estate or real estate investment trust (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 26 U.S.C. 856(a), any contract for the future sale or delivery of commodities or foreign currency, any corporate or municipal bond not rated "A-1" or better by Moody's Investors Service or "AA" or better by Standard and Poors, any equity instrument the issuer of which does not have at least one class of securities registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. 78a, et seq., or any security issued by the permittee or applicant or any affiliate (as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C. 80a-1, et seq.) thereof.~~

~~d.—The trustee shall invest the assets of the fund in a manner that assures to the greatest possible extent the availability of the assets in liquid form on notice of 30 days or less and also assures the safety of the principal of the trust fund and the availability of the assets of the trust fund for a vital public purpose.~~

~~e.—The trustee shall notify the Board immediately in the event that any payment or letter of credit has not been received from the permittee by the due date.~~

~~f.—With respect to any letter of credit held by the trustee in the trust fund, the trustee must assure that the letter of credit is issued by a financial institution meeting the requirements of Section 26(H)(5)(c) and that the other requirements of Section 26(H)(5) are satisfied.~~

~~g.—The trustee shall submit to the Board an annual statement of deposits, letters of credit, investments, and any income and principal in the trust fund, and changes in the same over the prior year.~~

4. Close-Out or Release of the ~~Trust Fund~~ Financial Assurance

~~a.—When requesting close-out of the portion of the trust fund~~ financial assurance covering reclamation, remediation, known corrective action, and post-closure maintenance, the permittee shall submit to the Board an environmental evaluation of the waste units, reclamation, remediation, and any required corrective action to ensure that any remaining problems are identified and corrected before financial assurance is released. Upon the expiration of the post-closure care period, the remaining ~~trust~~ funds necessary to cover credible accident response costs and the monitoring and maintenance activities described in Section ~~2624(H)(1)(d)~~ shall not lapse.

~~b.~~ When the Town ~~of Union makemakes~~ a determination to release funds from the ~~trust fund~~ financial assurance, it shall notify ~~the trustee and~~ the permittee in writing of the decision. At that time, the Selectmen shall supply the ~~trustee and~~ permittee and any relevant financial institution or trustee with written approval to transfer the excess funds or to close the account. The Town ~~of Union~~ does not release the permittee from any reclamation, remediation, closure, ~~post—closure~~ post-closure, or corrective action requirements or third party liability as a result of releasing any funds.

~~5. Letter of Credit Requirements. The following requirements shall apply to all financial assurances utilizing a letter of credit:~~

~~a. The letter of credit must be unconditional, irrevocable, issued for a period of at least 1 year, and otherwise in a form satisfactory to the Board. At least 90 days before the expiration date, the financial institution issuing the letter of credit must notify the trustee, the permittee, and the Board if the letter of credit will not be renewed for an additional 1—year period, and the letter of credit shall so provide. If the permittee is unable to obtain a letter of credit that complies with this Ordinance prior to 45 days before the expiration of the current letter of credit, the trustee shall immediately draw all funds under the letter of credit and deposit those in the trust fund. The trustee must also take all other measures necessary to maintain the letter(s) of credit as provided herein and to assure such letter(s) do not expire unless replaced with another duly qualified letter.~~

~~b. The letter of credit shall be issued so as to be drawn upon unconditionally by the trustee to meet the terms of the trust fund or otherwise at the call of the Town of Union.~~

~~c. The financial institution issuing the letter of credit must meet the following financial criteria, as reviewed no less often than annually by the trustee:~~

~~I. Its unsecured long—term debt is rated "A-1" or better by Moody's Investor Service, or "AA" or better by Standard and Poors.~~

~~II. It has assets of not less than \$1 billion and capital stock and surplus of not less than \$100 million and a primary capital ratio of not less than 8% and equity to total assets ratio of not less than 5% determined in accordance with accounting rules of the primary federal regulator of the financial institution.~~

~~III. In the event that an issuer of a letter of credit ever fails to meet these criteria, the trustee shall immediately order the permittee to~~

~~replace it with a properly qualifying letter of credit, failing which the trustee shall immediately liquidate the letter of credit.~~

~~d. The proposed letter of credit shall be submitted to the Board for review and approval.~~

~~e. In the event the Town of Union delivers to the trustee a certificate so requesting and signed by the Selectmen, the trustee shall draw down the full amount available under the letter of credit specified in the certificate and shall add to the trust fund the amount drawn down.~~

~~f. If the trustee draws on any letter of credit, the trustee shall promptly report to the Board and the permittee the amount of such draft, the section or sections of the trust agreement calling for such a draft, and the disposition of the proceeds of such draft.~~

~~g. A financial arrangement in the form of a bond but that otherwise qualifies as a letter of credit meeting the requirements of this section shall be considered a letter of credit for purposes of this Ordinance.~~

6. Proof of Insurance. The applicant must include, as part of a financial responsibility plan, and provide annually thereafter as part of the annual report required under ~~Section 26(F)~~ of this Ordinance, proof of comprehensive liability insurance for the site for sudden and accidental and for non-sudden occurrences. The amount of non-sudden occurrence insurance shall be assessed by the Board on a case-by-case basis taking into account the potential of the mine site to pollute groundwater. The insurance underwriter(s) must be approved by the Board. Requirements include, but are not limited to, the following:

- a. Liability insurance coverage must be provided during operation, reclamation, remediation, closure, and, where mine wastes will remain on the site after closure, during the post-closure maintenance period.
- b. The level of coverage for sudden and accidental insurance must be at least \$5 million per occurrence and \$10 million annual aggregate, unless because of a greater risk, a higher minimum is required by the Board for a particular site.
- c. All liability insurance coverage amounts must be exclusive of legal defense costs.
- d. An applicant may not self-insure. If liability insurance is unavailable, a \$5 million letter of credit drawn upon a reputable bank which meets the criteria of ~~Section 2606-096 C.M.R. ch. 200, §17(H)(5)(e)~~ may be utilized in lieu of liability insurance for sudden and accidental occurrences.

See 26A

e. The liability insurance policy may not be written as a ~~“claims made”~~ policy unless approved by the Board.

f. Non-sudden insurance can take the form of insurance or a financial mechanism providing coverage in a form acceptable to the Board other than self-insurance.

g. Where Group A wastes are managed, the level of coverage for non-sudden occurrence insurance shall be at least \$3 million per occurrence and \$6 million annual aggregate, unless because of a greater risk, a higher minimum is required by the Board for a particular site. The Board may also establish a lesser amount of coverage at a particular site where Group A wastes are managed based upon consideration of such factors as:

I. The extent of treatment employed to reduce the potential of the mine waste to ~~pollute~~contaminate groundwater;

II. The length of time Group A ~~mine~~-wastes will remain on site; and

III. Other measures undertaken by the applicant to reduce the potential of the mine site to ~~pollute~~contaminate groundwater.

~~I.~~ Performance Requirements. All sites must meet the performance requirements specified below.

~~1.~~ Performance Requirements for Groundwater Quality

a. A site shall not cause a discharge of pollutants into groundwaters of the Town of Union that violates the Class GW-A standard as established in 38 M.R.S.A. 465-C.

b. Parameters for which performance requirements must be established in the permit are:

I. Ag, As, Ba, Cd, Cr, Hg, Pb, Se, Ni, Cu, Co, Zn;

II. pH, nitrate, sulfate;

III. Radionuclides including gross alpha and beta; and

~~IV.~~ Other parameters determined to be present by the waste characterization conducted ~~under~~ pursuant to Section 31 of this Ordinance which may pose a threat to public health or the environment.

~~e.~~ Performance requirements for parameters identified above must be established for each site. For each parameter, the performance requirement shall be established in the permit using the following criteria:

I. Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) promulgated under the Safe Drinking Water Act National Primary Drinking Water Regulations, or the Rules Relating to Drinking Water as developed by the Maine Department of Human Services, whichever is lower; or

II. The Maximum Exposure Guideline (MEG) as developed by the Maine Department of Health and Human Services; or

III. The ~~health-based~~health-based level that is protective of human health and the environment using a ~~risk-based~~risk-based approach consistent with the following:

AA. The level established under the procedures set forth in the Maine Bureau of Health ~~"~~"Policy for Identifying and Assessing the Health Risks of Toxic Substances," February 1988;

BB. For known or probable carcinogens, the concentration associated with maximum probability of excess lifetime risk of 1×10^{-6} ;

CC. For ~~non-carcinogenic~~non-carcinogenic toxicants, the concentration that is likely to present no appreciable risk of adverse effects over a lifetime; and

DD. Environmental risk, as determined by the Board.

~~IV.~~ Naturally occurring background concentrations as determined in baseline studies may serve as performance requirements when background concentrations for specific parameters exceed the concentration set pursuant to

Section ~~2624~~2624(I)(1)(c)(I), ~~(II), and~~ (III).

~~d.~~ Performance requirements for groundwater will also be set to ensure that surface water quality standards will be maintained. The hydraulic connection between groundwater and surface water will be assessed in order to assign any performance requirements necessary to ensure that surface water quality standards are maintained.

~~e.~~ Where a performance requirement in groundwater necessary to protect surface water quality is more stringent than the applicable drinking water or ~~health-based~~ health-based performance requirement, then the performance requirement necessary to protect surface water shall apply.

f. A mine site shall be sited, designed, constructed, operated, and closed in a manner that does not substantially impair existing groundwater uses, either in quality or quantity, within the Town ~~of Union~~.

~~2.~~ Performance Requirements for Surface Water Quality

a. A site shall not cause a discharge of pollutants into surface waters of the state that violates either the ~~Surface~~ Water Classification Program, 38 M.R.S.A. ~~464 et seq.~~ §§ 464-470, or the Protection and Improvement of Waters Act, 38 M.R.S.A. ~~414~~ A.ch. 3.

b. Surface water performance requirements shall be established in the permit. The performance requirements for specific parameters shall be established to ensure attainment of state surface water quality standards. Title 38 M.R.S.A. 420, specifies the numeric criteria for controlling the presence of toxic substances in surface water, and a procedure for DEP to adopt new, revised, or alternative ~~site-specific~~ site-specific numerical criteria. These numeric criteria shall be incorporated into the performance requirements for surface water quality. Naturally occurring background concentrations as determined in baseline studies may serve as performance requirements when background concentrations for specific parameters exceed the numeric criteria identified above.

~~3.~~ Performance Requirements for Air Quality. ~~A site shall not~~ Mining activity may not discharge contaminants or permit the escape of fugitive emissions that cause a violation of an applicable state ambient air quality or emission standard. Mining activity must be designed, constructed and conducted in a manner that prevents adverse impacts on air quality.

~~4.~~ Performance Requirements for Soils and Surficial Materials

a. Best management practices shall be required to control fugitive emissions and other contamination into or upon any land.

b. If the Board determines that a parameter released from, or as a result of, the mining activity creates a risk to the environment or human health, a numeric performance requirement may be established for that parameter. Such risk shall be determined based on impacts including, but not limited to, direct contact, bioaccumulation in plants and animals, and foodchain concentration that may occur on and off site within project vicinity.

Section ~~27~~25. Corrective Action

~~A.~~ Corrective Action Trigger. If ~~there is an exceedance of any performance requirement~~ permittee fails to meet a performance standard, there is evidence of a deterioration of site conditions, or the Board determines that there has been a violation of this Ordinance or a mining permit, the permittee must complete the following actions:

1. Notify the Board, Selectmen, and the Code Enforcement Officer orally, immediately, and in writing within the next three working days of the exceedance or deterioration.
2. Commence corrective action as outlined below, unless the Board determines that another course of action is more appropriate.
3. Continue to monitor as required. ~~The Board may require by this Ordinance or by the Board, such monitoring may involve~~ more frequent or more extensive monitoring ~~that may include, including but not limited to~~ the installation of additional groundwater monitoring wells as the Board determines may be necessary.
4. Take all other actions necessary to minimize contamination of the environment and risk to public health in accordance with the Contingency and Emergency Procedures Plan as outlined in Section ~~23~~21, if appropriate.
5. The permittee shall notify all persons who may be adversely affected by releases from the site.

~~B.~~ Interim Measures. During implementation of corrective action, the Board may require the immediate implementation of interim measures.

~~C.~~ Release From Corrective Action. The ~~permittee may demonstrate~~ Board may release a permittee from the requirement to prepare a corrective action plan if the permittee demonstrates, to the Board's satisfaction, that a source other than the activity solely caused the exceedance or that the exceedance is an artifact caused by an error in

sampling, analysis, or natural variation of the environmental media being monitored. ~~The permittee may be released from the requirement to prepare a corrective action plan if the demonstration shows, to the satisfaction of the Board, that a source other than the site caused the exceedance, or that the exceedance resulted from an error in sampling, analysis, or evaluation.~~ Corrective action or interim measures shall continue unless and until the Board determine that the site did not cause or contribute to the exceedance.

~~D.~~ Corrective Action Plan Development Schedule

1. If the Board determines that corrective action is necessary, the permittee shall submit a schedule for corrective action plan development within 14 days of that determination.
2. The schedule shall identify the specific information that will be collected for the corrective action plan and the date that the corrective action plan will be submitted to the Board for review, all subject to the approval of the Board, with and without conditions.

~~E.~~ Corrective Action Plan Development and Submission

The permittee shall prepare and submit ~~208~~ copies of the corrective action plan, unless otherwise specified by the Board ~~a corrective action plan~~, based on the corrective action plan development schedule approved above.

The 1. ~~This~~ plan shall, at a minimum:

- a. Be protective of public health and environment;
- b. Propose a remedy to control the sources of releases and ensure compliance with the performance requirements throughout operation, reclamation, closure, and post-closure maintenance;
- c. Propose a schedule for implementing corrective action;
- d. Provide a cost estimate for corrective action activities; and
- e. Provide financial assurance for corrective action costs pursuant to Section ~~26~~24(H).

~~2.~~ In developing the corrective action plan, at a minimum, the following shall be considered:

- a. Extent, nature, and cause of contamination;
- b. Identification of remedies to achieve compliance with the performance requirements and to prevent future exceedances;
- c. Availability of alternative treatment or disposal measures during implementation of the corrective action;
- d. Evaluation of performance, reliability, timing and ease of implementation, and potential impacts (including safety and cross-media environmental impacts) of alternative corrective actions;
- e. Potential risk to public health and the environment prior to completion of corrective actions;
- ~~f.~~ Evaluation of requirements (e.g., federal, state, and local permit requirements, environmental or public health requirements) that could substantially affect implementation of potential corrective actions; and
- g. Other relevant factors specified by the Board.

~~F.~~ Corrective Action Plan Approval

~~1.~~ Prior to reaching a final decision on the proposed corrective action plan, the Board shall hold a public hearing and provide for a public comment period of at least 30 days.

2. If, after review of the proposed corrective action plan and any comments on the plan, the Board does not approve the plan, with or without conditions, the Board may require the permittee to revise the corrective action plan or prepare a new plan, which may be based on a remedy identified by the Board. In such cases, the permittee shall submit a new corrective action plan development schedule as required above. The revised plan shall address the elements identified above and any other factors that the Board determines are appropriate, and shall be reviewed and approved by the Board, with or without conditions. The Board may direct the permittee to modify the corrective action plan at any time in order to protect public health and the environment.

3. At any time after an exceedance of a performance requirement, the Board may, in addition to requiring the development and implementation of a corrective action plan, require the permittee to implement such interim measures as may be necessary to protect public health or the environment, including the cessation of some or all activities.

~~G~~-Corrective Action Plan Implementation

1. Upon approval by the Board, the permittee shall implement the approved corrective action plan.

2. The permittee shall notify persons who may be adversely affected by any corrective action measures.

3. During implementation of the corrective action plan, the permittee may propose an alternative corrective action plan for approval by the Board. The corrective action shall continue until the alternative corrective action plan is approved by the Board, with or without conditions.

~~H~~-Corrective Action Plan Completion

1. Corrective action plan implementation pursuant to this section shall be considered complete when the Board determines that compliance with the performance requirements and other legal requirements has been achieved for 12 consecutive quarters of monitoring.

2. Upon completion of corrective action, the permittee must submit to the Board certification that corrective action is complete in accordance with ~~Section 27(H)(1)~~[this Ordinance](#) and by public notification of said certification in one newspaper with the largest circulation in the county.

~~See 27/A~~
~~See 28,29,30~~
~~See 31/A,B~~

~~I-~~Enforcement Reserved. The provisions of this Ordinance relating to corrective action shall not affect the Town of ~~Union's~~Union's enforcement rights and remedies as set forth in ~~Sections 48 and 49 of~~ this Ordinance or under common law. In addition to any penalties the law provides, such enforcement action may seek remedial and/or mitigation work that is in accordance with a timeframe or otherwise of a manner different from that prescribed above for corrective action plans, if the Town determines such enforcement response necessary.

SUBCHAPTER ~~S~~5. MINE WASTE TREATMENT AND MANAGEMENT

Section ~~28~~26. Purpose of Mine Waste Treatment and Management Requirements

The purpose of this subchapter is to classify mine waste and to regulate the location, design, construction, operation, maintenance, closure, and ~~long-term~~long-term care of units for the storage, treatment, and disposal of mine wastes.

~~Section 29. [Reserved]~~

~~Section 30. (Reserved)~~

Section ~~31~~27. Waste Characterization

The characterization and analysis of mine waste required under this Ordinance shall include, but is not limited to, tailings and waste rock. All mine waste generated, disposed of, or otherwise handled at the site shall be analyzed and characterized as follows:

~~A-~~Testing Frequency. Mine waste characterization and analysis shall identify the characteristics of the mine wastes. It

shall be an evaluation of the quantities, variability, and physical, radiologic, and chemical properties of mine waste necessary for predicting the potential environmental impacts of mine waste handling, storage, treatment, and disposal and for determining specific treatment, disposal, and storage design. Evaluation shall be conducted prior to the issuance of a permit and thereafter as determined by the Board including, but not limited to, the following:

1. Changes in the character of the mine waste managed at the site; and
2. Changes in the design, operation, or management at the site which may potentially alter the characterization.

~~B-~~Mine Waste Evaluation. Testing shall be performed on the representative samples of individual mine waste from the extraction and beneficiation process, and of composite mine waste or other materials

where mixed storage or disposal of individual mining waste is proposed. The major components of mine waste characterization and analysis shall include, but are not limited to, the following:

1. Identification of all mine waste which will be disposed of, stored, or handled at the site, or removed from the site including classification of waste types, estimation of the generation rates and volumes of each type, and an explanation of the ultimate disposition of each type;
2. Chemical, radiologic, and mineralogic analyses of the mine wastes;
3. Description of expected particle size distributions of waste rock and analysis of particle size distribution of mill tailings;

4. Determination of the short- and long-term acid potential and acid-producing characteristics of the mine waste, considering the acid

producing content of the materials, the particle size and particle form of the acid-producing material, and the spatial distribution of its particles, the neutralizing effect of host materials, and the effects of acid precipitation (rain, snow, and dry deposition); and

5. Determination of the leaching potential of the mine wastes, including metal leaching, and determination of the composition of the resulting leachate.

~~C.~~ Test Methods. The applicant shall describe in detail its proposed waste characterization program which consists of the methods of obtaining samples of mine waste, sample preparation, sample shipment, testing, and chain-of-custody methods employed in evaluating the mine waste characteristics, and shall provide justification for the use of such methods. The acid-producing and neutralization potential shall be determined by a static test method and confirmed by a kinetic test method. The applicant shall submit its characterization program to the Board and its representatives for review and approval, with or without conditions. Test methods other than those listed below may be used only if the Board first grants approval.

~~1.~~ The following static test methods are typically accepted:

- a. Acid-base accounting (Sobek 1978);
- b. B.C. research initial test;
- c. APP:S ratio;
- d. Net acid production test; and
- e. Modified acid-base accounting.

~~2.~~The following kinetic methods are typically accepted:

- a. B.C. research confirmation test;
- b. Modified biological oxidation test;
- c. Humidity cell;
- d. Shake flask test; and
- e. Soxhlet extraction.

~~D.~~ Mine Waste Characterization Report. The applicant shall submit with its application a waste characterization report consisting of all test data concerning waste analysis for each type of waste, the testing program objective together with an interpretation of the results, and options for the control of acid generation and waste containment.

E. Mine Waste Classification. Based on the mine waste characterization required above, the applicant shall propose, subject to the approval of the Board, with or without conditions, classifying each mine waste as a Group A, Group B, or Group C waste according to the following criteria:

~~1. The mine waste has a net acid producing potential or exhibits a characteristic of hazardous waste as defined in 06-096-CMR-850. Such waste shall be classified as Group A wastes.~~

NOTE: Group A waste may include, but is not limited to, waste rock, tailings, and leachate derived from those wastes.

~~2. The mine waste has no net acid producing potential and may release soluble pollutants at concentrations which exceed performance requirements for groundwater or surface water. Such waste shall be classified as Group B waste.~~

~~3. The mine waste does not have the potential to violate water quality standards other than sedimentation or turbidity. Such waste shall be classified as Group C waste.~~

Section ~~32~~28. General Criteria for Mine Waste Units

~~A.~~ Performance Standards. All mine waste units shall be designed, constructed, operated, and maintained during the development, operation, closure, and ~~post-closure~~post-closure maintenance period in a manner that meets the applicable requirements of ~~Section 25~~this Ordinance and:

~~1.~~ Meets the performance requirements for groundwater, surface water, air, and soils or surficial materials established under Section ~~26~~24(I) of this Ordinance;

2. Minimizes acid generation and acid rock drainage;
3. Provides structural stability;
4. Protects public health and the environment; and
5. Otherwise complies with applicable legal requirements.

~~B.~~ Runon/Runoff Control Systems

~~1.~~ The applicant shall design, construct, and maintain:

- a. A runon control system to prevent or control surface water flow onto the mine waste unit during the peak discharge from at least a ~~24~~24-hour, ~~200~~200-year storm; and
- b. A runoff control system to collect, control, and treat surface water runoff from the mine waste unit of at least the water volume resulting from a ~~24~~24-hour, ~~200~~200-year storm.

~~2.~~ Runoff from a mine waste unit shall not cause a discharge of pollutants into waters in the Town of Union in violation of any requirements of this Ordinance or other ordinances of the Town of Union or applicable state law.

~~3.~~ ~~All~~Any pre-existing surface ~~impoundments~~impoundment associated with waste units shall be designed, constructed, maintained, and operated to prevent overtopping as a result of a ~~24~~24-hour, ~~200~~200-year storm event. An emergency overflow spillway shall be provided for storm events equivalent to the ~~24~~24-hour, ~~200~~200-year storm.

~~C.~~ Design Alternatives. The applicant shall evaluate the following design features for mining waste units:

1. Underdrain systems allowing for free passage of water beneath waste units;
2. Leak detection systems and redundancy features such that the failure of or leakage through a liner will not result in significant pollutant release beyond the confines of the mining waste units;.
3. Use and ~~re~~re-use of process and impounded fluids for beneficiation and other appropriate activities to the maximum extent technically practicable; and

~~4.~~ Collection, treatment, and final disposal of excess impounded fluids, wastewater, and leachate.

D. ~~Off-Site~~Off-Site Utilization. The ~~off-site~~off-site utilization of mine waste within the Town of Union shall be subject to approval of the Board.

E. Waste Minimization. The applicant shall demonstrate that the methods of management of mine waste will minimize the risk to public health and the environment at the site. Such demonstration shall include an analysis of the practicability of the ~~re-use, in-mine~~re-use, in-mine disposal, sale, recovery, or processing of such wastes, and shall provide for such ~~re-use~~re-use and recovery where determined to be practicable by the Board.

Reactive Waste Management. Reactive mine waste units must provide for containment, unless the material has been neutralized or stabilized and will not cause a direct or indirect discharge of pollutants that could result in contamination of groundwater or surface water or a violation of the standards set forth in this Ordinance. Reactive mine waste units must be designed in accordance with Section 29 and operated to prevent contamination of groundwater and surface water or generation of acid rock drainage above the drinking water standards adopted pursuant to 22 M.R.S.A. §2611 or groundwater quality baseline conditions.

Section ~~33~~29. Locations Design Construction. and Operating Criteria for Mine Waste Units

~~A.~~ Location Standards

~~1.~~ A mine waste unit for Group A waste shall not lie closer than 5,280 feet to a classified body of surface water, and a mine waste unit for Group B waste shall not lie closer than 2,640 feet to a classified body of surface water.

2. The disposal of Group C waste is prohibited closer than 1,000 feet to any classified body of surface water without approval of the Board. Based on the nature of Group C mine waste, in issuing an approval, the Board will consider whether the disposal within 1,000 feet of a classified body of surface water will not result in an unlicensed direct or indirect discharge of pollutants to such body of surface water, provided the following conditions are met:

- a. The Group C mine waste shall not be placed in the water, below the normal high water line, or in a wetland.
- b. The Group C mine waste shall be placed so that it cannot fall or be washed into the surface water body.
- c. The sideslopes shall be adequately stabilized and at no greater than 20% of gradient.
- d. Such other precautions are taken as necessary, in the judgment of the Board, to protect water quality.

~~3.~~ The mine waste unit shall not be located within 200 feet of a fault that has had known displacement in Holocene time.

~~4.~~ A mine waste unit used to manage Group A or Group B mine waste shall have an acceptable soil or a base preparation grade a minimum of 5 feet above bedrock. The base preparation grade may not include any portion of the liner system.

5. No mine waste unit shall be located in an area overlying complex hydrogeology.

6. The applicant for a mine waste unit used to manage Group A or Group B waste shall provide a thorough hydrogeologic assessment of the area underlying a proposed mine waste unit and the adjacent area that could be affected during operation of the mine waste unit or the failure of any engineered barriers to leachate and groundwater movement. The applicant may use hydrogeologic information obtained during baseline monitoring. The hydrogeologic assessment shall include, but is not limited to, the following:

a. The methods used in, and the results of, bedrock aquifer pumping tests performed as part of the hydrogeologic assessment;

b. The methods used for, and the results of, ~~in-situ~~in-situ hydraulic conductivity tests performed as part of the hydrogeologic assessment of bedrock and surficial deposits; and

c. An assessment of the potential impact on the ground and surface water quality expected in the event of discharge of pollutants outside engineered containment systems. The assessment shall include the following:

I. Potential volume of release;

II. Area and location of source;

III. Initial concentration;

IV. Magnitude and direction of groundwater flow;

V. Attenuation capacity including dilution and a discussion of hydrodynamic and ionic dispersion, horizontal and transverse dispersivity, and vertical mixing;

VI. Recharge;

~~VII.~~ Time of travel to the bedrock aquifer, classified bodies of surface water, significant sand and gravel aquifers, and

public and private water supplies;

VIII. Direction of travel, including flow path and contaminant transport modeling for conservative and ~~non-conservative~~non-conservative contaminants; and

IX. Projected extent and quality of plumes. ~~71~~

7. A mine waste unit for disposal of mine waste shall not overlie a significant sand and gravel aquifer, or pose an unreasonable threat to the quality of a significant sand and gravel aquifer which it does not overlie, or pose an unreasonable threat to an underlying fractured bedrock aquifer.

8. An “unreasonable threat” to the quality of a significant sand and gravel aquifer or to an underlying fractured bedrock aquifer shall be determined to exist when a parameter in exceedance of a performance requirement under this Ordinance is able to travel from the waste unit to the aquifer in 6 years or less.

9. The Board may modify the “unreasonable threat” standard above if the applicant demonstrates that the mine waste unit siting, design, or operation features a high degree of protection against groundwater pollution.

B. Minimum Design Standards

~~1.~~ The design of waste units for the management of Group A mine waste shall provide for a liner system which includes a composite liner, a leachate collection and removal system in the case of a dry mine waste unit, a leak detection system, and other redundancy features such that the failure or leakage through the composite liner will not result in significant pollutant releases beyond the confines of the waste units. A composite liner shall consist of the following:

- a. A clay or compacted till bottom liner having a permeability of less than or equal to 1×10^{-6} cm/sec with a minimum ~~2~~ foot thickness; and
- b. A flexible membrane liner having a minimum thickness of 40 mils.
- c. Both components of the liner system shall be compatible with the mine leachate. The permeability shall be tested with the leachate as well as water. Both permeability values shall be within the required standard of this Ordinance.

~~2.~~ Leachate collection ponds shall be provided with the liner system described ~~in this~~ Section ~~33(B)(1) of this Ordinance~~ except that leachate collection and removal may be excluded.

~~3.~~ The design of waste units for the management of Group B mine waste shall provide for a liner system that includes a leachate collection and removal system in the case of a dry mine waste unit, a clay or till bottom liner having a permeability of less than or equal to 1×10^{-7} cm/sec with a minimum ~~3~~ foot thickness, a leak detection system, and other redundancy features such that failure or leakage will not result in significant pollutant releases beyond the confines of the waste units.

~~C.~~ Engineering Design. The mine waste unit design shall be based on the results of the subsurface investigation, hydrogeological conditions of the proposed site, waste characterization, and closure objectives. The design shall address site strengths and limitations identified in the investigation, evaluate methods to utilize these strengths or overcome these limitations, and discuss the selected *engineered* methods to overcome the limitations. The sophistication of the engineering and design will vary according to the type of mine waste unit; the physical characteristics of the site; and the characteristics, chemical and physical stability, and volume of the mine waste. An engineering design shall be submitted as part of the application and shall meet the following requirements:

~~1.~~ Any flexible membrane proposed for use as a liner must:

- a. Be supplied by a National Sanitation Foundation (*NSF*) certified manufacturer;
- b. Meet or exceed *NSF* Standard 154 specifications; and
- c. Meet required performance specifications for the proposed application.

~~2.~~ Clay or till proposed for use as a liner must:

- a. Have a Liquid Limit (LL) greater than or equal to 20;
- b. Have a Plasticity Index (PI) greater than or equal to 8;
- c. Have a minimum ~~in-place~~in-place density of 90% of maximum as measured by the Standard Proctor test (~~ASTM-D~~ASTM-D-698);
- d. Be compacted within 4% above optimum moisture content as determined by ~~ASTM-D698~~ASTM-D698;
- e. Have a minimum fines content of 35%;
- f. Have a maximum particle size less than or equal to 3 inches; and
- g. Have a maximum compacted lift thickness of 9 inches.

~~3.~~ The base preparation grade material below the liner system shall:

- a. Have a minimum ~~in-place~~in-place density of 90% of maximum as measured by the Standard Proctor test (ASTMD-698);
- b. Not be comprised of sand, gravel, stone, peat, or muck;

~~e.~~ Provide for, where necessary, the addition of fill material to the mine waste unit for grading purposes or to obtain the required separation of waste from bedrock, and demonstrate that:

- I. Moisture will be controlled during filling;
- II. Density will be controlled during filling; and
- III. Attenuative capacity will be provided.

~~d.~~ Provide for a maximum compacted lift thickness of 9 inches.

~~4.~~ If a mine waste unit will generate leachate, the applicant shall provide a description of the leachate management methods for the unit, including the process flow diagram for water use and reuse at the site, and a water balance for each unit.

~~a.~~ If a mine waste unit will generate leachate in excess of the amount reused and the leachate management method will be to collect, store, and recirculate to the unit, the ~~on-site~~ on-site storage shall be based on the following requirements:

I. Sufficient storage capacity is provided to contain the excess leachate generated as determined from the site water balance information.

II. The calculated volume of leachate to be generated shall be based on the most recent historical annual precipitation data, with a minimum of a 15 ~~-~~ - year data base.

III. Leachate storage shall include capacity for the precipitation from a 24 ~~-~~ - hour, 200 ~~-~~ - year storm falling on the mine waste unit and the leachate storage pond (if uncovered).

~~b.~~ If a mine waste unit will generate leachate in excess of the amount reused and the leachate management method will be collection, storage, and transportation either ~~on-site or off-site~~ on-site or off-site for treatment, the following requirements shall be met:

~~1.~~ Sufficient storage capacity is provided to contain the leachate generated over 7 consecutive days based on the average daily flow during the ~~worst-case~~ worst-case design month without transport to the treatment facility.

Sec-33

II. The calculated volume of leachate to be treated shall be based on the most recent historical annual precipitation data, with a minimum of a 15-year data base.

III. The off-site treatment facility shall have capacity for treatment of the precipitation from a 24-hour, 200-year storm falling on the mine waste unit and the leachate storage pond (if uncovered).

e-Leachate storage ponds must incorporate the following:

I. Forty inches or 1 meter of freeboard measured to the lowest spillway elevation or an additional capacity volume equal to 25% of the total required capacity, whichever provides greater storage volume. Additional freeboard or other measures may be required to contain wave action as necessary; and

II. A staff gauge, or similar device, installed in the pond to measure leachate depth.

d-When leachate will be collected or transported by piping, the leachate piping system must incorporate the following:

I. A minimum pipe diameter of 6 inches;

II. Pipe materials physically and chemically compatible with the mine waste;

III. Pipes designed and built to operate without clogging during the life of the mine waste unit and post-closure maintenance period; and

IV. Pipes designed with accessibility for routine cleaning and maintenance.

V. If Class A and Class B leachate, all piping will be designed with double-wall construction with monitoring in the outer void to detect leaks in the primary pipe.

e-For a mine waste unit where leachate will be collected in a sand drainage blanket, the sand drainage blanket must incorporate the following requirements:

f-Each sand drainage layer used for leachate collection/detection must have a minimum thickness of 12 inches.

~~H~~-The sand in the drainage layer must have a permeability of greater than or equal to 1×10^{-2} cm/sec.

- f. The leachate transport line leading into the leachate collection pond shall be designed for cleanout of the line and for leachate sampling without the need for human access.
- g. For a mine waste unit where leachate will be collected, the applicant shall submit collection system efficiency calculations.

~~D~~-Engineering Report. The engineering report for a mine waste unit shall present the basis for the engineering design and the proposed construction techniques and operational techniques, along with all data and calculations, and shall include, but is not limited to, the following *where* applicable:

1. An assessment of the mine waste unit site stability in relation to the proposed use of the mine waste unit site, including consolidation characteristics and a base failure analysis. The site stability shall be based on a minimum long-term factor of safety of 1.50 and a minimum short-term factor of safety of 1.25;
2. An assessment of the waste slope stability including the engineering properties of the waste and a failure analysis;
3. An assessment of the volume of leachate to be generated by the mine waste unit. As determined by the Board, a standard method for determining leachate quantity shall be used, such as "Hydrologic Evaluation of Landfill Performance (HELP) Model," (EPA/530-SW-84-009 and EPA/530-SW-84010).
4. If the applicant proposes to treat liquid mine waste or leachate derived from mine waste prior to disposal, a demonstration, to the satisfaction of the Board, that:
 - a. The mine waste or leachate is capable of being treated using the processes proposed, based upon trial tests and/or an engineering assessment that determine the treatment technique, its effectiveness, and any limiting factors.
 - b. The design measures and operating procedures will maximize the success of the treatment.
 - c. The mine waste unit design and components are compatible with the mine waste and the treatment process.
 - d. The treatment process can and will be controlled at all times so as to prevent unlicensed releases of mine waste or its constituents or derivatives and to protect the public health and safety and the environment.

~~e-~~A treatment system for mine waste identified as hazardous pursuant to 06-096 CMR ch. 850 or other applicable law shall be designed, constructed, operated, and closed in accordance with 06-096 CMR ch. 854.

~~5-~~An assessment of the failure of all engineered systems, including, without limitation, equipment, liners, leachate collection, treatment and transport, storage systems, and waste stability. The assessment shall include the following:

- a. All potential modes of failure;
- b. How each type of failure will be detected;
- c. The impacts of each type of failure on the engineered system as a whole, as well as on the components of the engineered system;
- d. Repair measures applicable for each type of failure; and

~~and~~

~~e-~~Associated costs and time schedules for repairs. This requirement shall only apply to items specifically identified by the Board.

~~6-~~A Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) program, established and included with the application, to ensure that design concepts are implemented during construction. The QA/QC program shall include the following:

- a. A narrative description of the need for and nature of the testing program;
- b. A testing program to evaluate borrow materials, stockpiled materials, and in-place materials. The program shall also be used to evaluate manufactured products such as liners, geotextiles, and piping systems. The program is to include at least gradation, permeability, moisture/density, and destructive/nondestructive liner testing;
- c. An assessment of construction equipment and manpower skills necessary to achieve design standards;
- d. A list of required manufacturers' ? product certifications, installation certifications, and warranties; and
- e. Provision for inspection of the installation of flexible membrane liners and appurtenances by a qualified independent inspection team. The application shall include the qualifications to be specified for such inspection team.

~~E.~~ Design Plans and ~~Cross—Sections~~Cross-Sections. As part of the engineering design for all mine waste units, the application shall include the following:

~~1.~~ Detailed plan views(s) of the site, at a scale of 1 inch=100 feet or larger, clearly indicating the following;

- a. Existing grade of the mine waste unit, as established by a topographic survey, and the proposed initial and final grades. For slopes of 5% or greater, ~~5—~~5-foot contour intervals may be used; ~~2—~~2-foot contour intervals are required if the slope is less than 5%;
 - b. Location and elevation of the test pits and borings;
 - c. Location and elevation of the permanent ~~on—site~~on-site surveying benchmarks;
 - d. Area and annual sequence of the mine waste unit planned to be utilized for the first 5 years and every 5th year thereafter throughout the total life of the mine;
 - e. Location and description of all existing and proposed utilities and structures;
 - f. Location of surface water bodies, existing drainage ways, bogs, swamps, marshes, and wetlands;
 - g. Location of existing and proposed water supply wells;
 - h. Location of existing and proposed access roads;
 - i. Location of the proposed drainage diversion system, including siltation basins, if any;
 - j. Location of borrow pits;
 - k. Location of all proposed environmental and waste monitoring points;
- ~~1.~~ Location and identification of buffer zones (strips) and visual screening provisions;
- m. Location, if any, of areas for stumps and brush, areas for management of mine waste, and areas of ore storage;
 - n. Location of baselines for ~~eross—section~~cross-section drawings of the site;
 - o. Location of fencing and gates;

- p. Locations for storage and management of leachate; and
- q. Locations of baseline monitoring points.

~~2.~~Detailed profile views of each mine waste unit are required as follows:

- a. ~~Cross-sections~~Cross-sections and longitudinal ~~cross-sections~~cross-sections of the mine waste unit as required to adequately describe the unit;
- b. Typical ~~cross-sections~~cross-sections of the various road and water drainage features; and
- c. Detailed profile views of the mine waste unit including the bedrock level, the seasonal high water table level, the existing land surface, the base grade, proposed lifts, the proposed final grade and final elevation of the completed disposal unit, and the test pits and borings as applicable to the mine waste unit.

~~F.~~Construction Standards. The permittee shall meet the following requirements:

1. A preconstruction conference between the permittee, its contractor(s), and the Board is required unless waived in writing by the Board.
2. The Quality Assurance/Quality Control Program approved by the Board shall be implemented at the beginning of construction and shall include continuous site inspections by qualified professionals. The qualified professional shall inspect ~~non-specialty~~non-specialty aspects of construction for conformance with the approved plans and specifications. Specialty items, such as flexible membrane liners, shall be inspected and tested by a qualified independent inspection team.
3. Before installation of any type of liner, an assessment shall be made of the impacts of climatic conditions, proposed installation procedures, and the proposed installation schedule on liner integrity. The liner, or liners, shall then be installed in a manner which minimizes seams and penetrations, and under conditions satisfactory to maintain the required characteristics of each liner. Flexible membrane liners are adversely affected by cold temperatures and shall be installed only during the period from April 15 through November 1 when the ambient temperature exceeds 40 degrees F. Any deviation from these requirements shall require submittal of a specific ~~cold-weather~~cold-weather installation plan for review and approval by the Board prior to construction.
4. The engineer responsible for construction inspection shall *keep* weekly construction inspection reports. The reports shall be mailed to the Board upon request. The weekly reports shall include,

but are not limited to, information generated during the week for the following areas, where applicable:

- a. Test results;
- b. Submittals and action taken;
- c. Summary of work progress, problems encountered, and how the problems were resolved; and
- d. Upcoming work items for the next 2 weeks.

Proposed changes to the design may require permit modifications and shall be reported to the Board before implementation.

5. The permittee shall provide the Board with copies of significant, representative photographic documentation of each stage of construction in two forms: video and ~~35-mm slides~~ color photo. The permittee shall provide video and ~~35-mm-color slides~~ photographs of the completed construction with the final construction report.

6. The permittee shall provide record drawings, signed and stamped by a State of Maine registered Professional Engineer, to the Board within 30 days after construction completion for each phase.

7. A protected, permanent benchmark shall be established near the mine waste unit before the start of construction. This benchmark shall be shown on all record drawings and described in the first and the final construction reports.

8. A final construction certification and report shall be submitted by the permittee to the Board within 30 days following construction completion. The report shall include written certification, signed by the ~~permittee's~~ permittee's responsible officer and signed and stamped by the independent qualified professional supervising project inspection, that the mine waste unit has been constructed in accordance with the approved plans and specifications.

~~G.~~ Operations

~~1.~~ The permittee shall prepare and maintain an operations manual of current policies and procedures. A copy of the proposed operations manual shall be submitted to the Board with the application for any proposed mine waste unit. The operations manual provided with the application shall be as complete as possible. An up-to-date copy of the operations manual shall be available for inspection at the site and at the Union Town Office at all times. The operations manual shall include all the information necessary to enable supervisory and operating personnel and any persons evaluating the operation of the mine waste unit to determine the sequence of operation, plans, diagrams, policies, procedures, and legal

requirements that must be followed for orderly and successful operation on a daily, yearly, and life cycle basis. As a minimum, the operations manual shall address each of the areas identified in the operating requirements of this Ordinance. The permittee shall take whatever measures are necessary to familiarize all unit operating personnel with relevant sections of the operations manual.

2. A mine waste unit may receive only those materials approved for disposal, storage, or handling, as provided in the permit.

3. The permittee shall maintain equipment to ensure satisfactory performance capability for the various operations necessary for mine waste unit operation as necessary to meet the terms and conditions of the permit and this Ordinance and provide for the prompt repair and replacement of such equipment.

4. The permittee shall have a contingency plan and shall effectively implement it by obtaining necessary ~~back-up~~back-up equipment and spare parts to be used during periods of equipment and power outages.

5. The permittee shall inspect mine waste unit structures on a regular basis and include these inspection reports in the annual report described in Section ~~26~~24(F) of this Ordinance. At a minimum, structures inspected shall include liners, leachate systems, pumps, berms, leachate ponds, drainage and erosion control devices, and cover systems, as appropriate. Regularly scheduled inspections and maintenance of the collection systems shall be performed. Specific inspection items to be included and frequency of inspections shall be proposed in the operating plan submitted with the application.

6. The permittee shall manage waste leachate in accordance with the standards of this Ordinance and shall make every effort to control leachate production. A leachate monitoring plan shall be developed to monitor the quality and quantity of leachate and leachate treatment residue. The parameters to be monitored and the frequency of monitoring shall be proposed in the plan. All monitoring results of leachate and leachate treatment residue shall be submitted to the Board. The results shall be submitted in the environmental monitoring component of the annual report, unless otherwise specified by the Board.

7. The permittee shall maintain a record of required operational information, including the quantity and characterization of waste received, the portion of the mine waste unit used, data from the monitoring program, and inspection records. The permittee shall submit an annual waste unit operating summary documenting all of this information. The operating manual shall include a format for and items to be covered in the operating summary.

8. The operation of the mine waste unit shall be under the supervision and direction of a person qualified and experienced in mine waste management.

~~9.~~The permittee shall ensure that mine waste is handled in accordance with the permit, this Ordinance, and all applicable laws.

Section 3430. Monitoring Program

The applicant shall prepare an integrated environmental monitoring plan for all waste units at the site. The plan shall detail how the applicant proposes to comply with this section and shall be submitted with the application.

H. ~~A.~~ Groundwater. The following groundwater monitoring criteria apply to all mine waste units:

1. The monitoring system must have a sufficient number of groundwater wells, at appropriate depths and locations, to detect the presence of pollutants that may migrate from a mine waste unit. The downgradient component of the monitoring system must be placed as close to the mine waste unit, or units, if monitoring more than one unit, as practicable, based on the site hydrogeology, to determine on a representative basis the quality of groundwater adjacent to the unit(s).
2. Background groundwater quality monitoring well(s) shall be established in an area unaffected by mining activities or waste units and hydrologically upgradient of the units to be monitored.
3. Wells must be cased to maintain the integrity of the bore hole. Casing must be screened or perforated and packed with gravel or sand, where necessary, to enable collection of samples. Annular space (i.e., space between bore hole and casing) above the sampling depth must be sealed to prevent contamination of samples and groundwater.
4. Design, location, installation, development, and decommissioning of any monitoring wells, piezometers, and other measurement, sampling, and analytical devices must be documented in the annual operating summary required under Section ~~3329~~(G)(7). All these factors are subject to review and approval by the Board, with or without conditions.
5. Monitoring wells, piezometers, and other measurement sampling, and analytical devices must be operated and maintained so that they conform to design specifications throughout the life of the monitoring program.
6. The number, spacing, location, and depths of monitoring systems shall be proposed by the applicant and must be approved by the Board and in consultation with appropriate representatives, with or without conditions, prior to installation. The applicant shall consider the following in its monitoring system design:

- a. Characterization of saturated and unsaturated geologic units and fill materials overlying and underlying the uppermost aquifer including, but not limited to, thicknesses, stratigraphy, lithology, hydraulic conductivities, and porosities;
- b. Characterization of the uppermost aquifer including, but not limited to, the thickness, flow rate, and flow direction;
- c. Proximity, withdrawal rates, and uses by other current and potential future users of the aquifer potentially affected by the unit;
- d. ~~e.~~ Physical and chemical characteristics and rates of release from the unit; and
- e. ~~d.~~ Groundwater quality classification in the area.

7. Parameters for which the applicant must monitor shall include those for which groundwater performance requirements are established. Changes in parameters to be monitored may be made as determined by the Board.

8. Monitoring shall be at least quarterly during the life of the mine waste unit, including any ~~post-closure~~post-closure maintenance period. The monitoring results shall be submitted to the Board within 30 days of the end of each quarter in a format approved by the Board.

9. The groundwater monitoring plan shall include a sampling and analysis plan, which shall include, but is not limited to, frequency of monitoring, parameters to be analyzed for, sample collection methods, sampling equipment, field analysis and preservation methods, sample holding times, sample handling procedures, sample data sheets, analytical methods, detection limits for each parameter, data validation and reporting methods, sampling and analytical quality assurance, quality control procedures, and sampling location map. The groundwater monitoring plan and any revisions to the plan are subject to review and approval by the Board, with or without conditions.

I. ~~B.~~ Surface Water and Sediments

1. The applicant shall establish a surface water monitoring system that is capable of detecting releases from the mine waste unit including, but not limited to, discharges licensed under 38 M.R.S.A. §413, of any parameter for which a performance requirement has been established. This system must be capable of detecting exceedances of performance requirements.

2. The applicant shall establish a sediment monitoring system capable of detecting accumulations of pollutants in sediments within water bodies affected by the site.

3. ~~3.~~ Surface water and sediment monitoring programs required pursuant to this Section ~~34(B)(1) and (2) must~~, at a minimum, meet the following criteria, all subject to review and approval of the Board, with or without conditions:

a. ~~a.~~ Inclusion of consistent sampling and analysis procedures that are designed to ensure monitoring results that will provide a reliable indication of surface water and sediment quality. At a minimum, the program must include procedures and techniques for:

- I. Sample collection;
- II. Sample preservation and shipment;
- III. Analytical procedures;
- IV. ~~Chain-of-custody~~ Chain-of-custody control; and
- V. Level of detection;

b. ~~b.~~ Provision for surface water and sediment monitoring to determine background in the receiving water. Background samples shall be collected as close in time as possible to the collection of samples at the monitoring point; and

c. ~~c.~~ For the surface water and sediment monitoring program, specification of the monitoring frequencies for each parameter and media. Monthly monitoring shall be required for all monitored parameters in surface water unless a change in parameters or frequency of monitoring is approved by the Board. At a minimum, annual monitoring shall be required of sediments.

J. C. Air. Ambient air quality monitoring shall be as required by DEP pursuant to state law.

Section 3531. Closure and ~~Post-Closure~~ Post-Closure Maintenance Criteria

~~A.~~ Closure Maintenance Criteria

~~1.~~ Performance Standards

~~a.~~ The applicant shall design the closure of each mine waste unit to minimize the need for maintenance, and to control the release of mine waste and constituents into the air and the groundwater and surface water, and to ensure protection of health and the environment. Closure activities must:

~~1.~~ Meet performance requirements.

II. Comply with design, monitoring, and operating criteria approved in the closure plan for the unit.

III. Comply with the general technical requirements below.

~~b.~~ At a minimum, the permittee shall undertake the following activities:

I. Provide certification by a qualified professional(s) that the mine waste unit, given its location, composition, and construction, is designed to meet current standards of practice for geotechnical engineering.

II. Institute or maintain a runoff/runoff control system that meets the requirements of this Ordinance.

III. Implement and maintain monitoring systems as approved in the closure plan.

IV. Close ~~surface impoundments~~ facilities used to manage Group C mine wastes in a manner that will minimize erosion and the threat of water quality degradation from sedimentation.

~~e.~~ For ~~surface impoundments~~, ore leaching facilities including associated solution ponds, and collection systems including trenches, piping, leachate collection systems, and equipment, which contain leach solutions, the permittee shall ensure the following:

~~f.~~ Water that is not to be recycled for processing or used for closure purposes under Section ~~3531~~ 3531(A)(3)(d) shall be treated and disposed of in a manner that ensures compliance with the performance requirements and shall in any event comply with the terms and conditions of the permit.

II. Runon/runoff control and leachate collection and management systems shall continue until runoff and leachate no longer shall contain constituents in concentrations above those described in the performance requirements for a period of time specified in the permit or otherwise provided by the Board.

~~2.~~ Closure Plan

~~a.~~ A closure plan shall be submitted at the time of application for a permit. At a minimum, the plan must include the following information for each mine waste unit:

- I. The methods, designs, procedures, and processes necessary to satisfy the closure performance standards for each mine waste unit;
- II. An estimate of the maximum capacity and maximum rate of mine waste that can be managed in the unit at any time during the life of the mine waste unit;
- III. A description of activities required to close leaching operations, including compliance with the standards at the time of closure;
- IV. A schedule of closure activities; and
- V. A detailed cost estimate of closure activities.

~~b.~~ Closure plans shall be amended to reflect any changes in unit design, operations, or mine waste management technology, and applicable legal requirements, at intervals not to

exceed 5 years.

~~e.~~ The closure plan for each mine waste unit shall minimize the ~~on-site~~on-site and ~~off-site~~off-site use or contact with mine waste if such use or contact would pose a significant risk to public health or the environment.

~~d.~~ A copy of the closure plan shall be kept at the site or at an alternate location approved by the Board until the ~~post-closure~~post-closure maintenance period has ended.

~~3.~~ Closure Design Requirements

~~a.~~ Closure design shall be based on the following factors:

- I. The geology and geologic setting of the unit;
- II. The character of the waste, including waste treatment;
- III. The potential for and degree of contamination of the environment at the unit, if applicable;
- IV. Corrective action in place or planned, if applicable;

V. The operating practices at the waste unit;

VI. The geographic location of the unit; and

VII. Any other factors which are necessary for an informed determination of an appropriate design.

~~b.~~ The closure design shall minimize maintenance and control the release of parameters to ensure that performance requirements are met.

~~e.~~ At a minimum, final closure requirements for dry mine waste management units are as follows:

I. Final cover for a mine waste unit shall have a permeability less than or equal to the permeability of the primary liner system.

II. The cover shall be designed and constructed to function with the minimum maintenance possible.

III. Closed mine waste units shall be graded and maintained to prevent ponding and to divert surface drainage from covered wastes.

IV. Areas with slopes greater than 10%, surface drainage courses, and areas subject to erosion by water and wind shall be protected to prevent such erosion.

~~d.~~ At a minimum, final closure requirements for wet mine waste management units are as follows:

I. Depth of water and saturated cover, if applicable, over the waste shall be maintained.

II. Embankments around the closed unit shall be maintained.

III. Water column mixing through wave action and turnover shall be minimized as necessary to control acid generation and leaching of pollutants.

IV. No discharge to groundwaters shall be allowed except as licensed by the Board.

~~e.~~ A protected, permanent benchmark shall be established on each closed mine waste unit. This benchmark shall be shown on all record drawings.

4. Closure Trigger

a. Closure must begin if for the preceding 12 months the mine waste unit has not received for disposal more than 10% of the average annual volume of waste received during the mine life to date, unless the permittee has applied for the extension described ~~in~~ below.

~~Section 35(A)(4)(b):~~

b. The Board may grant an extension to the initiation of closure if the permittee demonstrates that:

- I. The mine waste unit is planned to be used within the next 7 years.
- II. The mine waste unit is in compliance with performance, design, and operating requirements.
- III. The mine waste unit will continue to comply with performance, design, and operating requirements during the extension.

e. The Board may grant a 12 ~~—~~ — month extension, up to a maximum of seven extensions.

5. Certification of Closure

a. Within the 90 ~~—~~ — day period following closure of the mine waste unit, the permittee shall submit certification to the Board verifying that closure has been completed in accordance with an approved closure plan.

b. Certification shall be based on a review of the mine waste facility by a qualified professional approved by the Board, and also made by a responsible officer of the permittee.

~~B. Post-Closure~~ Post-Closure Maintenance Criteria

1. Applicability. Following certification of the closure, the permittee shall commence ~~post-closure~~ post-closure maintenance for the closed mine waste unit.

2. Performance Standards

a. The permittee shall conduct ~~post-closure~~ post-closure maintenance activities to ensure the continued protection of public health and the environment, and to ensure the performance requirements continue to be met.

b. Site access during the ~~post-closure~~ post-closure maintenance period must be controlled as necessary to prevent the removal of mine waste and ensure continued effectiveness of closure and ~~post-closure~~ post-closure maintenance activities.

c. Post-closure land uses shall not impair the integrity of containment structures.

~~3.~~ Requirements

~~a. The Board may require the applicant to conduct, at~~
The Board may require the applicant to conduct, at a minimum, any or all of the following activities during post-closure

maintenance:

I. Periodic sampling of the mine waste as necessary to characterize the mobilization or conversion of mine wastes or parameters;

II. Inspection and maintenance activities necessary to maintain the structural and chemical stability of the mine waste unit;

III. Continued operation and maintenance of runoff/runoff control systems and leachate management systems, if any;

IV. Continued operation and maintenance of groundwater and surface water monitoring stations; and

V. Any other measure necessary to prevent a violation of a performance or other legal requirement and otherwise to protect public health and the environment.

~~b.~~ Mine waste units that have been closed may be reactivated or re-utilized only under a permit. The applicant shall ensure that:

I. Operations conform to the performance requirements, design operating criteria, and monitoring requirements of this Ordinance; and

II. If mining wastes remain in the mine waste unit following the removal of materials for additional beneficiation, or at the completion of additional storage or disposal activities, the mine waste unit is closed in compliance with the requirements of this section.

~~e.~~ If any performance requirement is not met, the permittee shall develop and implement a corrective action plan pursuant to Section ~~27~~25.

~~4.~~ Post-Closure Maintenance Plan

a. The applicant shall prepare and submit a detailed post-closure maintenance plan as part of the application. At a minimum, the plan must include the following information:

- I. Description of activities and frequency of activities necessary to satisfy the performance standards;
- II. A detailed estimate of post-closure maintenance costs;
- III. Description of the planned use of the property to satisfy the post-closure maintenance performance standards, including the following information:
 - AA. Prevention of exposure of mine waste or constituents to the environment, unless such exposure would pose no significant risk to health or environment and is within licensed limits; and
 - BB. Continued maintenance of the structural and operational components of closure and post-closure; and
- IV. Name, address, and telephone number of the person to contact during the post-closure maintenance period. Such contact person shall be capable of responding to Board communications within 12 hours.

~~b.~~ A copy of the post-closure maintenance plan shall be kept at the mine waste unit or alternate location as approved by the Board throughout the post-closure maintenance period.

~~5.~~ Length of the Post-Closure Care Period. The collection, treatment, and disposal methods relating to post-closure care must be designed to ensure that discharges to affected areas meet water quality standards without requiring active treatment as soon as practicable, but in no case longer than 10 years post-closure. The post-closure care period for Group A and Group B wastes may end 30 years from the time of closure certification. For the Board to terminate the post-closure care period at such time, the Board must determine the mine waste unit has been in compliance with the performance requirements of this Ordinance and the post-closure performance standards of this section, and that the site will continue to remain in compliance with such standards. If the Board cannot conclusively make such determinations, the Board shall extend the post-closure care period by 10-year increments until the Board can conclusively make such determinations. The post-closure care period for Group C wastes shall be 5 years from the time of closure certification.

See
35,36,37

~~6.~~ Deed Notation

a. During the first year following closure certification, the permittee shall record a notation on the deed to property, or other instrument normally examined during a title search, if any mine waste or constituent remain at the site.

b. The deed notation shall state that the land has been used for the management of mine waste, that mine waste or constituents remain at the mine waste unit and, if applicable, that land use is restricted.

~~7.~~ Post-Closure Certification

a. After completion of postclosure maintenance for the mine waste unit, the permittee shall submit certification to the Board verifying completion of postclosure maintenance. All inspection records and reports pertaining to certification shall be submitted to the Board.

b. The certification shall be based on a review of the mine waste unit by a qualified professional approved by the Board and executed by a responsible officer of the applicant, along with video coverage of the site.

c. Approval of certification of the completion of post-closure maintenance of a waste unit by the Board does not release the permittee from any subsequent corrective action requirements or other legal responsibility.

SUBCHAPTER 6. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT

~~Section 36. Applicability of Subchapter~~

~~This subchapter applies to subchapters 1-6 of this Ordinance.~~

Section 3732. Authority

This Ordinance is adopted pursuant to the Home Rule Power of Article VIII, Part 2, of the Constitution of the State of Maine, the laws of the United States of America, and the laws of the State of Maine, including, but not limited to, 30-A M.R.S.A. Section 3001.

When a mining project in a neighboring municipality actively enters the pre-application process with the concerned state agency and/or host municipality and a portion of the Town of Union falls within the project vicinity, the Union Board of Selectmen, with advice and consent of the Planning Board, shall determine whether the project may materially affect the Town of Union. If so, the Board of Selectmen, with advice and consent of the Planning Board, shall consider appropriate responses, including application for intervenor status if warranted. The Board shall represent the interests of public safety,

health, and welfare of all Union citizens and their environment in all pertinent phases of the mining ~~project's~~ project's development.

Section 3833. Applicability of Ordinance; Conflict

This Ordinance applies to all persons conducting activities in the Town of Union which are regulated by this Ordinance. Where the provisions of this Ordinance conflict with specific provisions of any other Town of Union Ordinance, the more restrictive standard shall govern.

Section 3934. Severability

If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is held void or invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of this Ordinance that can be given effect in whole or in part without the invalid provision or application and to this end each provision of this Ordinance is declared to be severable and independent. It is the intent of the Town of Union that each and every part, clause, paragraph, section, and subsection of this Ordinance be given effect to the degree possible.

Section 4035. Effective Date

This Ordinance shall be effective upon enactment. It shall apply immediately to all activities regulated by this Ordinance. Applicants in the permitting process on the state level at the time of enactment will be required to comply with all portions of this Ordinance.

Section 4136. Savings Clause

Nothing in this Ordinance is intended, nor shall be construed to limit, impair, abridge, create, enlarge, or otherwise affect, substantively or procedurally, the right of a person to damages or other relief on account of injury to persons or property due to any violation of this Ordinance or to activity subject to this Ordinance and to maintain any action or other appropriate procedure therefore; nor to so affect the powers of the State of Maine to initiate, prosecute, and maintain actions to abate public nuisances.

Nothing in this Ordinance is intended, nor shall be construed to limit, impair, or abridge substantively or procedurally the powers of the Town of Union under state or common law to protect general health, safety, and welfare by initiating, prosecuting, and maintaining actions concerning activities not in violation of this Ordinance.

Section 4237. Permit Applications

C. The Board may specify the form in which a permit application or other information is provided, as it deems necessary on a case-by-case basis. The applicant shall provide sufficient information as the Board deems necessary or desirable in order to process the permit application in accordance with the provisions of this Ordinance.

D. At the pre-application conference (Section 76(B)(2)), the Board will determine all permits required by the Town and the order in which permit applications are to be submitted.

E. The applicant shall as part of the application process submit to the Board copies of the most recent federal and state permits, approvals, licenses, including renewals, modifications, or extensions thereto, regulating an activity for which a permit is sought under this Ordinance.

If the Town permitting process is conducted concurrent with state or federal permitting, this requirement will be waived until such federal or state permits are obtained by the applicant. However, the final Town permit will not become effective until all applicable state and federal permits have been received.

F. The applicant shall have a continuing duty to provide copies of all renewed or modified federal and state permits, approvals, and licenses, as well as accompanying reports, applications, and records of data for activities which also require a permit under this Ordinance, and to inform the Board promptly of any modification, suspension, or revocation of any such federal and state permit approvals and licenses.

In addition, copies of all correspondence between either state or federal agencies and the applicant concerning activities for which a permit is required under this Ordinance shall be forwarded to the Board.

Section 43. Public Access to Information

~~Except as expressly made confidential by law, the Board shall make all documents and records made available to the public in accordance with the Maine Freedom of Access Law (1 M.R.S.A. Sec 401 et seq.). The Board shall also keep confidential those documents which may remain confidential pursuant to the Maine Freedom of Access Law. The Board shall make determinations of confidentiality and any person aggrieved by such determination may appeal to a court in accordance with state law. The Board shall withhold disclosure of such information pending a final judicial determination on any claim of confidentiality. A policy for inspecting and copying documents may be established by the Selectmen, including, but not limited to, a reasonable charge for copying costs.~~

Section 4438. Fees To Be Paid By Applicant

G. Exploration Fee. An exploration fee ~~of one Hundred Dollars (\$100.00)~~ in an amount set by the Town of Union Select Board shall be paid by the applicant at the time of filing an exploration notification in accordance with Section ~~15~~ 14 of this Ordinance. Such fee shall be set in an amount sufficient to enable the Board to cover its reasonably expected costs of retaining the assistance of qualified professionals or other experts necessary to assess the potential impacts of exploration, advanced exploration or mining activities within the area proposed for exploration.

H. Pre-Application Fee. A filing fee ~~of One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00)~~ in an amount set by the Town of Union Select Board shall be paid by the applicant prior to the pre-application conference.

~~C. Mining Commission Fee. Upon submission of the pre-application, the applicant shall submit \$25,000 per year through the completion of the licensing process to fund the activities of the Mining Commission. After licensing, Commission funding shall be subject to review annually.~~

I. ~~D.~~ Initial Permit Application Fee. An initial permit application fee ~~for in an amount set by the Town of Union Select Board~~ shall be paid by the applicant at the time of filing an application for advanced exploration or mining activities. The fee shall be sufficient to cover actual direct costs up to a maximum of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) incurred by the Board or its representatives in reviewing and processing the proposed baseline monitoring plan, scoping document, EIR, and permit application shall be paid by the applicant. A maximum of two versions of each document requiring approval from the Board as stated in this Ordinance will be reviewed and processed by the Board as part of this fee. For any additional submissions which are required by virtue of an ~~applicant's~~ applicant's failure to comply with the requirements of this Ordinance, or failure to make modifications and corrections requested by the Board in the review of the first two submissions of each document, the Board shall assess actual and direct costs incurred and such assessment shall not be applied to the ~~fifty thousand dollar maximum fee amount.~~ It is, therefore, incumbent upon the applicant to make all modifications and corrections in an accurate, complete, and timely fashion.

J. ~~E.~~ Variance Waiver Request. ~~If~~ At the time an applicant applies for a variance waiver in accordance with Section 12, it shall pay a fee equal to the Board's estimate of actual direct costs to be incurred by the Board or its representatives associated with the evaluation of the variance shall be paid by the applicant and such costs in evaluating the waiver request. Such fee shall not be applied to the fifty thousand dollar maximum fee in Section 44(C). Initial Permit Application Fee maximum provided by this section. Any remaining amount of the waiver fee shall be returned to the applicant after final Board action on the waiver request.

K. ~~F.~~ Permit Renewal, Transfer, or Modification. Actual direct costs associated with reviewing and processing an application for permit renewal, permit transfer, or permit modification shall be paid by the applicant.

L. ~~G.~~ Corrective Action. Actual direct costs associated with the review, processing, and overseeing the implementation of a corrective action plan shall be paid by the applicant and such costs shall not be applied to the annual fee required ~~in Section 44(G)~~ by this section.

M. H.—Annual Fee. An annual fee for actual direct costs necessary for yearly compliance review and monitoring ~~of no less than One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00) per year and up to a maximum of Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000.00) per year~~ in an amount set by the Town of Union Select Board shall be paid by the applicant. The minimum annual fee shall be due on January 1 of each year.

Continuance of the permit requires that the annual fee and other applicable fees be paid as required.

N. I.—Direct Costs. For the purposes of this section, actual direct cost shall include engineering and other professional fees; personnel costs; travel; supplies; legal and computer; and other costs incurred in the performance of the ~~Board's~~ Board's duties under the applicable provisions of this Ordinance.

O. J.—Time for Payment. Fees shall be paid within 30 days of invoice. If a plan, application, or other document is withdrawn, the applicant remains liable for all costs incurred prior to such withdrawal. Upon a failure to pay the fee when due, the Board may cease its review and processing of the plan, application, or other document and/or may take enforcement action to recover the fee.

Section 4539. Commutation and Enlargement of Time

In computing any period of time provided for in this Ordinance, the day of the act, event, or default after which the designated period begins to run is not to be included. The last day of the period so computed is to be included unless it is on a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in which event the period runs until the end of the next day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday.

When by this Ordinance or by order of the Board, an act is required to be done at or within a specified period of time, the Board may within its discretion at any time order the period enlarged for a reasonable period for good cause shown.

Section 4640. Board Hearing Procedures

P. A.—In conducting a public hearing as provided in this Ordinance, the Board may establish procedures for obtaining information prior to the hearing, identifying issues, stipulating certain facts or documents, identifying witnesses (expert or otherwise), conducting questioning of witnesses, consolidating the presentations by persons with similar interests, or any other matters which may expedite the orderly conduct and disposition of the proceedings.

Q. Prior to any public hearing provided in this Ordinance, the Board shall provide public notice at least 10 days prior to such a hearing in the newspaper having the largest circulation in the county and in one newspaper with a circulation area of the entire State of Maine. A certificate of publication will be made a part of the record.

R. All hearings conducted pursuant to this Ordinance may be continued for reasonable cause and reconvened from time to time and from place to place by the Board as circumstances require.

Section 4741. Appeals

Any person aggrieved by a final decision of the Board ~~may seek judicial review in accordance with state law respecting a permit application, renewal application, permit modification or enforcement decision~~ may appeal such decision to the Superior Court within 30 days of the final decision of the Board ~~pursuant to Maine Rule of Civil Procedure 80B. There shall be no right to appeal any permitting or enforcement decision issued under this Ordinance to the Town of Union Board of Appeals.~~

Section 4842. Enforcement

S. Any violation of this Ordinance or a condition of any permit, approval, or Board order shall be deemed a nuisance.

T. It shall be the duty of the ~~Town's~~ Town's Code Enforcement Officer to enforce provisions of this Ordinance. In the event that the Code Enforcement Officer ~~has a good faith belief~~ determines that a person is violating a provision of this Ordinance or a condition of any permit, approval, or Board order, he shall send written notice, describing the nature of the alleged violation to the Board, the Selectmen, and the alleged violator. Such notice may be hand-delivered or sent by first class mail, postage prepaid.

U. The Board shall hold a public hearing on the Code Enforcement ~~Officer's~~ Officer's complaint. Such hearing may not be less than fifteen (15) days, nor more than forty-five (45) days from the date of the ~~Board's~~ Board's receipt of said complaint. ~~Notice~~ The alleged violator shall be notified of the time, date, and place of the hearing ~~shall be served to the alleged violator~~ at least ten (10) days prior to the hearing. ~~Such notice shall be given by one of these methods: delivery in hand by the Code Enforcement Officer; telecopier followed by mailing said notice to addressee by regular first class mail, postage prepaid; or by delivery of the notice in hand or by sending the notice~~ by both regular first class mail, postage prepaid, and certified mail, return receipt requested. ~~If the latter method is used, delivery~~ Delivery shall be deemed to have occurred on the date of hand-delivery or the date indicated on the return receipt or three business days (inclusive of weekends and holidays) after the first class mailing, whichever occurs first.

V. If the Board finds, by preponderance of the evidence, that a violation has occurred, it ~~shall provide an opportunity for public comment concerning the appropriate sanctions to be imposed. The sanctions are limited to a modification, suspension, or revocation~~ may modify, suspend, or revoke of any permit issued to such violator by the Board and assess penalties in accordance with this Ordinance.

W. The Selectmen may authorize the ~~institution of legal proceedings~~ commencement of a civil enforcement action in accordance with 30-A M.R.S.A. §4452, in the name of the Town against any person violating any provision of this Ordinance, or any permit, approval, or Board order issued pursuant thereto. ~~In any such action, the Town may seek an order enjoining those acts or practices which constitute such a violation; an order directing compliance with this Ordinance, or any permit, approval, or Board order issued pursuant thereto; an order assessing fines and penalties; or any combination thereof.~~ The legal proceedings authorized by this subsection may be issued independently of or in conjunction with the provisions of subsections (B) - (D) of this section.

~~F.— In any action to enforce any provisions of this Ordinance where the Town of Union prevails, the Town of Union shall be awarded reasonable attorney fees, expert witness fees, and costs, unless the court finds that special circumstances make the award of these fees and costs unjust. If the defendant is the prevailing party, the defendant may be awarded reasonable attorney fees, expert witness fees, and costs provided by court rule.~~

Section ~~49~~43. Penalties

~~A.—~~ Any person who violates any provision of this Ordinance or terms or conditions of any order, permit, approval, or final decision of the Board shall be subject to a civil penalty, ~~due and payable to the Town of Union~~ pursuant to 30-A M.R.S.A. §4452 of not less than One Hundred Dollars (\$100.00) per day, and not more than ~~Ten~~Five Thousand Dollars (~~\$10,000.00~~5,000.00) per day, or twice the economic benefit resulting from the benefit, whichever is greater. If the same person has been convicted of a violation of this Ordinance within the previous two years, the maximum penalty is Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000) per day, or twice the economic benefit resulting from the violation, whichever is greater.

~~B.— In setting penalties, the court shall consider, but is not limited to, the following:~~

- ~~1.— Prior violations by the same person;~~
- ~~2.— The degree of environmental damage that cannot be abated or corrected.~~
- ~~3.— The extent to which the violation continued following an order to stop; and~~
- ~~4.— The extent to which the Town of Union contributed to the violation by providing incorrect information or by failing to take timely action.~~

~~C. Payment of any penalty assessed shall be made within 30 days in cash or by certified check drawn on a recognized financial institution, made payable to the "Town of Union" in an amount equal to the full amount of the penalty.~~

~~D. If the maximum penalty amount of Section 49(A) of this Ordinance is held void or invalid, it is the intent of the Town of Union that the provisions of 30-A M.R.S.A. 4452, be given full force and effect, and that the maximum penalty amounts authorized by such provision apply to violations of any order, permit, approval, or final decision of the Mining Commission, or any provision of this Ordinance.~~

Section 50. Mining Commission

~~A. Composition. The Mining Commission shall consist of five (5) members. Members of the Mining Commission shall be residents of the Town of Union and the State of Maine, at least eighteen (18) years of age, and citizens of the United States at all times during their terms, and shall neither be officers nor employees of the Town of Union or any of its boards agencies, or departments. If any member misses three (3) or more consecutive meetings of the Mining Commission, then it may be cause for removal of such member.~~

~~B. Appointment. The members of the Mining Commission shall be appointed by the Board of Selectmen. The Town Manager or any individual selectman only shall have the authority and power to nominate one or more individuals for consideration of the Board of Selectmen for appointment to the Mining Commission. At least thirty (30) days prior to a decision on nominees by the Board of Selectmen, the names of all nominations shall be posted by the Town Clerk in one or more conspicuous public places in the Town of Union and notice shall be published once in a newspaper having a general circulation in the Town of Union. The Board of Selectmen may then, in its sole discretion, hold a public hearing on the appointment of any nominee for the Mining Commission. In such case, the time period within which the Board of Selectmen shall decide upon the nomination shall be extended by up to thirty (30) day period as the Board of Selectmen shall determine.~~

~~C. Terms of Office. Except for Initial Appointees as specified below, the term of each member shall be five (5) years. Members shall serve until their successors are duly appointed, qualified, and assume their duties. Initially, and as provided in Section 50(C), one member shall serve for one (1) year, one member for two (2) years, one member for three (3) years, one member for four (4) years, and one member for five (5) years. The Board of Selectmen shall determine which Initial Appointees shall serve for which number of years.~~

~~D.—Vacancies. The Board of Selectmen may declare a vacancy on the Mining Commission upon the nonacceptance, resignation, death, removal, permanent disability, or incompetency of any member; relocation of a member's place of residence, or failure of any person to qualify for office. In such circumstances, the Board of Selectmen shall fill all positions of members.~~

~~E.—Removal. The Board of Selectmen may remove any member of the Mining Commission for cause, after notice and hearing. The term "cause" shall mean conduct or conflict affecting the ability and fitness of the member to perform his duties. The notice provided hereunder shall be in writing and shall state the reasons for the proposed removal and inform the member of his right to a hearing before the Board of Selectmen within thirty (30) days of receipt of the notice. This hearing may be held in executive session if the requirements of 1 M.R.S.A. 405, as amended by PL 1987, c. 769, Sec. 1, are met or, upon request by the member to be removed, an open meeting may be held in accordance with 1 M.R.S.A. 401 et seq. and this Ordinance.~~

~~F.—Compensation. All members of the Mining Commission shall receive compensation at a fair hourly rate to be set by the Board of Selectmen.~~

~~G.—Officers.~~

~~1.—Election of Officers. Upon pre-application, the Selectmen of the Town of Union will elect a five-member Mining Commission. Once approval of this application has occurred, the Mining Commission will be activated within ninety (90) days. The Mining Commission shall, by majority vote, elect a Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, and Secretary. The Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, and Secretary shall each serve a term of one (1) year or until his or her successor is duly elected by the Mining Commission. The Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, and Secretary may serve successive terms, if so elected.~~

~~2.—Chairperson. The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings, if present; shall prepare the agenda; shall call special meetings and workshops when necessary; shall transmit reports, plans, and recommendations of the Mining Commission to the appropriate governing authority; and shall fulfill all the customary functions of his or her office.~~

~~3.—Vice Chairperson. In the absence of the Chairperson, the Vice Chairperson shall act as Chairperson and shall have all the powers of Chairperson.~~

~~4.— Secretary. The Secretary, or any other person so employed or so designated by the Mining Commission, shall assist the Chairperson in preparing the agenda for Mining Commission meetings and proceedings; send out notices for meetings, public hearings, and other proceedings of the Mining Commission; record, maintain, and show the vote of each member on every question in which a formal recorded vote is made under the procedure of the Commission or his or her absence or failure to vote; and shall maintain a permanent record of all correspondence, findings, resolutions, and determinations of the Mining Commission. All records shall be deemed public and may be inspected at reasonable times. The Secretary shall also make such certifications of Mining Commission action as may be required from time to time.~~

~~H. Meetings, Quorum, Agenda~~

~~1.— Meetings. Regular meetings of the Mining Commission shall be held at least monthly, or as provided by rule of the Mining Commission, unless excused by the Chairperson. Special meetings may be called by the Chairperson, the Chairperson designated for a particular matter, or any four (4) members of the Mining Commission. The Mining Commission may hold executive sessions as provided in the Maine Freedom of Access Act, 1 M.R.S.A. 401 et seq., otherwise all meetings, hearings, proceedings, and deliberations of the Mining Commission shall be open to the public in accordance with the Maine Freedom of Access Act, 1 M.R.S.A. 401 et seq. Workshops may be called by the Chairperson or members designated by the Chairperson for the presentation of information. Workshops shall be informational only, shall not be used by the Mining Commission for the weighing of positions or reasons for or against a proposition, and shall not be used by the Mining Commission for the formulation of formal decisions on any matter. Any member of the Mining Commission may voluntarily disqualify himself or herself from voting on a particular matter for any reason, including conflict. In addition, a member shall be disqualified from voting on a particular matter for any reason by a majority vote of the members present and voting, except the member whose disqualification is at issue shall not vote on his or her own disqualification.~~

~~2.— Quorum. No business will be transacted by the Mining Commission without a quorum. A quorum shall consist of three (3) members. The Mining Commission shall act by majority vote, calculated on the basis of the number of members present and voting. If less than a quorum is present, the meeting may be adjourned for a period not exceeding three (3) weeks at any one time.~~

~~3.— Agenda. No item of business or plan shall be placed on the Mining Commission agenda for any meeting unless such item or plan shall have been submitted to the Mining Commission not less than ten (10) days prior to the date of a meeting or other proceeding, provided, however, that the Mining Commission, may, upon request or on its own motion, waive the 10 day advance submission requirement. The Chairperson shall determine the agenda in such a manner as to facilitate the execution of the duties of the Mining Commission.~~

Summary report: Litera Compare for Word 11.4.0.111 Document comparison done on 4/11/2024 9:07:45 AM	
Style name: Default Style	
Intelligent Table Comparison: Active	
Original DMS: iw://PRETI-DMS.IMANAGE.WORK/PORT/21062305/2	
Modified DMS: iw://PRETI-DMS.IMANAGE.WORK/PORT/21062305/16	
Changes:	
Add	1343
Delete	1952
Move From	44
Move To	44
Table Insert	1
Table Delete	0
Table moves to	0
Table moves from	0
Embedded Graphics (Visio, ChemDraw, Images etc.)	0
Embedded Excel	0
Format changes	0
Total Changes:	3384